
 

 

 
 

Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire, OX15 4AA 
www.cherwell.gov.uk 

 

Committee: Licensing Committee 
 

Date:  Monday 16 December 2013 
 

Time: 5.00 pm 
 
Venue:  Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire 

OX15 4AA 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Fred Blackwell (Chairman) Councillor Diana Edwards (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Colin Clarke Councillor Michael Gibbard 
Councillor Tony Ilott Councillor Ray Jelf 
Councillor Kieron Mallon Councillor P A O'Sullivan 
Councillor G A Reynolds Councillor Alaric Rose 
Councillor Gordon Ross Councillor Douglas Webb 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitute Members      
 
 

2. Declarations of Interest      
 
Members are asked to declare any interests and the nature of that interest which 
they may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 
 

3. Petitions and Requests to Address the Meeting      
 
The Chairman to report on any requests to submit petitions or to address the 
meeting. 
 
 

4. Urgent Business      
 
The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any item of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



5. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4)    
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 
21 October, 2013. 
 
 

6. Minutes of meeting Thursday 11 April 2013 of Licensing Sub Committee  
(Pages 5 - 6)    
 
To note the minutes of the Licensing Sub Committee meeting held on 11 April 2013. 
 
 

7. Animal Licensing Policy  (Pages 7 - 64)    
 
Report of Head of Community Services. 
 
Purpose of report 
 
Cherwell District Council is responsible for the control and regulation of certain 
animals and animal establishments through a statutory licensing regime. The report 
seeks approval for the adoption of an Animal Licencing Policy and Animal Licensing 
Conditions set out within the policy, which will be applied by authorised enforcing 
officers when determining applications requiring an animal licence. 
  
Recommendations 
              
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To adopt the proposed policy setting out the Council’s approach to governing 

the operation of Animal Licenced Establishments as set out at Appendix 1, to 
be adhered to when determining all applications for such premises. 
 

1.2 To approved the proposed conditions within the attached policy governing 
the operation of Animal Licenced Establishments and that they attached to all 
licences issued by the Council. 
 

1.3 To authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to set and make any minor alterations 
to the setting of fees  and conditions in relation to the processing of 
applications for Licenced Animal Establishments. 
 

1.4 To agree that the finalised policy be published on 6 January 2014.  
 
 

8. Licensing Act 2003  (Pages 65 - 144)    
 
Report of Head of Community Services. 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
The development and adoption of the Statement of Licensing Policy is a statutory 
requirement under the Licensing Act 2003. The function of approving the Statement 
and the subsequent reviews of it are the responsibility of the Licensing Committee 
in accordance with Cherwell District Councils Constitution and Scheme of 
Delegation. 



 
The current Statement was approved by Full Council for a period of three years on 
9 December 2010. The publication date of the Statement of Licensing Policy was 5 
January 2011. 
 
The report now seeks final approval of the Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 
Recommendations 
              
The Meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To consider the proposed alterations on the draft statement of licensing 

policy and decide whether any draft policies should be altered, omitted or 
others included. 
 

1.2 To authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to make any minor alterations to the 
policy should the publication of regulations make expressed policies 
inconsistent with the regulations (NB – this would only apply up to the point of 
publication on Monday 6 January 2014, thereafter any alterations would be 
subject to full consultation in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003). 

 
 

9. Proposed Stand for Hackney Carriages  (Pages 145 - 152)    
 
Report of Head of Community Services 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
The new development in Pioneer Square, Bicester, incorporated provision for a 
stand for Hackney Carriages to assist in the provision of public transport within the 
town. In order for this stand to be effective, the Licensing Authority has undertaken 
consultation, and the report seeks approval from the Licensing Committee to 
formally adopt the stand. 
 
Recommendations 
              
The Meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To consider the responses submitted during the consultation period and 

approve the adoption of the new stand. 
 

1.2 To authorise the Head of Community Services to arrange for the relevant 
signage to be put in place for the stand to become effective 

 
 

10. Licensing Department Updates  (Pages 153 - 156)    
 
Report of Head of Community Services. 
 
Purpose of report 
 
The report advises the Licensing Committee of current and future developments 
within the Licensing Department  
 



Recommendation 
              
The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To note the report.  
 
 

Councillors are requested to collect any post from their pigeon 
hole in the Members Room at the end of the meeting. 

 
 

Information about this Agenda 
 
Apologies for Absence  
Apologies for absence should be notified to 
democracy@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk or 01327 322365 prior to the start of the 
meeting. 
 
Declarations of Interest 
 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the 
start of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item.  
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare the fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the nearest 
available fire exit.  Members and visitors should proceed to the car park as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
Please contact Dave Parry, Democratic and Elections 
dave.parry@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk, 01327 322365  
 
 
Sue Smith 
Chief Executive 
 
Published on Friday 6 December 2013 
 

 



Cherwell District Council 
 

Licensing Committee 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Licensing Committee held at Bodicote House, 
Bodicote, Banbury, Oxfordshire OX15 4AA, on 21 October 2013 at 5.00 pm 
 
 
Present: Councillor Fred Blackwell (Chairman)  

Councillor Diana Edwards (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 Councillor Colin Clarke 
Councillor Tony Ilott 
Councillor Ray Jelf 
Councillor P A O'Sullivan 
Councillor G A Reynolds 
Councillor Alaric Rose 
Councillor Gordon Ross 
Councillor Douglas Webb 
 

 
Apologies 
for 
absence: 

Councillor Michael Gibbard 
Councillor Kieron Mallon 

 
Officers: Jackie Fitzsimons, Interim Public Protection and Environmental 

Health Manager 
Claire Bold, Licensing Team Leader 
Dave Parry, Democratic and Elections Officer 
 

 
 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

4 Petitions and Requests to Address the Meeting  
 
There were no petitions or requests to address the meeting. 
 
 

5 Urgent Business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 
 

6 Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meetings of the Committee held on 3 April 2013 and 15 
May 2013 were agreed as correct records and signed by the Chairman. 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



Licensing Committee - 21 October 2013 

  

 
7 Sex Entertainment Licensing Policy and Procedure  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Head of Community Services 
outlining changes made in Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 
amending Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act, 1982 which enabled local authorities to be able to determine applications 
for sex establishment venues (SEV’s). The report sought approval for the 
Council’s policy in dealing with such matters. 
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That it be agreed that the proposed policy setting out the Councils 

approach to governing the operation of Sexual Establishment Venues 
(annex to the Minutes as set out in the Minute Book) be adhered to 
when determining all applications for such venues. 

 
(2) That the proposed conditions within the attached policy governing the 

operation of Sexual Entertainment Venues be approved and attached 
to all licences issued by the Council. 
 

(3) That the proposed amendments as a result of the consultation 
responses be incorporated into the final policy. 
 

(4) That it be noted that the finalised policy would be published on 6 
January 2014. 
 

(5) That the Head of Community Services, in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee, be authorised to set and make 
any minor alterations to the setting of fees in relation to the processing 
of applications for sexual entertainment venues. 

 
 

8 Licensing Department Updates  
 
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Community Services 
advising on current and future developments within the Licensing Department. 
 
The Committee expressed concern that, during a recent inspection, 22 out of 
24 taxi vehicles had been found to have a defect. The Licensing Team Leader 
advised that most of the issues related to rear light failures, failure by drivers 
to wear their badges and tyres, where the Council imposed a stricter standard 
than the legal requirement. She undertook to advise Members of the full 
details and, with respect to the future, would ensure Members were provided 
with the outcome of all inspections. The Committee was advised that staffing 
issues that had recently impacted on the ability of the section to undertake 
inspections had now been resolved.      
 
Resolved 
 
(1) That the report be noted. 
 
 

Page 2



Licensing Committee - 21 October 2013 

  

The meeting ended at 5.17 pm 
 
 
 
 Chairman: 

 
 Date: 

 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council 
 

Licensing Sub Committee 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Licensing Sub Committee held at Bodicote House, 
Bodicote, Banbury, OX15 4AA, on 11 April 2013 at 10.00 am. 
 
 

4. Constitution of the Sub Committee  
 
The Membership of the Licensing Sub-Committee for this meeting was Councillors 
Blackwell, Rose and Rose Stratford. 
 
 

5. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

6. Application for Variation of Premises Licence  
 

Public Protection & Development 
Management 
Andy Preston – Head of Public Protection & Development Management 

 
  

 
 
 
 

 Bodicote House 
Bodicote 
Banbury 
Oxfordshire 
OX15 4AA 

www.cherwell.gov.uk 

 

Please ask for: Licensing Direct Dial: 01295 753744 

Email: licensing@cherwell-dc.gov.uk Our Ref: PRM0635/NEW_GRANT_HEARING

11 April 2013 

 
Dear Sir/Madam, 
NOTICE OF DETERMINATION – LICENSING ACT 2003 

Premises: Baltika Supermarket, 33-34 High Street, Banbury 

  
I refer to the hearing of the Licensing Sub-Committee on 11 April 2013 at which the 
Sub-Committee considered an application in respect of the above premises for the 
variation of a premises licence under the Licensing Act 2003.  The decision 
contained in this letter is a decision of the Licensing Authority.  
 
After considering all the representations made at the hearing the Sub-Committee 
decided as follows: 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 5



Licensing Sub Committee - 11 April 2013 

  

The application is Granted as submitted. 
 
You have a right of appeal against this decision to the Magistrates' Court within 21 
days of the date of this letter. The relevant Magistrates Court for the area is; 
 
Banbury Magistrates Court,   The Courthouse,   Warwick Road,   Banbury,   Oxon,   
OX16 2AW 
 
Tel: 01865 448020  Email: TV-OxfordMCEnq@hmcts.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Finally, if you have any queries regarding this notice, please contact a member of the 
Licensing Team on 01295 753744. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Claire Bold 
Licensing Team Leader 
 

 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 10.31 am 
 
 

Copies to Agent/Solicitor of the Applicant  
 Interested Parties (if any) 

Page 6



Cherwell District Council 
 

Licensing Committee  
 

16th December 2014  
 

Animal Licensing Policy  

 
Report of Head of Community Services 

 
 

This report is public 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 
Cherwell District Council is responsible for the control and regulation of certain 
animals and animal establishments through a statutory licensing regime. The 
purpose of this report is to seek approval for the adoption of an Animal Licencing 
Policy and Animal Licensing Conditions set out within the policy, which will be 
applied by authorised enforcing officers when determining applications requiring an 
animal licence. 
  

 

1.0 Recommendations 
              

The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To adopt the proposed policy setting out the Council’s approach to governing the 

operation of Animal Licenced Establishments as set out at Appendix 1, to be 
adhered to when determining all applications for such premises. 

 
1.2 To approve the proposed conditions within the attached policy governing the 

operation of Animal Licenced Establishments and that they be attached to all 
licences issued by the Council. 

 
1.3 To authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with the Chairman of 

the Licensing Committee, to set and make any minor alterations to the setting of 
fees  and conditions in relation to the processing of applications for Licenced Animal 
Establishments. 
 

1.4 To agree that the finalised policy be published on 6th January 2014.  
 
 

2.0 Introduction 

 
2.1 Cherwell District Council is responsible for granting a number of licenses which 

involve animals under the following legislation: 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



  
The Pet Animals Act 1951  
The Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963  
The Breeding of Dogs Act 1973/1991 (as amended by the Breeding and Sale of 
Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999)  
The Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976  
The Riding Establishments Act 1964/1970 

 
2.2 Whilst the Public and Environmental Health Team have dealt with applications and 

granted the above licences for a number of years, the Council has never had a 
formal policy in place.  

 
2.3 A policy has therefore been drafted to clarify what is required of applicants, what 

provisions need to be in place to secure the welfare of all animals and what 
conditions will ordinarily be attached to each licence.  
 

2.4 Licensing conditions vary depending on the type of licence being issued however 
the overriding purpose is to protect animal welfare as covered by the Animal 
Welfare Act 2006. 
 

2.5 The proposed conditions recommended for adoption by Cherwell District Council 
originate from a variety of organisations such as the Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health (CIEH), Local Government Association, Local Authorities Co 
–Ordinators of Regulatory Services (LACORS), British Veterinary Association and 
National Trade Associations.  

 
 

3.0 Report Details 
 

3.1 Cherwell District Council currently have 11 Pet shops licenced in accordance with 
the Pet Animal Act 1951, 24 animal boarding (Cat and Dogs) licenced in 
accordance with the Animal Boarding Act 1963 and 4 Riding Schools licenced in 
accordance with the Riding Establishments Act 1964 & 1970. 

At the time of this report, there are no licenced Zoo’s, Dangerous Wild Animals or 
Dog breeders.  

3.2 The period in which the license operates depends on the legislation it falls under 
which is detailed in the attached policy.  

3.3 There is no statutory requirement on a local authority to have a policy on animal 
licensing, however it is best practice to adopt a policy which sets out its approach 
for the benefit of operators, guides and reassures the public and other public 
authorities and ensures transparency and consistency.  

3.4 The full draft policy is attached to this report at Appendix 1 

 

 

 

Page 8



4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 
 
4.1 The Head of Community Services has a duty of care to the public and so any 

determination will always be made in the interest of public safety and animal welfare 
as well as service provision to the public. 

 
4.2 The Animal Licensing policy will allow the Public and Environmental Health Team to 

carry out its functions in a transparent manner with clear guidance to the Authority, 
Applicants, local residents and businesses alike. 

 
4.3 Each application must be considered on its own merits  
 
 

5.0 Consultation 
 
5.1 This policy has not been sent externally for consultation as this exercise does not 

intend to change the conditions, but seeks the formal adoption and implementation 
of the animal licensing policy. 
 

 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
6.1 The following options have been identified.  
 

Option 1: Adopt the policy and licence conditions  
 
Option 2: Reject policy and conditions for amendment as necessary. 

 
 

7.0 Implications 
 
 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
7.1 There are no financial effects from adopting this Policy other than the cost of 

communicating its adoption to the licensed trade and advertising its existence to the 
general public. There is existing budget provision to cover these costs including 
printing and postage. 

 
Comments checked by: Yvonne White, Service Accountant, Finance & 
Procurement,     Yvonne.white@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
  
Legal Implications 

 
7.2 There is no statutory requirement to implement this policy. However the implication 

of not having such a policy in place would be to permit unregulated activities to take 
place within the district with minimal power for the Licensing Authority to take any 
enforcement action.  Adoption of the Policy will allow the Licensing Authority to 
carry out proportionate enforcement in support of the licensed trade.  

 
Comments checked by : Paul Manning (Solicitor) 01295 221691, 
paul.manning@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  

Page 9



Risk Management  
 
7.3 There are no risk implications of introducing this policy other than those already 

considered within the legal implications.  
 
Comments checked by: Claire Taylor (Corporate Performance Manager) 0300 003 
0113   claire.taylor@cherwellandsouthnorthants.gov.uk 
  
 
Wards Affected 

 
All 
 
Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 

 
Safe Healthy and Thriving District in controlling the risk to animals and to public 
health from harm.  

 
Lead Councillor 

 
None 

 

Document Information 
 

Appendix No Title 

1 Draft Animal Licensing Policy  

Background Papers 

None 

Report Author Claire Thomas, Technical Officer  

Contact 
Information 

01295 227948 

claire.thomas@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 

Page 10



 

 

 

 

ANIMAL LICENSING POLICY 

 

 

 

 

December 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



 

 

 

 

Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................... 1 

2. LICENSING PRINCIPLES ........................................................................................... 2 

3. ANIMAL BOARDING ESTABLISHMENTS................................................................... 4 

4. RIDING ESTABLISHMENTS ....................................................................................... 5 

5. PET SHOPS ................................................................................................................ 6 

6. DANGEROUS WILD ANIMALS ................................................................................... 6 

7. DOG BREEDING ESTABLISHMENTS ........................................................................ 7 

8. ZOOS .......................................................................................................................... 8 

9. DEVIATION FROM POLICY ........................................................................................ 9 

10. ENFORCEMENT ......................................................................................................... 9 

11. AMENDMENTS TO THIS POLICY .............................................................................. 9 

Appendix A – 1.................................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix A – 2.................................................................................................................... 18 

Appendix A - 3 .................................................................................................................. 254 

Appendix B ....................................................................................................................... 310 

Appendix C ....................................................................................................................... 332 

Appendix D ....................................................................................................................... 443 

Appendix E ....................................................................................................................... 465 

Appendix F.......................................................................................................................... 49 

 

Page 12



1 

 

1. INTRODUCTION  
 

1.1. The Policy  
 
1.1.1. This document states Cherwell District Council’s policy on the regulations of 

animal establishments required to be licensed under differing pieces of 
legislation.   

 
1.2. The Law  

 
1.2.1. Numerous pieces of legislation exist that gives Local Enforcing Authority the 

power to regulate animal establishment licensing. 
 

• Animal Boarding Establishment Act 1963 

• Pet Animals Act 1951 and Pet Animals Act 1951 (Amended) 1983 

• Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970  

• Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 

• Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 1991 

• Breeding and Sales of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 

• Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 

1.2.2. Livery yards, circuses, and dog shows do not currently require licensing and 
therefore do not feature in this policy however should legislation be 
amended to incorporate such circumstances, this policy will be amended 
accordingly.  

 
1.2.3. The Animal Welfare Act 2006 came into force on 6th April 2007. The purpose 

of which was to consolidate existing animal health and welfare legislation. 
It introduces a duty of care on people to ensure that the needs of any 
animal for which they are responsible are met. It also creates a new 
offence of failing to provide for the needs of animals in your care, increases 
the penalties for animal abuse and allows the courts to disqualify a person 
from being in charge of animals. The Act promotes the ‘five freedoms’ of 
animal welfare which are:  

 
1. The need for a suitable environment 
2. The need for a suitable diet  
3. The need to be able to exhibit natural behaviour 
4. The need to be housed with or apart from other animals (by providing 

an animal of its own kind where appropriate)  
5. The need to be protected from pain, injury, suffering and disease.  

 
1.2.4. Each piece of animal licensing legislation has its own application process 

which in some cases includes the use of a veterinary inspection, rights of 
appeal and offences. This policy does not detail each process in detail but 
aims to give an overview of the general approach. Further detail can be 
found within each individual piece of specific legislation.  

 
1.2.5. Under this Council’s Constitution, the authority to grant animal licences has 

been delegated to the Head of Community Services, who may further 
delegate as appropriate.

Page 13



2 

 

 
2. LICENSING PRINCIPLES 

 

2.1. Background  
 
2.1.1. The legislation listed in section 1.2.1 of this policy enables the licensing 

authority, this being the local authority, to devise and implement licensing 
conditions. 
 

2.1.2. Each piece of legislation details the main objectives to the licensing 
conditions however the overriding purpose is to protect the welfare of 
animals and the health and safety of those responsible for licenced 
establishments. 

  
2.2. Animal Welfare Act 2006 

 
2.2.1. This is now the primary piece of legislation controlling the welfare of animals 

in England. It has established that reasonable welfare standards must be 
maintained whilst unifying all animal welfare legislation, including 
responsibilities falling to other enforcement agencies. 

 
2.2.2. As an enabling Act, it allows secondary legislation to be implemented in 

respect of welfare regulations. DEFRA may review existing animal 
licensing legislation over the next few years, with the possibility of bringing 
all animal licensing under the remit of this Act. 

 
2.3. Principles of Licensing  

 
2.3.1. In line with section 2.2 above, the Council will base its licensing regime on the 

following principles:  
 

• Responsibility to protect the welfare of all animals  

• Ensuring the five freedoms by implementing appropriate standards  

• Ensuring that those responsible for the management of animal 
welfare observe recognised standards of good practice  

• Ensuring that, so far as it falls within its powers, the requirements of 
all animal related legislation is enforced  

 
2.4. Existing Codes of Best Practice and Model Conditions  

 
2.4.1. In promoting animal welfare, the five freedoms and applying the licensing 

process, the licensing conditions will be based, wherever practicable on 
the existing model conditions, codes of best practice and industry 
standards produced by organisations such as, but not limited to:  

 

• The Chartered Institute of Environmental Health  

• Local Authorities Co-Ordinators of Regulatory Services (LACORS) 

• Local Government Association 

• British Veterinary Association  

• National Trade Associations  
 

2.4.2. Existing model conditions, codes of best practice and industry standards will 
be considered to be a minimum standard and additional conditions 
required to promote the ‘five freedoms’ may be imposed as necessary at 

Page 14



3 

 

the discretion of the Head of Service and Head of the Licensing 
Committee.  

 
2.5. Advice for New Applicants  

 
2.5.1. Any new applicants are encouraged to contact the Councils animal licensing 

officers at the earliest opportunity enabling advice to be given regarding 
the premises and the model conditions as well as clarifying any areas of 
uncertainty regarding the specific application.  

 
2.5.2. This will also allow for the applicant to be advised of other legal requirements 

with regards to other Council departments, for example, Planning, Building 
Control, Business rates etc. Specific guidance should be sought from each 
Council department as necessary.  

 
2.5.3. In exceptional circumstances the council can issue a provisional licence 

which enables the applicant to deal with any minor improvements felt 
necessary to comply with the licence conditions. In these circumstances 
the licence holder will be advised in writing what action needs to be taken 
within an agreed set timescale. On completion of the works, the council 
can then issue the licence. Failure to comply may result in the council 
refusing the licence until such a time where compliance can be achieved.  

 
2.5.4. With all animal licences there is a right to appeal either against the refusal of 

a licence or the conditions attached to a licence. This should be made 
within 6 months from the Councils decision on whether to grant or refuse a 
licence.  

 
2.6. Licence Duration  

 
2.6.1. The period in which a licence operates depends on which piece of legislation 

it is granted under as listed in section 1.2.1 of this policy.  
 

2.6.2. Licences granted under the Riding Establishments Act 1964 & 1970 and The 
Dog Breeding Act 1973 will operate for twelve months from the day it is 
granted.  

 
2.6.3. Licences granted under the Animal Boarding Act 1963, Dangerous Wild 

Animal Act 1976 and the Pet Animals Act 1951 will operate from the day it 
is granted until the 31st December of that year.  

 
2.6.4. All licences are renewable annually however the Council are aware that the 

Animal Welfare Act 2006 promotes a move towards a longer licensing 
period of up to three years for any new regulations, introducing a licensing 
regime. The three year licence will not be an absolute but there will be 
provision for the Council to stipulate a shorter period on a risk based 
approach. In preparation for this the Council will therefore look to introduce 
a risk based inspection approach which will determine the licence duration 
where legislation permits.  

 
2.6.5. All licences which have expired and a renewal application not received by the 

Council will cease to exist. Trading must cease until such time as a new 
licence has been granted. In the case of individuals keeping animals, such 
as under the Dangerous Wild Animals Act, the individual would be 
committing an offence in keeping the animal without a valid licence.  

Page 15



4 

 

 
2.7. Application Process  

 
2.7.1. All applications must be made on the Councils prescribed application form.  

 
2.7.2. To avoid the situation arising in section 2.6.5 and to enable arrangement to 

be made for a veterinary inspection where necessary, renewal applications 
must be received within 2 months prior to the expiry date. A renewal 
reminder letter will be issued prior to this date. 

 
2.7.3. Each application must be submitted with the prescribed application fee. An 

application will not be considered as duly made until the prescribed 
application fee has been received.   

 
2.7.4. In some circumstances a veterinary inspection may be necessary, required 

either by legislation or by the Council in order to determine the application. 
The veterinary surgeon will invoice the Council who will settle the account. 
Any costs will then be recovered from the licence holder on behalf of the 
council.  

 
3. ANIMAL BOARDING ESTABLISHMENTS 
 

3.1. Licensing requirements  
 

3.1.1. The Animal Boarding Act 1963 regulates the licensing of boarding kennels 
and catteries. The boarding of any other animal other than cats and dogs is 
not regulated.  

 
3.1.2. A licence is required where the provision of accommodation for cats and dogs 

is the predominate activity and constitutes a business. Exemptions are 
granted for example to a dog groomer where the accommodation is a 
secondary function to the main function of dog grooming. Another example 
would be a veterinary surgery where accommodation is provided for sick 
animals whilst in their care. These types of premises do not require an 
animal boarding licence.  

 
3.1.3. Boarding of cats and dogs at a domestic property may require a licence if 

payment is received for such a service and it occurs on a regular basis. 
These are often referred to as ‘home boarders’ and therefore a separate 
set of conditions and fees apply. Such premises also attract issues relating 
to planning and therefore each premise should be assessed on its own 
merit and other departments duly informed of any proposed business 
activity.  

 
3.1.4. It is an offence under section 3 of the Act to keep a boarding establishment 

for cats and dogs without obtaining a licence from the Council.  
 

3.2. Licence conditions 
 

3.2.1. Any animal boarding licence issued by the Council will be subject to the 
licence conditions detailed in Appendix A (1-3).  

 
3.2.2. These conditions have been based upon the CIEH Model Conditions for 

Animal Boarding and LACORS Home Boarding Establishments. They are 
considered to be the minimum requirement for an animal boarding 

Page 16



5 

 

establishment. Other conditions may be imposed as set out in paragraph 
2.4.2.  

 
3.2.3. Any animal boarding establishment that does not meet the Council’s licensing 

conditions will not be granted a licence.  
 

3.3. Existing License Holders  
 

3.3.1. Historically the Council have licenced animal boarding establishments that do 
not strictly meet the national model standard conditions but have satisfied 
the Council Officers that they have provided acceptable standards of 
welfare.  

 
4. RIDING ESTABLISHMENTS 
 

4.1. Licensing Requirements  
 

4.1.1. The Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970 regulate the licensing of horse 
riding establishments.  

 
4.1.2. A licence is required where payment is received to ride a horse in the control 

of the premises, with or without instruction.  
 

4.1.3. The legislation requires an independent veterinary inspection to be conducted 
on the horses and premises prior to the issuing of a licence. The veterinary 
surgeon must be a member of the Panel of Riding Establishment 
Inspectors as maintained by the Royal College of veterinary Surgeons and 
the British Veterinary Association. The Council will nominate the veterinary 
surgeon for each inspection and make the appropriate arrangements. The 
cost of the veterinary surgeon will be recovered from the applicant/ licence 
holder by the Council.  

 
4.1.4. The nominated veterinary surgeon may request a further inspection of the 

horse/horses from the establishments own veterinary surgeon to establish 
if the horse/ horses are fit for use within the school. Any horse referred in 
this way must not be used for use within the school until the establishments 
own veterinary surgeon has approved the use in writing. A copy is to be 
sent to the Licensing Authority.  

 
4.1.5. Any Riding Establishment Licence issued will operate for a twelve month 

period from the date it is granted. 
 

4.1.6. It is an offence to operate a riding establishment without obtaining a licence 
from the Council.  

 
4.2. Licence Conditions 

 
4.2.1. Any Riding Establishment license issued by the Council will be subject to the 

license conditions detailed in Appendix B.  Other conditions may be 

imposed as set out in paragraph 2.4.2.  

 
4.2.2. Any riding school that does not meet the Council’s licensing conditions set out 

in Appendix B will not be granted a license.   
 

Page 17



6 

 

5. PET SHOPS 
 

5.1. Licensing Requirements  
 

5.1.1. The Pet Animals Act 1951 and the Pet Animals Act 1951 (Amended) Act 1983 
regulate the licensing of pet shops.  

 
5.1.2. A pet shop is a business, including private dwelling and internet sales, selling 

animals as pets. The term animal refers to all vertebrates. The sale of fish, 
amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals also fall within the scope of the 
legislation.  

 
5.1.3. In order to determine the application, the Council may wish to appoint a 

veterinary surgeon, or a suitably qualified or nationally recognised expert, 
to inspect the premises either instead of, or in conjunction with the Council 
Officer. The cost of any veterinary or expert inspection will be recovered 
from the applicant/ licence holder.  

 
5.1.4. It is an offence under section 5 of the 1951 Act for a person to operate a pet 

shop without obtaining a licence from the Council first.  
 

5.2. Licence Conditions  
 

5.2.1. Any pet shop licence issued by the Council will be subject to the licence 
conditions set out in Appendix C.  

 
5.2.2. These conditions have been based upon the Local Government Association 

Model Standards for Pet Shop License Conditions and the Pet Trade 

Industry Association Standards for Sizes, stocking densities and Water 

Quality for Aquatics. Other conditions may be imposed as set out in 

paragraph 2.4.2.  

 
5.2.3. Any pet shop that does not meet the Councils Licensing conditions as 

detailed in Appendix C will not be granted a licence.  
 
6. DANGEROUS WILD ANIMALS 
 

6.1. Licensing Requirements  
 

6.1.1. The Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 (as amended) regulates the licensing 
of dangerous wild animals (DWA).  

 
6.1.2. A licence is required where an individual or a business wishes to keep an 

animal included on the Schedule of Dangerous Wild Animals maintained 
and published by DEFRA.  

 
6.1.3. The legislation does not apply to DWA’s kept in Zoos or circuses. The 

legislation applies to all individuals wishing to keep a dangerous wild 
animal at home.  

 
6.1.4. Where an individual already holds a pet shop licence issued under the Pet 

Animals Act 1951, a separate DWA licence is not required however to 
ensure the safety of the individual and the general public, the same DWA 
licence conditions must be met.  

Page 18



7 

 

 
6.1.5. In order to determine the application, an annual independent veterinary 

inspection of the animals and premises is required prior to the licence 
being granted. The veterinary surgeon must have suitable experience of 
DWA’s. The Council will nominate the veterinary surgeon for each 
inspection and make the appropriate arrangements. The cost of the 
veterinary surgeon will be recovered from the applicant/ license holder by 
the Council. 

 
6.1.6. To be granted a licence the applicant must be able to demonstrate that 

suitable accommodation and care can be provided and that the keeping of 
the animal would not pose a risk to the health and safety of the public or 
create a public nuisance i.e. noise, odour etc.  

 
6.1.7. It is an offence under section 2 (5) of the Act to keep a DWA without obtaining 

a licence from the Council first.  
 

6.2. License Conditions 
 

6.2.1. Any DWA license issued by the Council will be subject to license conditions in 

Appendix D. Other conditions may be imposed as set out in paragraph 

2.4.2.  

 
6.2.2. There is currently no national model standard available and therefore the 

conditions attached in Appendix D have been formulated from 
neighbouring authorities existing conditions, material obtained from DWA 
training course and industry guides.  

 
6.2.3. Any DWA application that does not meet the Council’s licensing conditions 

detailed in appendix D will not be granted a licence.  
 
7. DOG BREEDING ESTABLISHMENTS 
 

7.1. Licensing Requirements 
 

7.1.1. The Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 and 1991 and the Breeding and Sale of Dogs 
(Welfare) Act 1999 regulate the licensing of dog breeding establishments.  

 
7.1.2. A licence is required by any premises where there are more than two bitches 

kept for the purposes of breeding for sale and which has five or more litters 
of puppies in any twelve month period. Occasional or hobby breeders do 
not require a licence. The Council will refer to published guidance and 
takes into account  other factors when determining between a commercial 
breeder and occasional /hobbiest breeder. If there is an element of doubt, 
applicants are advised to contact the council to discuss their case on its 
individual merit.   

 
7.1.3. It is an offence under section 3 of the 1973 Act for a person to operate a dog 

breeding establishment without obtaining a licence from the Council first.  
 

7.1.4. In accordance with the legislation the Council will decide whether to grant a 
licence within 3 months from receiving the application.  

 

Page 19



8 

 

7.2. Licence Conditions 
 

7.2.1. Any dog breeding establishment license issued by the Council will be 
subjected to the licensing conditions detailed in Appendix E. Other 
conditions may be imposed as set out in paragraph 2.4.2.  
 

7.2.2. These conditions have been based upon the Council’s existing Dog Breeding 

Establishments as a minimum requirement. There is currently no set model 

conditions however regard has been had to all literature and guidance 

provided by course providers. Other conditions may be imposed as set out 

in paragraph 2.4.2.  

 
7.2.3. Any Dog Breeding Establishment application that does not meet the Council’s 

licensing conditions detailed in appendix E will not be granted a licence. 
 

8. ZOOS 

 

8.1. Licensing Requirements 
 
8.1.1. The Zoo Licensing Act 1981 regulates the licensing of zoos.  

 
8.1.2. A licence is required by any establishment where wild animals are kept for the 

purposes of exhibition to which members of the public have access, with or 
without charge for admission, on more than seven days in any period of 
twelve consecutive months.  

 
8.1.3. The wide definition means that licensed zoos can range from traditional zoos 

and safari parks to small specialist collections. Dispensations can be made 
for small premises which reduce the number of inspections to a reasonable 
level for the size of the establishment without detracting from the need to 
ensure that acceptable levels are achieved in animal welfare. 

 
8.1.4. A veterinary surgeon is required to conduct an inspection of such a premises. 

This is to be conducted buy a suitable qualified veterinary surgeon who 
specialises in Zoo Licensing. The Council will nominate the vet for each 
inspection and make the appropriate arrangements. The cost of the 
veterinary surgeon will be recovered from the applicant/ licence holder by 
the Council. 

 
8.1.5. A licence will not be granted where the veterinary surgeon recommends to 

the Council that a licence is refused.  
 
8.1.6. It is an offence under section 19 of the Act for a person to operate a zoo 

without obtaining a licence from the council first.  
 

8.2. Licence Conditions  
 
8.2.1. Any Zoo Licence will be subjected to the licence conditions detailed in 

appendix F. Other conditions may be imposed as set out in paragraph 

2.4.2.  

 

Page 20



9 

 

8.2.2. All veterinary surgeons inspecting a zoo must have regard to the standards 
model conditions however amendments can be made as necessary for 
each individual premises.  

 
8.2.3. Any Zoo which does not meet the model conditions will not be granted a 

licence.  
 
9. DEVIATION FROM POLICY  

 
9.1. In exercising its regulatory function, Cherwell District Council will have due regard to 

this Policy document and the principles set out within it.  
 

9.2. In addition to this Policy, each application will be considered on its own merits 
based on the licensing principles set out in section 2.3.1. Where an applicant is able 
to demonstrate a deviation from this Policy and/or the licensing conditions but is 
able to meet the licensing principles, the Head of Service may authorise a licence to 
be issued accordingly.  

 
9.3. Where a substantial deviation from this Policy is made with clear reasons for doing 

so provided, the Head of Licensing Committee and the Head of Service may 
authorise departure from this Policy if it is considered necessary in the individual 
circumstances. 

 
10. ENFORCEMENT  
 

10.1. The Council will operate a proportionate enforcement regime in accordance with 
the Council’s Environmental Health Statement of Enforcement Policy. 

 
10.2. The responsibility for the overall supervision of the animal licensing lies with the 

Head of Community Services. 
 

11. AMENDMENTS TO THIS POLICY 

 

11.1. Any significant amendment to this Policy will only be implemented following 
consultation with the trade and the public.  

 
11.2. For the purposes of this section, any significant amendment is defined as one 

that:  
a) Is likely to have a significant financial effect on the licence holders  
b) Is likely to have a significant procedural effect on the licence holder  
c) Is likely to have significant effect on the community.  

 
11.3. Any minor amendments will be authorised by the Portfolio holder for Community 

Services. For the purposes of this section, any minor amendment is any such 
change not defined in section 11.2 above.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



10 

 

 
 

 
APPENDICES 

 
Standard Conditions Applicable to Animal Boarding Establishment Licences 

 
The following conditions will apply to all licences animal establishments unless varied by the 
Head of Community Services.  
 
Appendix A – Animal Boarding Licensing Conditions  
 

1. Dog  
2. Cat  
3. Home Boarders  

 
Appendix B – Riding Establishment Licensing Conditions  
Appendix C – Pet Shop Licensing Conditions 
Appendix D – Dangerous Wild Animal Licensing Conditions  
Appendix E – Dog Breeding Establishment Licensing Conditions  
Appendix F – Zoo Licensing Model Conditions 
 

Page 22



11 

 

 

Appendix A – 1  

 
Model Licence Conditions 

and Guidance 
For 

Dog Boarding Establishments 
 
1. General Construction Matters 

 
1.1 Before carrying out any new building or alterations, plans must be submitted to 

and approved by the Environmental Health Section of the Local Authority. 
 

1.2 Planning permission may be required and the local Planning Authority should be 
consulted. 
 

1.3 Building Regulations approval may be required and the local Building Control 
Authority should be consulted. 
 

1.4 Wood is not a suitable construction material. It is susceptible to damage by 
scratching, is difficult to clean and may harbour bacteria, viruses etc. Wood 
should not be used in exposed construction of walls, floors, partitions, door 
frames or doors in the dog kennelling area. 

 

1.5 Maintenance and repair of the whole establishment must be carried out regularly. 
 
2. Kennel Size and Layout 

 
2.1 Each kennel must have a sleeping area of at least 1.9m² (20ft²). The sleeping 

area must be insulated so as to prevent extremes of temperature. (During kennel 
construction it is necessary to use an appropriate design and suitable materials to 
overcome problems of noise emission, to ensure energy conservation and to 
maintain reasonable temperatures throughout both winter and summer). 
 

2.2 Bedding must be provided which allows the dog to be comfortable and which is 
capable of being easily and effectively cleaned and sanitised. 
 

2.3 Each kennel must be provided with an exercise area of at least 2.46m² (26ft²) (for 
dogs up to 24" high at shoulder) or 3.34m² (36ft²) for larger dogs, which is 
separate from the bedding area and exclusive to that kennel. The exercise area 
must be available to the dog at all times, except at night. The exercise area 
should ideally be roofed to a minimum of half the area, sufficient to give the dog 
protection against the weather and to provide adequate shade. 
 

2.4 Kennels must have a minimum height of 1.8m (6ft) to facilitate adequate access 
by kennel staff for cleaning. 
 

2.5 Kennels and exercise areas must open onto secure corridors or other secure 
areas so that dogs are not able to escape from that premises. 
 

2.6 Exercise areas must not be used as bedding areas. 
 

Page 23



12 

 

2.7 Communal areas for exercise are strongly discouraged because of the risk of 
disease spread, in particular worms, and fighting. In any event each kennel must 
be provided with its own exclusive exercise area, thus rendering extra provision 
unnecessary. 
 

2.8 Each dog must be provided with a separate kennel, except that dogs from the 
same household may share a kennel, provided it is of adequate size to 
comfortably accommodate the dogs. Operators must obtain written authorisation 
from the dog owner before kennel sharing is allowed. Each kennel must be 
clearly marked for identification purposes, eg numbered. 
 

2.9 Holding kennels may be provided for temporarily kennelling a dog for not more 
than twenty-four hours. These must be a minimum of 2.3m² (25ft²). In all other 
respects conditions must be to the same standard as the main kennels. 

 
3. Walls and Partitions 

 
3.1 Walls must be of smooth, impervious materials capable of being easily cleansed.  

Suitable construction materials include effectively sealed (smooth and 
impervious) brick/block constructions, moulded plastic, glass reinforced plastic, 
pre-formed plastic surfaced board etc. 
 

3.2 It is recommended that junctions between horizontal and vertical sections are 
coved to facilitate cleaning. 
 

3.3 Partition walls between individual exercise areas must be of a solid construction 
to a minimum height of 1.1m (4ft). 

 
4. Floors 

 
4.1 Floors in all buildings, individual exercise areas and kennels must be of smooth, 

impervious materials, capable of being easily cleansed, whilst providing sufficient 
grip for the dog to walk or run without sustaining injury. 
 

4.2 Floors of kennels and exercise areas should be laid to an adequate fall (minimum 
of1:80) to prevent ponding of liquids. 
 

4.3 Drainage channels should be provided close to, but exterior to the kennel and/or 
exercise area, so that urine is not allowed to pass over walk areas in corridors 
and communal areas or pass from one kennel to another. (Waste water outlets 
may need approval from the National Rivers Authority). 
 

4.4 The establishment must be connected to mains drainage or an approved 
localised sewage disposal system. 

 
5. Ceilings 

 
5.1 Ceilings must be capable of being easily cleaned and disinfected. 

 
6. Doors 

 
6.1 Kennel doors must be strong enough to resist impact and scratching and must be 

capable of being effectively secured.  Galvanised weld mesh should be a 
minimum of 2mm (14 gauge) in thickness. It is recommended that the spacing of 
wire should not exceed 50mm (2 inches). 

Page 24



13 

 

 
6.2 Where metal bars and frames are used, they must be of suitable gauge (approx 

10-14) with spacing adequate to prevent dogs escaping or becoming entrapped. 
Metal edges must not present a risk of injury to the dog. In the interests of safety, 
it is recommended that the outer door should open in an inwards direction. 

 
7. Windows 

 
7.1 All windows, which pose a security risk must be escape proof at all times, eg 

protected by welded mesh or be made of reinforced glass, polycarbonate or other 
impact resistant material. 

 
8. Lighting 

 
8.1 During daylight hours light must be provided to exercise and sleeping areas so 

that all parts are clearly visible. Where practicable this must be natural light. 
 

8.2 Adequate supplementary lighting must be provided throughout the establishment. 
 

9. Ventilation 
 

9.1 Ventilation must be provided to all interior areas without the creation of 
excessive, localised draughts in the bedding area. 

 
10. Temperature in Kennels 

 
10.1 Heating facilities must be available in the kennel and used according to the 

requirements of the individual dog. 
 

10.2 There must be some part of the dog's sleeping area where the dog is able to 
enjoy a temperature of at least 10°C. The use of individual heating lamps for 
dogs may prove adequate. In some circumstances additional background heating 
will also be required. 

 
11. Isolation Facilities 

 
11.1 Isolation facilities must be provided. One isolation kennel is generally sufficient 

(dependant on number of dogs boarded). 
 

11.2 Isolation kennels must comply with other boarding kennel requirements but in 
addition must be separate and physically isolated from the main kennels. This 
should be a minimum of 5m (15ft) based upon the distance a dogs sneeze travels 
(individual circumstances may significantly vary the stated figure). 
 

11.3 Adequate facilities to prevent the spread of infectious disease between the 
isolation and other kennels must be provided. 
 

11.4 Hands must be washed after leaving the isolation facilities and before visiting the 
other kennels. 
 

11.5 There should be a means of maintaining the temperature of isolation kennels at a 
level suitable for the condition of the dog (a minimum of 15.5°C is suggested 
unless contrary advice is given by the veterinary surgeon). 26°C is a realistic 
maximum temperature level that should not be exceeded in normal 
circumstances. 

Page 25



14 

 

 
12. Cleanliness 

 
12.1 All kennels, corridors, common areas and kitchens etc must be kept clean and 

free from accumulations of dirt and dust and must be kept in such a manner as to 
be conducive to maintenance of disease control and dog comfort. 
 

12.2 Each kennel must be cleansed daily. All excreta and soiled material must be 
removed from all areas used by dogs at least daily and more often if necessary. 
 

12.3 All bedding areas must be kept clean and dry. 
 

12.4 Each kennel must be thoroughly cleansed, disinfected and dried upon vacation.  
Fittings and bedding must also be thoroughly cleansed and disinfected at that 
time. 
 

12.5 Facilities must be provided for the proper reception, storage and disposal of all 
waste. Clinical waste arising from the treatment of dogs should be segregated 
and disposed of by incineration. 
 

12.6 Operators wishing to dispose of waste on their premises or operate an incinerator 
may need planning permission and a waste management licence or authorisation 
under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Advice should be sought from the 
Waste Regulation Authority of the County Council or the Environmental Health 
Section. 
 

12.7 Measures must be taken to minimise the risk from rodents, insects and other 
pests within the establishment. 

 
13. Disease Control and Vaccination 

 
13.1 Adequate precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread of 

infectious and contagious disease and parasites amongst the dogs, staff and 
visitors. 
 

13.2 Proof must be provided that dogs boarded or resident have current vaccinations 
against Canine Distemper, Infectious Canine Hepatitis, Leptospirosis and Canine 
Parvovirus and other relevant diseases. Vaccination against Kennel Cough 
should be encouraged. The course of vaccination must have been completed at 
least four weeks before the first date of boarding or in accordance with 
manufacturer’s instructions. A record that this proof has been supplied must be 
kept on site throughout the period that the dog is boarded. 
 

13.3 Advice from veterinary surgeon must be sought if there are signs of disease, 
injury or illness in a dog. 
 

13.4 A well-stocked first aid kit suitable for use on dogs must be available. 
 

13.5 If there is evidence of external parasites (fleas, ticks, lice etc) the dog must be 
treated with a proprietary insecticide used in accordance with the manufacturer's 
instructions. 
 

13.6 Phenolic disinfectants should not be used around dogs and dogs must be kept 
dry during cleaning of kennels. 
 

Page 26



15 

 

13.7 Any dog that has died on the premises must be referred to a veterinary surgeon 
and the licensing officer of the local authority must be informed. 
 

13.8 A veterinary practice should be appointed for the establishment. The name, 
address and phone number must be displayed in a prominent position in a public 
area. 

 
14. Food and Water Supplies 

 
14.1 All dogs must be adequately supplied with suitable food. Pet proof containers 

must be provided for the storage of food. Wholesome water must be available at 
all times and changed daily. 
 

14.2 Eating and drinking vessels must be capable of being easily cleansed and 
disinfected to prevent cross contamination. They must be maintained in a clean 
condition. 
 

14.3 Eating vessels must be cleansed after each meal and drinking vessels must be 
cleansed at least once a day. 

 
15. Kitchen Facilities 

 
15.1 Exclusive facilities, hygienically constructed and maintained, must be provided for 

the storage and preparation of food for the dogs. 
 

15.2 Suitable refrigeration facilities must be provided if fresh and cooked meat are 
stored. 
 

15.3 A sink with hot and cold water must be provided for the washing of food 
equipment and eating and drinking vessels. 
 

15.4 A separate wash-hand basin should be provided for staff use. 
 

16. Fire Precautions 
 
16.1 Appropriate steps must be taken for the protection of the dogs in case of fire or 

other emergencies. 
 

16.2 A proper emergency evacuation plan and fire warning procedure must be drawn 
up. 
 

16.3 Fire fighting equipment must be provided in accordance with advice given by the 
Fire Prevention Officer. 
 

16.4 All electrical installations must be maintained in a safe condition. There must be a 
residual circuit current breaker system on each block of kennels. 
 

16.5 Heating appliances must not be sited in a location or manner where they may 
present a risk of fire, or risk to dogs. 
 

16.6 Precautions must be taken to prevent any accumulation, which may present a 
risk of fire. 
 

16.7 There must be adequate means of raising alarm in the event of a fire or other 
emergency. 

Page 27



16 

 

 
Other Matters 
 
1) A copy of the licence and associated conditions must be displayed to the public in a 

prominent position in, on or about the boarding establishment. 
 

2) Insurance - adequate insurance indemnity should be arranged. Operators must insure 
against public liability and if staff are employed, employers liability insurance is 
mandatory. Certificates of insurance should be displayed. 
 

3) Dangerous Dogs - dogs subject to contracts under current dangerous dogs legislation 
must have a copy of the licence and insurance certificate lodged with the boarding 
kennel (Japanese Sousa/Pit Bull Cross). 
 

4) Under the Control of Dogs Order 1992, every dog whilst in a place of public resort 
must wear a collar with the name and address of the owner inscribed upon it. It is 
recommenced that all dogs boarded at the establishment should wear a collar and tag 
identifying the name of the owner, or have the collar and tag secured immediately 
outside the kennel. 
 

5) Adequate toilet and washing facilities and a first aid kit must be available for staff. 
 

6) Staff should be adequately trained in the safe handling of dogs, emergency 
procedures to be followed and all aspects of the licence conditions, which are pertinent 
to their work. 
 

7) Staff should be regularly vaccinated against Tetanus. 
 

8) A written training policy must be provided. Systematic training of staff, must be 
demonstrated to have been carried out. 
 
The following are regarded as essential topics to be covered in the programme: 

• Animal welfare 

• Cleanliness and Hygiene 

• Feeding and Food Preparation 

• Disease Control 

• Recognition and Treatment of Sick Animals 

• Health and Safety 

• Emergency Procedures 
 

9) Where stray dogs, are accepted by the kennels they must be kept in a separate area 
away from boarded dogs. 
 

10) A register must be kept of all dogs boarded and should include the following: 
 

• date or arrival; 

• name of dog; 

• description, breed, age, gender; 

• name, address and telephone number of owner; 

• name, address and telephone number to contact whilst boarded; 

• name, address and telephone number of dogs veterinary surgeon; 

• anticipated and actual date of departure; 

• health, welfare and nutritional requirements. 
 

Page 28



17 

 

The register must be kept for two years - computerised, loose-leaf, index card and 
book register systems are acceptable. Where records are computerised, a back up 
copy must be kept. 

 
11) A fit and proper person must always be present to exercise, supervise and deal with 

emergencies whenever dogs are boarded. 
 

12) Dogs must be visited at regular intervals as necessary for their health, safety and 
welfare. 

 

Page 29



18 

 

 

Appendix A – 2  

 
Model Licence Conditions 

and Guidance 
For 

Cat Boarding Establishments 
 
 
1. General Construction Matters 

 
1.1 Before carrying out any new building or alterations, plans must be submitted to 

and approved by the Environmental Health Section of the Local Authority. 
 

1.2 Planning permission may be required and the Local Planning Authority should be 
consulted. 

 
1.3 Building regulations approval may be required and the Local Building Control 

Authority should be consulted. 
 

1.4 The construction of the cattery must be such that security of the cat is ensured. 
 

1.5 All areas to which cats have free access must be roofed to prevent escape. 
 

1.6 All internal surfaces used in the construction of walls, floors, partitions, doors and 
door frames must be durable, smooth and impervious. 

 
2. Cattery Unit Size and Layout 

 
2.1 Each unit must have a sleeping area and an adjoining exercise area, which is 

exclusive to that unit. 
 

2.2 Each unit must be provided with a sleeping area of at least 0.85m2 (9ft2) for one 
cat,1.5m2 (16ft2) for two cats, 1.85m2 (20ft2) for up to four cats. Only cats from 
the same home may be boarded in the same unit. (The written consent of the 
cats owner should be obtained). 
 
NB: To enable flexibility in usage i.e. to allow more than one cat to be boarded in 
a unit, it is recommended that the minimum floor area of the sleeping 
accommodation be 1.5m2 (16ft2). 

 
2.3 Suitable bedding must be provided which allows the cat to be comfortable and 

which is capable of being easily and effectively cleansed and sanitised. 
 

2.4 Each unit must be provided with an exercise area of at least 1.7m2 (18ft2) for a 
single cat, 2.23m2 (24ft2) or two cats and 2.8m2(30ft2) for up to four cats. 

 
2.5 Units should have a minimum internal height of 1.8m (6ft). (The sleeping area 

should be at least 1.22m (4ft) high. 
 

2.6 Holding units may be provided for temporarily boarding a cat for not more than 
twenty-four hours. These must have a minimum floor area of 1.1m2 (12ft2) and a 
minimum height of 0.9m (3ft). 

Page 30



19 

 

 
2.7 Sleeping areas of units must be suitably insulated or otherwise controlled so as to 

prevent extremes of temperature. 
 

2.8 Units must open onto secure corridors or other secure areas so that cats are not 
able to escape from the premises. 

 
2.9 Each unit must be clearly marked e.g. numbered, or a similar system in place, 

which ensures that relevant information about the cat in that unit is readily 
available. 

 
3. Walls and Partitions 

 
3.1 The walls with which cats may come into contact must be of smooth impervious 

materials, capable of being easily cleansed. Where concrete or other building 
blocks or bricks are used, they must be sealed so as to be smooth and 
impervious. It may be necessary to render the brick/blockwork prior to sealing. 
 

3.2 Junctions between vertical and horizontal sections should be coved. 
 

3.3 Partition walls between units should be properly surfaced brick/block 
constructions, moulded plastic, glass reinforced plastic (GRP), pre-formed plastic 
surfaced board etc. (The use of GRP allows the transmission of light.) The 
partition wall should be to a minimum of 1.2m (4ft) in order to adequately prevent 
contact between cats in separate units. If a shelf is provided for the cat in the 
sleeping pen, the barrier must extend at least 0.5m above the shelf. 

 
4. Floors 

 
4.1 Floors of all buildings and units must be of smooth impervious materials, capable 

of being easily cleansed. (Concrete bases should incorporate a damp proof 
membrane and should have a minimum fall of 1 in 80). 
 

4.2 Where drainage channels are provided, these should be provided close to, but 
exterior to the sleeping/exercise area, so that urine and wash down water is not 
allowed to pass over walk areas in corridors and communal areas or pass from 
one unit to another. (Waste water outlets may need approval from the National 
Rivers Authority). 

 
5. Ceilings and Roofing 

 
5.1 Ceilings must be capable of being easily cleansed and disinfected. 

 
5.2 All exercise areas should be covered with welded mesh and roofed with a 

suitable material. A translucent material, capable of filtering UV light and 
providing adequate shade is recommended. 

 
6. Doors 

 
6.1 Doors must be strong enough to resist impact and scratching and capable of 

being effectively secured. It is recommended that a cat flap is provided in the 
door in the sleeping compartment to permit easy access to the exercise area. 
(This flap should be closed at night). 
 

6.2 Metal edging, if used, must not present a risk of injury to the cat. 

Page 31



20 

 

 
7. Windows 

 
7.1 All windows, which pose a security risk must be escape proof at all times, eg 

protected by welded mesh or be made of reinforced glass, polycarbonate or other 
impact resistant material. 

 
8. Lighting 

 
8.1 During daylight hours, light must be provided to exercise and sleeping areas so 

that all parts are clearly visible. Where practicable this must be natural light. 
 

8.2 Adequate supplementary lighting must be provided throughout the establishment. 
 
9. Ventilation 

 
9.1 Ventilation must be provided in all interior areas without the creation of excessive 

localised draughts in the sleeping area. 
 
10. Temperature in Units 

 
10.1 Heating facilities must be available in the unit and used according to the 

requirements of the individual cat. 
 

10.2 There must be some part of the sleeping area where the cat is able to enjoy a 
temperature of at least 10°C. Elderly cats may require higher ambient 
temperatures. 

 
10.3 During the construction stage adequate attention must be afforded to the 

materials used in construction and insulation to ensure adequate protection 
against seasonal temperature variation. 

 
10.4 Where temperatures lower that that indicated are reached, it may be more 

economical to provide localised sources of heat, eg individually, thermostatically 
controlled infra-red dull emitters. Heated beds may also be used, provided these 
are maintained in a safe condition. 

 
10.5 26°C is a realistic maximum temperature level that should not be exceeded in 

normal circumstances and adequate ventilation of the unit must be provided to 
ensure the comfort of the cats. 

 
11. Isolation Facilities 

 
11.1 Isolation facilities must be provided. One isolation unit is generally sufficient 

(dependent upon number of cats boarded). 
 

11.2 Isolation units must comply with other cattery unit requirements, but in addition 
must be separate and physically isolated from the main units. This should be a 
minimum distance of 3m (10ft) away. (Individual circumstances may vary the 
stated figure). 

 
11.3 Adequate facilities to prevent the spread of infectious disease between the 

isolation unit and other units must be provided. 
 

Page 32



21 

 

11.4 Hands must be washed after leaving the isolation facilities before visiting the 
other units. 

 
11.5 There must be means of maintaining the temperature of isolation units at a level 

suitable for the condition of the cat and dependent upon veterinary advice (a 
minimum of 15°C is suggested unless contrary advice is given by the veterinary 
surgeon.) 

 
12. Cleanliness 

 
12.1 All units, corridors, common areas, kitchens etc must be kept clean and free from 

accumulation of dirt and dust and must be kept in such a manner as to be 
conducive to maintenance of disease control and cat comfort. 
 

12.2 Each unit must be cleansed daily. All excreta and soiled material must be 
removed from all areas used by cats at least daily and more often if necessary. 

 
12.3 All sleeping areas must be kept clean and tidy. 

 
12.4 Suitably sited litter trays, which are easy to clean and impermeable, must be 

provided at all times. These must be emptied and cleansed at least once a day 
and as necessary at any time during the day if found to be unduly soiled. 

 
12.5 Each unit must be thoroughly cleansed, disinfected and dried upon vacation. All 

fittings and bedding must also be thoroughly cleansed and disinfected at that 
time. 

 
12.6 Facilities must be provided for the proper reception, storage and disposal of all 

waste. Clinical waste arising from the treatment of cats should be segregated and 
disposed of by incineration. 

 
12.7 Operators wishing to dispose of waste on their premises or operate an incinerator 

may need planning permission and a waste management licence or authorisation 
under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Advice should be sought from the 
Waste Regulation Authority of the County Council or the Environmental Health 
Section. 

 
12.8 Measures must be taken to minimise the risk from rodents, insects and other 

pests within the establishment. 
 
13. Disease Control and Vaccination 

 
13.1 Adequate precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread of 

infectious and contagious disease and parasites amongst cats, staff and visitors. 
 

13.2 Proof must be provided that cats boarded or resident have current vaccinations 
against infectious feline enteritis, feline respiratory disease and other relevant 
diseases. The course of vaccination must have been completed at least four 
weeks before the first date of boarding or in accordance with manufacturers 
instruction. A record that this proof has been supplied must be kept on site 
throughout the period that the cat is boarded. 

 
13.3 Advice from a veterinary surgeon must be sought in the case of signs of disease, 

injury or illness. Where any cat is sick or injured, any instructions for its treatment, 
which have been given by a veterinary surgeon must be strictly followed. 

Page 33



22 

 

 
13.4 A well-stocked first aid kit suitable for use on cats must be available. 

 
13.5 Phenolic disinfectants should not be used around cats and cats should be kept 

dry during cleaning of enclosures. 
 

13.6 Any cat that has died on the premises must be referred to a veterinary surgeon 
and the licensing officer of the Local Authority must be informed. 

 
14. Food and Water Supplies 

 
14.1 All cats must be adequately supplied with suitable food. At least two meals a day 

must be offered at approximately eight hours apart. Wholesome water must be 
available at all times and changed daily. 
 

14.2 Eating and drinking vessels must be capable of being easily cleansed and 
disinfected and must be maintained in a clean condition. 

 
14.3 Eating vessels must be cleansed after each meal and drinking vessels must be 

cleansed at least once a day. 
 

14.4 Suitable containers must be provided for the storage of foods. 
 
15. Kitchen Facilities 

 
15.1 Exclusive facilities, hygienically constructed and maintained, must be provided for 

the storage and preparation of food for the cats. 
 

15.2 Suitable refrigeration facilities must be provided where fresh and cooked meats 
are stored. 

 
15.3 A sink with hot and cold water must be provided for the washing of food 

equipment and eating and drinking vessels. 
 

15.4 A separate wash-hand basin should be provided for staff use. 
 
16. Fire Precautions 

 
16.1 Appropriate steps must be taken for the protection of cats in case of fire and 

other emergencies. 
 

16.2 A proper emergency evacuation plan and fire warning procedure must be drawn 
up. 

 
16.3 Fire fighting equipment must be provided in accordance with advice given by the 

Fire Prevention Officer. 
 

16.4 All electrical installations must be maintained in a safe condition. There must be a 
residual current circuit breaker system on each block of units. 

 
16.5 Heating appliances must not be sited in a location or manner where they may 

present a risk of fire or risk to cats. 
 

16.6 Precautions must be taken to prevent any accumulation, which may present a fire 
risk. 

Page 34



23 

 

 
16.7 There must be adequate means of raising an alarm in the event of fire or other 

emergency. 
 
Other Matters 
 
1) A copy of the licence and its conditions must be displayed to the public in a 

prominent position in, on, or about the boarding establishment. 
 
2) Insurance - adequate indemnity insurance should be arranged. Operators must 

insure against public liability and if staff are employed, employers liability insurance is 
mandatory. Certificates of insurance should be displayed. 

 
3) Adequate toilet and washing facilities and a first aid kit must be available for staff. 
 
4) Staff should be regularly vaccinated against tetanus. 
 
5) Staff should be adequately trained in the safe handling of cats, emergency 

procedures to be followed and all other aspects of licence conditions, which are 
pertinent to their work. 

 
6) A written training policy is recommended. Systematic training of staff must be 

demonstrated to have been carried out. 
 

The following are regarded as essential topics to be covered in the programme: 
 

• Animal Welfare 

• Cleanliness and Hygiene 

• Feeding and Food Preparation 

• Disease Control 

• Recognition and Treatment of Sick Animals 

• Health and Safety 

• Emergency Procedures 
 
7) Where stray cats are accepted by the cattery, they must be kept in a separate area 

away from boarded cats. 
 

8) A register must be kept of all cats boarded and should include the following 
information: 
 

• Date of arrival 

• Name of cat 

• Description, breed, age, gender 

• Name, address and telephone number of owner 

• Name, address and telephone number of contact person whilst boarded 

• Name, address and telephone number of cats' Veterinary Surgeon 

• Anticipated and actual date of departure 

• Health, welfare and nutritional requirements 
 
The register must be kept for two years - computerised, loose leaf, index card and 
book register systems are acceptable. 

 
9) A fit and proper person must always be present to supervise and deal with 

emergencies whenever cats are boarded at the premises. 

Page 35



24 

 

 
10) Cats must be visited at regular intervals, as necessary, for their health, safety and 

welfare.

Page 36



25 

 

 

Appendix A - 3  

 
MODEL LICENCE CONDITIONS FOR HOME BOARDING ( DOGS) 

ANIMAL BOARDING ESTABLISHMENTS ACT 1963. 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1. Unless otherwise stated, these conditions shall apply to all buildings and areas to 

which dogs have access and/or which are used in association with the boarding of 
dogs. 
 

1.2. Normally planning permission will not be required for the home boarding of animals 
on the scale proposed, however should complaints be received because of 
particular noise or odour problems, then the Council reserves the right to consider 
whether there has been a change of use which requires a planning application to be 
submitted. 
 

1.3. The Licensee must ensure that the establishment is covered by adequate and 
suitable public liability insurance and, where necessary, adequate and suitable 
employers liability insurance. 
 

1.4. No dog registered under the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 must be accepted for home 
boarding. 
 

1.5. Dog hybrids registered under the Dangerous Wild Animal Act 1976 (e.g. Wolf 
Hybrids) are not to be accepted for home boarding. 
 

1.6. Entire males and bitches in season or bitches due to be in season during the 
boarding, must not be boarded together or boarded with resident dogs. Puppies 
under 6 months of age must not be boarded with other dogs including resident dogs. 
 

1.7. The Local Authority must be satisfied that the licensee is not disqualified from 
keeping animals under any relevant legislation and has experience as a dog owner. 

 
2. LICENCE DISPLAY 

 
2.1. A copy of the licence and its associated conditions must be suitably displayed to the 

public in a prominent position in, on or about the premises or made available to each 
boarder. 

 
3. NUMBERS OF ANIMALS 

 
3.1. The maximum number of dogs to be kept at any one time is   (enter number). 

 
3.2. Only dogs from the same household may be boarded at any one time. Dogs must 

not be boarded with any cat, unless they normally live together in the same 
household. 
 

3.3. Where there is a resident dog or cat kept at the household, written consent from the 
owners of the boarded dog must be gained following a trial familiarisation session. 
 

Page 37



26 

 

3.4. The Licensee will be required to make an assessment of the risks of home boarding 
to include the risk to or caused by children who are likely to be at the property. 

 
4. CONSTRUCTION 

 
4.1. Dogs must live in the home as family pets. There must be no external construction 

of buildings, cages or runs.   
 

4.2. The premises shall have its own entrance and must not have shared access e.g. 
communal stairs.  
 

4.3. There must be adequate space, light, heat and ventilation for the dogs. 
 

4.4. As far as reasonably practicable all areas/rooms within the home to which boarded 
dogs have access, must have no physical or chemical hazards that may cause injury 
to the dogs. 
 

4.5. There must be sufficient space available to be able to keep the dogs separately if 
required. 
 

4.6. If a collection and delivery service is provided, a suitable vehicle with a dog     guard 
or cage in the rear must be provided. 
 

4.7. Dogs should not have access directly out of the property at any time which could 
result in them escaping.  

 
5. MANAGEMENT 

 
5.1. Training 

 
5.1.1. A written training policy for staff must be provided. Systematic training of staff 

must be demonstrated to have been carried out.  
 

5.2. Cleanliness 
 
5.2.1. All areas where the dogs have access to, including the kitchen etc must be 

kept clean and free from accumulations of dirt and dust and must be kept in 
such a manner as to be conducive to maintenance of disease control and dog 
comfort. 
 

5.2.2. All excreta and soiled material must be removed from all areas used by dogs 
at least daily and more often if necessary.  Disposal facilities for animal waste 
must be agreed with the Licensing Authority. 

 
5.2.3. All bedding areas must be kept clean and dry. 

 
5.2.4. Facilities must be provided for the proper reception, storage and disposal of 

all waste.  Particular care should be taken to segregate clinical waste arising 
from the treatment and handling of dogs with infectious diseases. The final 
route for all such waste shall comply with current waste regulations. 

 
5.2.5. Measures must be taken to minimise the risks from rodents, insects and other 

pests within the premises. 
 

5.3. Food and Water Supplies 

Page 38



27 

 

 
5.3.1. All dogs shall have an adequate supply of suitable food as directed by the 

client.   
 

5.3.2. Fresh drinking water must be available at all times (unless advised otherwise 
by a veterinary surgeon) and the drinking vessel cleaned daily. The water 
must be changed at least twice a day. 

 
5.3.3. Clients must be encouraged to provide each dog with its own bedding, bowls, 

grooming materials etc.  These items must be cleaned regularly to prevent 
cross-infection. The Licensee however should also be able to provide extra 
bedding material. 

 
5.3.4. Where necessary, eating and drinking vessels must be provided, and where 

so, they must be capable of being easily cleansed and disinfected to prevent 
cross-contamination.  They must also be maintained in a clean condition.  
Feeding bowls must be cleaned or disposed of after each meal and each dog 
must be provided with its own bowl. 

 
5.4. Kitchen Facilities 

 
5.4.1. Airtight containers must be provided for the storage of dry foods.  Uncooked 

food and the remains of opened tins must be stored in covered, non-metal, 
leak proof containers in the fridge.  
 

5.4.2. All bulk supplies of food shall be kept in vermin proof containers. 
 

5.5. Disease Control and Vaccination 
 
5.5.1. Adequate precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread of 

infectious and contagious disease and parasites amongst the dogs, staff and 
visitors. 
 

5.5.2. Proof must be provided that boarded and resident dogs have current 
vaccinations against Canine Distemper, Infectious Canine Hepatitis (Canine 
adenovirus), Leptospirosis (L. canicola and L. icterohaemorrhagicae) and 
Canine Parvovirus and other relevant diseases.  The course of vaccination 
must have been completed at least four weeks before the first date of 
boarding or in accordance with manufacturer instructions.  A record that this 
proof has been supplied must be kept on-site throughout the period that the 
dog is boarded. 

 
5.5.3. Advice from a veterinary surgeon must be sought in case of signs of disease, 

injury or illness.  Where any dog is sick or injured, any instructions for its 
treatment, which have been given by a veterinary surgeon, must be strictly 
followed. 

 
5.5.4. A well-stocked first-aid kit suitable for use on dogs must be available and 

accessible on site. 
 
5.5.5. The Licensee must be registered with a veterinary practice that can provide 

24-hour help and advice. The clients own veterinary practice must be known 
and consulted if necessary. 

 

Page 39



28 

 

5.5.6. Precautions must be taken to prevent the spread of fleas, ticks, intestinal 
parasites and other parasites in both boarded and resident dogs.  Proof must 
be maintained of all routine and emergency treatment for parasites. 

 
5.5.7. The premises shall be regularly treated for fleas and parasites with a 

veterinary recommended product.   
 
5.5.8. Veterinary advice must be sought in relation to cleaning substances so that 

they or their fumes cannot be harmful to an animal. 
 
5.5.9. Premises must be thoroughly disinfected between each boarding visit. 

 
5.6. Isolation and Contagious Disease Outbreak 

 
5.6.1. Dogs showing signs of any disease or illness shall be isolated from any other 

dogs until veterinary advice is obtained. There must be sufficient facilities 
within the licensed premises to ensure effective separation of any sick animal. 
 

5.6.2. The Licensee must inform the Licensing Authority on the next working day if a 
dog develops an infectious disease. 

 
5.6.3. Following an episode of infectious disease during any stay, the premises must 

undergo a reasonable quarantine period before new boarders are admitted. 
This period will be specified by the Licensing Authority as agreed with their 
authorised veterinary surgeon. 

 
5.6.4. The Licensing Authority must be informed of any animal death on the 

premises. The Licensee must make arrangements for the body to be stored at 
a veterinary surgeons premises until the owners return. 

 
5.7. Register 

 
5.7.1. A register must be kept of all dogs boarded.  The information kept must 

include the following: 
 

• Date of arrival 
• Name of dog, any identification system such as microchip number, tattoo 
• Description, breed, age and gender of dog 
• Name, address and telephone number of owner or keeper 
• Name, address and telephone number of contact person whilst boarded 
• Name, address and telephone number of dog’s veterinary surgeon 
• Anticipated and actual date of departure 
• Proof of current vaccinations, medical history and requirements 
• Health, welfare nutrition and exercise requirements 

 
5.7.2. Such a register is to be available for inspection at all times by an officer of 

Licensing Authority, veterinary surgeon. 
 

5.7.3. The register must be kept readily available for a minimum of 2 years and kept 
in such a manner as to allow an authorised officer easy access to such 
information.  

 
5.7.4. If medication is to be administered, this must be recorded. 

 

Page 40



29 

 

5.7.5. Where records are computerised, a back-up copy must be kept. The register 
must also be available to key members of staff of the establishment at all 
times. 

 
5.8. Supervision 

 
5.8.1. A fit and proper person with relevant experience must always be present to 

exercise supervision and deal with emergencies whenever dogs are boarded 
at the premises. This person must not have any conviction or formal Cautions 
for any animal welfare related offence. 
 

5.8.2. Dogs must be visited at regular intervals, as necessary for their health, safety 
and welfare, and must not be left unattended for longer than 3 hours at a time 
and then not on a regular basis. 

 
5.8.3. No home where there are children under 5 years of age will be licensed. 

 
5.8.4. Only people over 16 years of age are allowed to walk the dogs in public 

places. 
 

5.9. Exercise 
 
5.9.1. Dogs must be exercised in accordance with their owner’s wishes. If dogs are 

taken off the premises, they must be kept on leads unless with the owners 
written permission. 
 

5.9.2. There must be direct access to a suitable outside area. The area / garden 
must only be for use by the homeowner (not shared with other residents).  
The area must be kept clean. 

 
5.9.3. The exercise/garden area of the premises and any other area to which the 

boarded dogs may have access, must be totally secure and safe. Fencing 
must be adequate to offer security to prevent escape and be safe, with no 
dangerous sharp objects or protrusions. Gates must be able to be locked. 

 
5.9.4. If there is a pond, it must be covered to avoid drowning. 

 
5.9.5. Dogs must wear a collar and identity tag during their time in boarding. The tag 

must display the name, address and telephone number of the boarding 
premises. 

 
5.9.6. The Licensing Authority must be informed on the next working day if a dog is 

lost. 
 
5.9.7. Greenhouses and cold frames must be fenced off from dogs. Any plants 

within the garden are used for exercising dogs must be checked that they are 
not poisonous. 

  
5.10. Fire/Emergency Precautions 

 
5.10.1. Appropriate steps must be taken for the protection of the dogs in case of fire 

or other emergencies.  
 

5.10.2. The occupier of the property must be aware of the location of the dogs in the 
property at all times. 

Page 41



30 

 

 
5.10.3. Careful consideration needs to be given to the sleeping area for dogs to 

ensure that they can be easily evacuated in the event of a fire, without 
putting the occupiers of the property at risk. 

 
5.10.4. A fire warning procedure and emergency evacuation plan – including details 

of where dogs are to be evacuated to in the event of a fire or other 
emergency - must be drawn up, brought to the attention of those involved in 
the home boarding arrangements and/or displayed in a prominent place on 
the premises. The Licensee must have suitable arrangements for the 
temporary boarding of dogs in the event that the licensed premises is 
rendered uninhabitable. 

 
5.10.5. Fire detection equipment must be provided in accordance with general 

advice given by the Fire Safety Officer.  The home must have at least 2 
working smoke detectors located at the top & bottom of the staircase, or 
other appropriate location.   

 
5.10.6. All doors to rooms must be kept shut at night. 

 
5.10.7. All electrical installations and appliances must be maintained in a safe 

condition. No dog must be left in a room with loose or trailing cables or 
wires. 

 
5.10.8. All heating appliances must be free of risk of fire as is reasonably 

practicable. There must be no use of freestanding gas or oil appliances. 
 
5.10.9. A relative, friend or neighbour within 5 minutes travelling time must have a 

spare set of keys and access to the premises in case of an emergency.  
These details must be made available to the Licensing Authority. 

 

Page 42



31 

 

 

Appendix B  

 
MODEL LICENCE CONDITIONS FOR A RIDING ESTABLISHMENT 

The Riding Establishment Act 1964 - 1970. 
 
 
1. Horses must be maintained in good health, and in all respects physically fit and, in the 

case of a horse kept for the purpose of its being let out on hire for riding or a horse 
kept purpose of its being used in providing instruction in riding, the horse must be 
suitable for the purpose for which it is kept. 
 

2. No horse aged three years or under nor any mare heavy with foal nor any mare within 
three months after foaling may be let out on hire for riding or used, in return for 
payment, for instruction in or demonstrating riding. 
 

3. Any riding equipment supplied for a horse let out on hire must be free from visible 
defect which is likely to cause suffering to the horse or accident to the rider. 
 

4. The feet of all animals must be properly trimmed and, if shod, their shoes must be 
properly fitted and in good condition. 
 

5. A horse found on inspection of the premises by an authorised officer to be in need of 
veterinary attention must not be returned to work until the holder of the licence has 
obtained at his own expense and has lodged with the local authority a veterinary 
certificate that the horse is fit for work. 
 

6. No horse may be let out on hire for riding or used for providing instruction in riding 
without supervision by a responsible person of the age of 16 years or over unless (in 
the case of a horse let out for hire for riding) the holder of the licence is satisfied that 
the hirer of the horse is competent to ride without supervision. 
 

7. In the case of horses maintained at grass there must be available for them at all times 
during which they are maintained adequate pasture and shelter and water and 
supplementary feeds must be provided as and when required. 
 

8. Horses must be adequately supplied with suitable food, drink and (except in the case 
of horses maintained at grass, so long as they are so maintained) bedding material, 
and must be adequately exercised, groomed and rested and visited at suitable 
intervals. 
 

9. All reasonable precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread among 
horses of infectious or contagious diseases and veterinary first aid equipment and 
medicines must be provided and maintained in the premises. 
 

10. The construction of the riding establishments must be substantial, adequate to contain 
the animals, and provided with warmth and shelter in clean and hygienic conditions.  
There must be convenient and safe access to stalls and boxes.  Stalls must be large 
enough to allow the animal to lie down and get up without risk of injury.  Boxes must 
be large enough to allow the animal to turn round. 
 

11. Yards must provide enough space for every animal kept there. 
 

Page 43



32 

 

12. Lighting must be adequate to render the use of artificial light unnecessary in daylight. 
 

13. Ventilation must provide fresh air without draughts. 
 

14. Drainage must be adequate to carry away liquid voided by the horses and keep the 
standings dry. 
 

15. There must be provision for storage and disposal of manure and spoiled straw. 
 

16. Adequate accommodation must be provided for forage bedding, stable equipment and 
saddlery. 
 

17. The licence holder must ensure that appropriate steps will be taken for the protection 
and extrication of horses in case of fire and in particular, that the name, address and 
telephone number of the licence holder or some other responsible person are kept 
displayed in a prominent position on the outside of the premises and that instructions 
as to action to be taken in the event of fire, with particular regard to the extrication of 
horses, are kept displayed in a prominent position on the outside of the premises. 
 

18. The carrying on of the business of the establishment must at no time be left in the 
charge of any person under 16 years of age. 
 

19. The licence holder must hold a current insurance policy which insures him against 
liability for any injury sustained by those who hire a horse from him for riding and those 
who use a horse in the course of receiving from him, in return for payment, instruction 
in riding and arising out of the hire or use of a horse as aforesaid and which also 
insures such persons in respect of any liability which may be incurred by them in 
respect of injury to any person caused by, or arising out of, the hire or use of a horse 
as aforesaid. 
 

20. A register must be kept by the licence holder of all horses in his possession aged three 
years and under and usually kept on the premises which shall be available for 
inspection by an authorised officer at all reasonable times. 

 

Page 44



33 

 

 

Appendix C 

 
MODEL LICENCE CONDITIONS FOR A PET SHOP LICENCE 

PET ANIMALS ACT 1951 
 

1. Licence Display 
 
1.1. This licence, or a copy of this licence, should be displayed to the public in a 

prominent position. 
 
NB: For security reasons, the licence should not display the licence holder’s home 
address. 
 

2. Accommodation 
 
2.1. Animals must at all times be kept in accommodation and environment suitable to 

their species with respect to situation, size temperature, lighting, ventilation and 
cleanliness and not exposed to draughts.  All accommodation must be kept in 
good repair. 

 
2.2. If animals are displayed outdoors, they must have protection appropriate to their 

species. 
 
2.3. Housing must be constructed of non-porous materials or be appropriately treated. 
 
2.4. In order to control the spread of disease and to prevent injury, animals must not 

be kept in housing in such a way that they can be disturbed by other animals or by 
the public. 

 
2.5. All livestock for sale must be readily accessible and easy to inspect, with cages 

sited so that the floor of the cage is readily visible. 
 
2.6. Accommodation must be cleaned as often as necessary to maintain good hygiene 

standards. 
 

2.7. Where accommodation is on a tiered system, water, food or other drippings must 
not be allowed to enter the lower housing. 

 
2.8. All accessories provided in the accommodation must be suitable for the species. 

NB: When designing accommodation, consideration should be given to using 
systems which would allow removal of the animals in case of emergency.  This 
provision would not usually apply to aquariums and ponds. 

3. Exercise Facilities 
 
3.1. Suitable and sufficient facilities must be available where appropriate. 

NB: For puppies, where required, a covered exercise area of at least 2.46 square 
metres (26sq ft) should be provided.  Exercise areas should have a minimum 
height of 1.8metres (6ft) to facilitate adequate access by staff for cleaning. 

Page 45



34 

 

 

4. Register of Animals 
 
4.1. A livestock purchase register must be maintained for all livestock.  A sales register 

must be maintained for: 
 
4.1.1. puppies: 
4.1.2. kittens: 
4.1.3. psittacines; 
4.1.4. species contained in the Schedule to the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 

1976 (as modified).  NB:  This can be by cross-reference to an invoice file.  
The purpose of the register is to ascertain the source of livestock and for 
emergency contact of purchaser.  The name, address and telephone 
number of the purchaser should be obtained. 

 
5. Stocking Numbers and Densities 

 
5.1. The maximum numbers of animals to be stocked on the premises will be governed 

by the accommodation available, as stated in the stocking density lists details in 
the schedules to these licence conditions.  No animal other than those specified in 
the licence may be stocked without prior written approval from the licensing 
authority.  These stocking densities are provided for guidance and 
recommendation only.  See schedules 1-4. 

 
6. Health, Disease and Acclimatisation 

 
6.1. All stock for sale must be in good health and free from obvious parasitic infestation 

as far as can be reasonably determined without veterinary inspection. 
 
6.2. Any sick or injured animal must receive appropriate care and treatment without 

delay.  Inexperienced staff must not treat sick animals unless under appropriately 
experienced supervision. 

 
NB: “Care and treatment” may include euthanasia but under no circumstances 
may an animal be euthanized other than in a humane and effective manner.  In 
doubt, veterinary advice must be sought. 
 

6.3. Facilities must be provided to isolate sick animals. 
NB: For ornamental fish, In-line UV treatment or other sterilising devices 
effectively provide a means of isolating individual tanks in multiple tanks systems.  
They must be of a proper size and maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s recommendations. 
 

6.4. All animals must receive appropriate inoculations where required for the species, as 
advised by the veterinary surgeon.  Veterinary advice must be sought whenever 
necessary. 

 
6.5. Any animal with an obvious, significant abnormality which would materially affect its 

quality of life, must not be offered for sale.  When in doubt, veterinary advice 
should be sought. 

 
6.6. All animals must be allowed a suitable acclimatisation period before sale. 

 

Page 46



35 

 

6.7. All reasonable precautions must be taken to prevent the outbreak and spread of 
disease.  No animal which is suffering from, or could reasonably suspected of 
having come into contact with any other animal suffering from, any infectious or 
contagious disease, or which is infested with parasites, shall be brought into or 
kept on the premises, unless effectively isolated. 

 
6.8. Individual litters of puppies and kittens must be kept separate from other litters. 
 
6.9. All necessary precautions must be taken to prevent harbourage, or the 

introduction to the premises of rodents, insects and other pests. 
 

7. Food and Drink 
 
7.1. Animals must be supplied with adequate amounts of food and drink, appropriate to 

their needs and at suitable intervals. 
 
7.2. All food must be suitable for the species concerned. 
 
7.3. Food and drink receptacles must be constructed and positioned to minimise faecal 

contamination and spillage. 
 
7.4. A suitable and sufficient number of receptacles must be provided and cleaned at 

regular intervals. 
 

8. Food Storage 
 
8.1. All food, excluding live foods intended for feeding to livestock on the premises, 

must be stored in impervious closed containers. 
 
8.2. The containers and equipment used for feeding must be kept in a clean and sound 

condition. 
 

9. Observation 
 
9.1. All livestock must be attended to at regular intervals, at least once daily, 

appropriate to the species.  It is recommended that a system of recording 
observation is maintained. 

 
10. Excreta & Soiled Bedding 

 
10.1. All excreta and soiled bedding must be kept in a hygienic manner and stored in 

impervious containers with close-fitting lids – away from direct sunlight. 
 
10.2. Excreta and soiled bedding must be removed from the premises on a regular 

basis, at least weekly disposed of to the satisfaction of the appropriate local 
authority and in accordance with current regulations and good waste management 
practice. 

 
10.3. All containers must be kept in a clean condition. 

 
11. Transportation 

 
11.1. When receiving stock, the licensee must make every effort to ensure that it is 

transported in a suitable manner.  It is advisable (recommended) to record the 
registration number of vehicles transporting livestock. 

Page 47



36 

 

 
11.2. Any livestock received or consigned shall be transported according to the 

regulations laid down in current legislation, such as the Welfare of Animals 
(Transport) Order 1997.   
 
NB: For air transportation, the IATA live animals regulations must be followed, as 
a minimum legal standard. 
 

12. Transportation Containers 
 
12.1. Livestock must be transported or handed to purchasers in suitable containers. 

 
13. Sale of Livestock 

 
13.1. No mammal shall be sold un-weaned or, if weaned, at an age at which it should 

not have been weaned.   
 

13.2. In the case of non-mammals, they must be capable of feeding themselves. 
 

14. Dangerous Wild Animals 
 
14.1. When dangerous wild animals are kept, the cages must be of a secure 

construction, appropriate to the species.  A fine wire mesh, glass or plastic safety 
barrier must be incorporated into the cage system. 
 

14.2. The local authority should be notified in the event that the pet shop wishes to offer 
for sale, for the first time, any animal on the Schedule to the Dangerous Wild 
Animals Act.  Although it is acknowledged that there is an exemption contained 
with the Act in relation to pet shops, it is recommended that consideration should 
be given to complying with any special requirement(s) specified in the Act for the 
sale accommodation r care of the animal 

 
14.3. Licensees selling animals on the Schedule to the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 

should inspect the purchaser’s licence to keep such an animal and inform the 
issuing authority of the details of the purchase. 

 
15. Pet Care Advice 

 
15.1. Pet care leaflets or other similar written instructions must be made available to 

customers free of charge at the time of purchase, in addition to any offer to 
purchase pet care books for leaflets. 
 

15.2. Purchasers must be given proper advice on the care of the animal and, where 
necessary, on the maintenance and use of any accessories. 

 
15.3. Appropriate reference materials must always be available for use by staff. 

NB: further advice can be obtained from the organisations listed in Annex 1 at the 
back of this document.      
 

16. Staff Training & Livestock Knowledge 
 
16.1. No animal should be stocked or sold unless the staff (or at least one member of 

the staff) is familiar with the care and welfare of the animals stocked and has a 
recognised qualification or suitable experience. 
 

Page 48



37 

 

16.2. In respect of new applications (not renewals) at least one member of staff working 
at the licensed premises must hold the City and Guilds Pet Store Management 
Certificate, or some other appropriate qualification, or must be in the course of 
training and obtain the qualification with two years of the licence being granted. 

 
16.3. The Licensee must formulate a written training policy for all permanent staff and 

will be required to demonstrate that systematic training is carried out. 
 
NB: Further advice and guidance on training can be obtained from the 
organisations listed in Annex 1. 
 

17. Fire & Other Emergency Precautions 
 
17.1. Suitable emergency precautions and written procedures must exist and be made 

know to all staff including arrangements for evacuation of livestock.  
NB: The general maxim of “people first” is good advice. 
 

17.2. Entrances and exits must be clear of obstructions at all times. 
 

17.3. Suitable fire fighting equipment must be provided, maintained, regularly serviced 
and sited as advised by the local Fire Protection/Prevention Officer and in 
consultation with the local authority. 

 
17.4. The Licensee, or a designated key holder, must at all times be within reasonable 

distance of the premises and available to visit the premises in case of emergency. 
 
NB: A reasonable distance would, in normal conditions, be interpreted as no more 
than 20 minutes travelling time. 

 
17.5. A list of key holders must be lodged with the local police and with the local 

authority. 
 

17.6. In the interests of animal welfare, the following notice must be displayed at the 
front of the shop.  “In case of an emergency, dial 999”.  The number of the local 
police station should also be displayed. 

 
17.7. When pet shops are sited within other premises, the licensee or key holder, must 

have access at all times to the premises containing the livestock. 
 

17.8. All electrical installations and appliances must be maintained in a safe condition.  
 
NB: It is strongly recommended that smoke and residual current detectors or other 
similar devices are installed. 

Page 49



38 

 

 

Further information  

1. Sale of livestock 
 

1.1. No animal should be sold to any person under the age of 16 years who is 
unknown to the retailer unless that person is accompanied by a parent or legal 
guardian or provides appropriate written consent. Subsequent sales to a juvenile 
less than 16 years (but over 12 years) of age who is known to the retailer can be 
carried out in the absence of a parent or a legal guardian or appropriate written 
consent, provided that the retailer is satisfied as far as possible that:  
 
1.1.1. The parent/guardian would not object to the acquisition; 
1.1.2. The juvenile is sufficiently knowledgeable as to the needs, care and 

nature of the species required; 
1.1.3. The juvenile’s intention towards the acquisition is consistent with the well-

being of the animal concerned. 
 

2. Application for a license 
 
2.1. Although not provided for in the Act, it is recommended that applicants consult 

their local authority prior to submitting an application.  
 

3. Trade associations 
 

3.1. Licensees are recommended to apply for membership of an appropriate trade 
organisation. These can be a useful source of advice on all matters relating to 
the running of a pet shop and the care and treatment of individual animals. 
 

4. Boarding of animals 
 
4.1. No pet shop should be used for the purpose of boarding any species of animal 

for which they are not licensed to sell. If it is intended to board cats and dogs, 
suitable and sufficient accommodation must be provided.  

N.B. Boarding of cats and dogs is subject to separate licence issued under the 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act. 

5. Categories of animals which a pet shop may be licenced to keep  
 
a) Dogs and cats (puppies and kittens)  
b) Smaller domesticated mammals e.g. rabbits, guinea pigs, gerbils, hamsters, rats, 

mice, chinchillas, chipmunks, ferrets. 
c) Larger domesticated mammals e.g. goats, pot-bellied pigs.  
d) Primates e.g. marmosets.  
e) Other mammals 
f) Parrots, parakeets and macaws 
g) Other Birds  
h) Reptiles 
i) Amphibians 
j) Fish and Aquatic invertebrates 
k) Other vertebrates 

Page 50



39 

 

 

SCHEDULE 1: STOCKING DENSITIES – CAGE BIRDS 

1. No species of bird shall be housed in accommodation which does not afford that 
species sufficient space for natural free and full wing stretching and the number of 
birds housed shall be such that overcrowding does no significantly reduce that 
freedom.  Long tailed birds or birds in full plumage must be provided with properly 
placed perches and feeding and watering points to prevent that plumage being fouled 
or otherwise damaged. 

Note: This refers to the provisions of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, which 
should not be contravened, particularly section 8 of the Act. 

2. For perching birds, a sufficient number of perches (as appropriate) must be provided at 
such a height that the bird can rest its head without its head touching the top and its 
tail the bottom of the cage. 
 

3. A quality padded net should be used when catching birds in an aviary. 
 

4. Minimum floor areas apply to young stock.  For adult stock offered for sale, the 
dimensions should be doubled.  For advice on the age of stock, it is advisable to 
contact the veterinary surgeon. 

SCHEDULE 2: STOCKING DENSITIES – JUVENILE SMALL MAMMALS 

 

 

 No of 
animals  

1-4 5 6 7 8 9 10 Minimum 
Cage 
(hxd)  

Mice, 
hamsters, 
gerbils 

Sq.cm 450 525 600 675 750 825 900 25x25 

Rats  Sq.cm 675 785 900 1010 1125 1235 1350 30 

Guinea 
Pigs  

Sq.cm 1350 1570 1800 2020 2250 2470 2700 30 

Rabbits up 
2kg, 
kittens, 
ferrets, 
chinchillas, 
Chipmunks 

Sq.cm 2250 2625 3000 3375 3750 4125 4500 40 

Puppies up 
to age of 
12 weeks 

Sq.cm 10000 12500 15000 17500 20000 22500 Double 
height at 
shoulder 
minimum 
50 

0.9m 

 

1. The range of behavioural opportunities for many of the animals listed above    will be 
increased by enriching the environment with accessories. 
 

Page 51



40 

 

2. Raised shelving should be taken into consideration when assessing the total floor 
area. 
 

3. Temporary (up to six days) rehousing of adult rabbits in smaller cages than specified 
above should be considered as acceptable. 
 

4. The above recommended stocking densities are insufficient for the housing of 
marmosets.  Marmosets must be housed in cages sufficiently large enough to allow for 
natural movement, such as climbing and swinging. 

 

SCHEDULE 3: STOCKING DENSITIES – ORNAMENTAL FISH 

1. It is virtually impossible to determine the quantity of fish to be kept in a tank purely on a 
weight/volume ration. 
 

2. The variation in system design, husbandry techniques and types of fish involved would 
render any such method too simple to be useful or too complicated to be practical. 
 

3. The maintenance of water quality standards is essential and is a simple but effective 
way to determine stocking densities.  Water quality testing should be carried out at 
least once a week in centralised systems and 10% of individual tanks should likewise 
be tested.  Unsatisfactory test results must be recorded in a register, together with the 
corrective action taken.  Further tests must be carried out when visual inspection of the 
tanks indicates the need. 

Water Quality Criteria (1mg/litre – 1ppm) 

Cold Water 
 
* Dissolved oxygen 
* Free ammonia 
Nitrite 
Nitrate  

 
 
-min 
-max 
-max 
-max  

 
 
6mg/litre 
0.02mg/litre 
0.2mg/litre 
50mg/litre above ambient tap 
water 

Tropical Fish 
 
* Dissolved oxygen 
* Free ammonia 
Nitrite 
Nitrate  

 
 
-min 
-max 
-max 
-max  

 
6mg/litre 
0.02mg/litre 
0.2mg/litre 
50mg/litre above ambient tap 
water 

 
Tropical Marine Species 
 
* Dissolved oxygen 
*Free ammonia 
Nitrite 
Nitrate 
*pH (tropical marine only) 

 
 
-min 
-max 
-max 
-max 
-min  

 
5.5mg/litre 
0.01mg/litre 
0.125mg/litre 
40mg/litre.  This is an 
absolute figure: it does not 
relate to ambient tap water. 
8.1 

* These parameters should be checked first.  Only if a problem exists with these tests is it 
necessary to check nitrite and nitrate levels. 

4. Further advice and guidance on water quality criteria can be obtained from the 
Ornamental Aquatic Trade Association Ltd from the address at annex 1. 

Page 52



41 

 

SCHEDULE 4: STOCKING DENSITIES – OTHER SPECIES 

1. Other species should be housed in accommodation appropriate to size, age and type 
of species and to avoid overcrowding.  This should be sufficient space for free and 
natural movement which should not be restricted by either the size of the 
accommodation or the number of animals in that holding.  Correct temperature for the 
species must be maintained. 
 

2. The advice and approval of the licensing authority should be sought wherever there is 
doubt about a species being sold. 

Page 53



42 

 

 

ANNEX 1 – FURTHER ADVICE 

Further advice and guidance on water quality criteria can be obtained from the Ornamental 
Aquatic Trade Association Ltd from the address at annex 1. 

Further advice may be obtained from the following organisations: 
 
The Local Government Association 
26 Chapter Street 
LONDON 
SW1P 4ND 
Tel:  020 7834 2222 
Fax: 020 7664 3030 
Website: http://www.lga.gov.uk 
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 
Chadwick House 
15 Hatfields 
LONDON  
SE1 8DJ 
Tel:  020 7928 6006 
Fax: 020 7827 5865 
 
British Veterinary Association 
7 Mansfield Street 
LONDON 
WIM 0AT 
Tel:  020 7636 6541 
Fax: 020 7436 2970 Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals 
Causeway 
HORSHAM 
West Sussex  RH12 1HG 
Tel:  01403 264181 
Fax: 01403 241048 
 
The Pet Care Trust 
Bedford Business Centre 
170 Mile Road 
BEDFORD 
MK42 9TW 
Tel: 01234 273933 
Fax:01234 273550  
Universities’ Federation of Animal Welfare 
The Old School 
Brewhouse Hill 
WHEATHAMPSTEAD 
Hertfordshire  AL4 8AN 
Tel:  01582 831818 
Fax: 01582 831414 
 
Ornamental Aquatic Trade Association Ltd 
Unit 5 
Narrow Wine Street 
TROWBRIDGE 

Page 54



43 

 

Wiltshire 
BA14 8YY 
Tel:  01225 777177 
Fax: 01225 775523 
Website: http://www.ornamentalfish.org 
 
Environment Agency 
Millbank Tower 
25th Floor 
121-24 Millbank 
LONDON 
SW1P 4XL 
Tel:  020 7863 8600 
Fax: 020 7863 8650 
 
British Small Animal Veterinary Assoc. 
Kingsley House 
Church Lane 
Shurdington 
CHELTENHAM 
Gloucestershire 
GL51 5TQ 
Tel:  01242 862994 
Fax: 01242 863009 Health & Safety Executive (Information Line) 
Tel: 0541 545500 
 
Licensees should also refer any queries to their local authority environmental health/trading 
standards departments. 

 

Page 55



44 

 

 

Appendix D 

Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 

Licence to Keep Dangerous Wild Animals 

 

Conditions subject to which the above licence is granted 

1. While any animal is being kept under the authority of a Licence:- 
 
i) The animal shall be kept by no person other than the person or persons specified. 
ii) The animal shall normally be held at such premises as are specified. 
iii) The animal shall not be moved from those premises nor any animal moved into 

the premises except in the following circumstances, namely 48 hr notification is 
given to the licensing authority. 

iv) The person to whom the Licence is granted shall hold a current insurance policy 
which insures him and any other person entitled to keep the animal under the 
authority of the Licence against liability for any damage which may be caused by 
the animal, the terms of such policy being satisfactory in the opinion of the 
authority with Public Liability cover for not less than £1,000,000. 
 

2. The species and number of animals of each species which may be kept under the 
authority of the Licence shall be restricted to those specified in the Schedule above. 
 

3. The person to whom the Licence is granted shall at all reasonable times make 
available a copy of the Licence to any person entitled to keep any animal under the 
authority of the Licence. 
 

4. Provide schedule of vehicles used to move animals. 
 

5. At least 48 hour notification of movement of any animal be given to the Strategic 
Director.  This need not be in writing but must include;  a) the destination; b) the local 
authority of the destination; c) the duration of stay; d) the transportation method and 
vehicles; and e) species and numbers of animals involved. 
 

6. The person to whom the licence is granted shall ensure that all reasonable precautions 
are taken; a) to protect the safety of public; and b) to ensure that no nuisance is 
caused to the public. 
 

7. Any animal which is being kept under the authority of the Licence shall be a) held in 
accommodation which secures that the animal will not escape, which is suitable as 
regards construction, size, temperature, lighting, ventilation, drainage, cleanliness and 
which is suitable for the number of animals proposed to be held in the accommodation 
and b) supplied with adequate and suitable food, drink and bedding material and be 
visited at suitable intervals by a competent person. 
 

8. Appropriate steps will be taken for the protection of animals in case of fire or other 
emergency. 
 

9. All reasonable precautions will be taken to prevent and control the spread of infectious 
diseases. 

Page 56



45 

 

 
10. While at the premises where the animals will normally be held, the accommodation 

shall be such that they can take adequate exercise. 
 

11. Whilst in transit, and other times when necessary, the animal(s) shall be in the charge 
of a suitably experienced person, capable of controlling them.  That person shall not 
be less than 18 years of age. 
 

12. The licence holder and his agent(s) shall comply with any reasonable instructions in 
respect of an animal, given by an authorised officer of this Council or the Council in 
whose area that animal is, and shall provide a copy of this Licence for the information 
of the said authorised officer. 

Page 57



46 

 

 

Appendix E  

DOG BREEDING ACT 1973 

MODEL CONDITIONS 

1. Dogs must at all times be kept in accommodation suitable as respects construction, 
size of quarters, number of occupants, exercising facilities, temperature, lighting, 
ventilation and cleanliness (in accordance with additional information provided in this 
document). 
 

2. Dogs must be adequately supplied with suitable food, drink and bedding material, 
adequately exercised and visited at suitable intervals. 
 

3. All reasonable precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread among 
dogs of infectious and contagious diseases. 
 

4. Appropriate steps must be taken for the protection of dogs in case if fire or other 
emergency. 
 

5. All appropriate steps must be taken to ensure that the dogs will be provided with 
suitable food, drink and bedding material and adequately exercised when being 
transported to or from the breeding establishment. 
 

6. No bitch under the age of one year shall be mated for the purpose of breeding. 
 

7. No bitch may give birth to a total of more than six litters of puppies. 
 

8. No bitch may give birth to more than one litter in any period of twelve months. 
 

9. The licence holder(s) shall keep accurate records in a form prescribed by the Breeding 
of Dogs (Licensing Records) Regulations 1999.  
 

10. The keeper of a licensed breeding establishment may only sell a dog from: 
i) *His/her breeding establishment; or 
ii) A licensed pet shop. 
iii) A licensed Scottish rearing establishment 

 
11. No dog that is less than eight weeks old may be sold other than to a licensed pet shop. 

 
12. Dogs sold to such business at 11 above by a licensed breeder must have been bred at 

the licensed breeding establishment and must wear an identification tag or badge. The 
tag or badge shall display the following information: 

 
i) The address of the licensed breeding establishment where the dog was born; 
ii) The date of birth of the dog; 
iii) The identifying number, if any, allocated to the dog by the licensed breeders 

establishment at which it was born. 

*Note: It is an offence to sell a dog directly to anyone, other than to a keeper of a 
licensed pet shop knowing or believing the dog will be sold to another person. 

Page 58



47 

 

 

Advice to all breeders 

1. Provide suitable bedding material for the breed and ensure adequate exercise is given. 
Where cages are provided, these must be of sufficient size for a dog to lie down, stand 
up, turn around comfortably and to defecate away from the sleeping area. 
 

2. Temperature of the sleeping accommodation should be a minimum of 10°C (50°F) and 
a maximum of 26°C (79°F). Open flame heating appliances should not be used. 
 

3. Natural and artificial lighting should be provided. Low level night light is recommended. 
 

4. An adequate supply of suitable food and clean water should be available at all times. 
There should be adequate refrigeration to keep food fresh, particularly for fresh and 
cooked meats. 
 

5. Eating and drinking vessels must be capable of being easily cleansed. 
 

6. Whelping should not take place in a domestic kitchen. If there are children in the 
house, there should be separate facilities for food preparation. 
 

7. Reasonable precautions should be taken to prevent and control the spread amongst 
the dogs of any infectious diseases. All dogs should be vaccinated against Canine 
Distemper, Infectious Canine Hepatitis, Leptospirosis and Canine Parvovirus. 
 

8. A first-aid kit suitable for use on dogs and puppies should be available and accessible. 
Your vet will advise on contents appropriate for your breed of dog. 
 

9. A fit and proper person should always be present to exercise supervision and deal with 
emergencies. Dogs must be regularly checked throughout the day. 

Guidance on licence conditions for non-domestic breeders (ie breeders who keep 
dogs in kennelling which is not within the house) 

1. Walls, floors and ceilings should be capable of being easily cleaned and disinfected. 
Great care must be taken when using and storing bleach; always follow the 

manufacturer’s� instructions. Phenolic disinfectants should not be used around dogs. 
 

2. Wood must be smooth and treated to render it impervious; it should not be used on 
exposed surfaces of walls, floors, partitions, door frames or doors in the dog kennelling 
area. All exterior wood should be treated against wood rot using a non-toxic coating. 
 

3. Walls with which dogs may come into contact must be of smooth impervious materials. 
Where concrete or other building blocks or bricks are used they should be sealed so 
as to be smooth and impervious. 
 

4. Floors in kennels exercise areas should be smooth and impervious and be constructed 
and maintained so as to prevent pooling of liquids. A minimum fall of 1 in 80 is 
recommended. 
 

5. Kennels should be provided with an adequate size of sleeping area for the breed. 
Dogs should be able to lie down, turn around and stand comfortably in the sleeping 
area, with sufficient space for the door to open fully. Adequate exercise areas should 

Page 59



48 

 

be provided and partition walls between kennels and individual exercise areas should 
be of solid construction to a minimum height of 1.2 metres (4 feet). 
 

6. Windows and doors should be strong and secure. 
 

7. Sleeping areas in kennels must be insulated to prevent extremes of temperature. 
Bedding should have sufficient depth to allow the dog protection against draughts and 
must be capable of being easily cleaned. 
 

8. The establishment should be connected to mains drainage or a sewerage system of 
an approved type. 
 

9. During daylight hours light must be provided to exercise and sleeping areas so that all 
parts are clearly visible. Where practicable this should be natural light. Adequate 
supplementary lighting must be provided throughout the establishment. 
 

10. Ventilation must be provided to all interior areas without the creation of excessive, 
localised draughts in the sleeping area. 
 

11. Isolation facilities should be available when required. The isolation facility must be 
physically isolated from other dogs. 
 

12. All kennels and exercise areas must be kept clean and free from accumulation of dirt. 
Each kennel must be cleaned daily and regularly disinfected. Sleeping areas and 
bedding must be kept clean and dry. Measures must be taken to minimise the risk 
from rodents, insects and other pests. 

Kitchen facilities 

1. Storage and preparation facilities for food should be hygienically constructed and 
maintained to a high standard. Please be mindful of the risks posed by the dog 
roundworm parasite toxocara canis, particularly if children are likely to come into 
contact with the dogs or their feeding equipment. 
 

2. Fresh and cooked meats should always be stored in a refrigerator. Other food should 
be stored in vermin and insect proof containers. 
 

3. A sink with hot and cold running water is essential. It is recommended that a separate 
hand basin with hot and cold running water is also provided. 

Transportation 

1. Suitable food, clean drinking water and bedding should be provided. 
 

2. Dogs should be adequately exercised whilst being transported to and from the 
breeding establishment. 
 

3. It is recommended that records are kept of how and when you dogs are transported. 
Emergencies/fire prevention 
 
1. All appropriate steps should be taken for the protection of the dogs in case of fire or 

other emergency.  You should have in place an emergency evacuation plan which 
should be practised at least annually. The fitting of smoke detectors is recommended. 
 

2. Open flame heat appliances should not be used. 
 

Page 60



49 

 

3. All electrical installations and appliances should be maintained in a safe condition. 
 

 
You are recommended to purchase the following book which offers more detailed guidance if 
needed: 
 
“Breeding of Dogs Acts 1973 and 1971 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 
Guidance and Model Conditions for Local Authorities and their Authorised Officers and 
Veterinary Inspectors for the Licensing of Breeding Establishments” Published by BVA 
Publications, 7 Mansfield Street, London W1M 0AT. Telephone: 020 7636 6541 

 

Page 61



50 

 

 

Appendix F  

Zoos Licensing Act 1981 

Model Conditions 

1. Promote public education and awareness about biodiversity conservation. In particular, 
provide information about the species of wild animals kept in the zoo and their natural 
habitats. 

2. Accommodate and keep the animals in a manner consistent with the standards set out 
in the Secretary of State‘s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice. 

3. Prevent escapes and put in place measures to be taken in the event of any escape or 
unauthorised release of animals. 

4. Introduce practical measures designed to prevent the intrusion of pests and vermin 
into the premises of the zoo. 

5. Keep up-to-date records of the animals, including numbers of different animals, 
acquisitions, births, deaths, disposals and escapes, causes of deaths and the health of 
the animals. 

6. Participate in at least one of the following 

- Research which benefits the conservation of wild animals 

- Training in relevant conservation skills 

- Exchanging information about the conservation of wild animals 

- Breeding of wild animals in captivity 

- Repopulating an area with wild animals, or re-introducing wild animals 

7. Information must be kept to show how it has complied with this condition and supply it 
to the local authority upon request. 

Insurance 

8. Within one month of the date of the licence and one month of the date of renewal of 
the policy, where applicable, a copy of the zoo‘s current public liability insurance 
policy, and of subsequent renewals thereof, to be sent to the licensing authority. 

Hazardous animals 

9. The licensing authority to be notified in writing, at least one month in advance, of the 
proposed addition of any animal listed in category 1 of the Hazardous Animal 
Categorisation (see Appendix 12 of the Secretary of State‘s Standards of Modern Zoo 
Practice), which is from a taxonomic family of which Category 1 species have not 
previously been kept in the zoo. 

Temporary removal of animals from the zoo 

10. The licensee/s to notify the licensing authority before the temporary removal from the 
zoo (other than for veterinary attention or inter-zoo movements) of any animal listed in 
category 1 of the Hazardous Animal Categorisation of the Secretary of State‘s 
Standards of Modern Zoo Practice. Such notification is to be given as early as possible 
and, in any case, no later than 12 hours before the removal, unless the zoo operator 
and licensing authority mutually agree a shorter period. When giving notification, 
details of the destination and method of transportation of the animal and of the 

Page 62



51 

 

arrangements for its well-being, as well as for the safety of the public whilst it is away 
from the zoo, to be provided. 

Escapes 

11. In the event of any non-domestic animal escaping from the confines of the zoo, 
notification shall be made to the licensing authority as soon as possible, and, in any 
case, not later than 24 hours following the escape. 

Note 1. These conditions are attached to the licence without prejudice to the application, 
where relevant, of the Secretary of State‘s Standards of Modern Zoo Practice specified in 
accordance with powers conferred under section 9 of the Zoo Licensing Act 1981. 

Note 2. The grant of this licence does not imply that the requirements of any other legislation 
have been met. 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



Cherwell District Council 
 

Licensing Committee  
 

16 December 2013 
 

Licensing Act 2003  

 
Report of Head of Community Services 

 
 

This report is public 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 

The development and adoption of the Statement of Licensing Policy is a statutory 
requirement under the Licensing Act 2003. The function of approving the Statement 
and the subsequent reviews of it are the responsibility of the Licensing Committee 
in accordance with Cherwell District Councils Constitution and Scheme of 
Delegation. 
 
The current Statement was approved by Full Council for a period of three years on 
9 December 2010. The publication date of the Statement of Licensing Policy was 5 
January 2011. 
 
This report seeks final approval of the Statement of Licensing Policy. A number of 
amendments have been made to the current policy statement prior to the 
consultation exercise and in accordance with legislative changes over the past three 
year period. As with the development of the current policy statement we have 
liaised with the other district councils in Oxfordshire and have, where appropriate, 
incorporated amendments suggested as a result of the consultation process. 
 
There were no responses received during the consultation period. The full draft 
policy detailing all proposed amendments is attached as appendix 1. All 
amendments are highlighted by track changes.  
 

 
1.0 Recommendations 
              
The meeting is recommended to: 

 
1.1 Consider the proposed alterations on the draft statement of licensing policy 

and decide whether any draft policies should be altered, omitted or others 
included. 
 

1.2 Authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with the Chairman 
of the Licensing Committee, to make any minor alterations to the policy 
should the publication of regulations make expressed policies inconsistent 

Agenda Item 8

Page 65



with the regulations (NB – this would only apply up to the point of publication 
on Monday 6 January 2014, thereafter any alterations would be subject to full 
consultation in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003). 

 

 

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1 The consultation ran from 16 September 2013 through until 13 October 2013. 
To ensure that our consultation process was as comprehensive as possible, 
the following bodies were invited to comment:-  

 
All relevant statutory and representative bodies as prescribed by the Licensing Act 
2003: 
 

• the Chief Officer of Police for the Licensing Authority’s area; 

• the Fire Authority for that area; 

• such persons as the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of 
holders of Premises Licences issued by that Authority; 

• such persons as the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of 
holders of Club Premises Certificates issued by that Authority; 

• such persons as the Licensing Authority considers to be representative of 
holders of Personal Licences issued by that Authority; and 

• such other persons as the Licensing Authority consider being representative 
of businesses and residents in its area. 

 
 
2.2 As with the consultation of the current policy document other non-statutory 

bodies who have an interest in licensing functions, for example: 
 

• Responsible Authorities 

• Alcohol Concern and similar organisations 

• Community Associations 

• Children and Young People Organisations 

• Health and Safety Executive 

•  Oxfordshire Primary Care Trust and Medical Agencies 
 
2.3 The consultees were invited to comment by letter and through the Council’s 

online consultation portal as well as a press notice being placed in local 
newspapers. 

 
2.4 The consultation exercise did not bring any responses.  
 

 

3.0 Report Details 
 

3.1 A copy of the draft Statement of Licensing Policy for approval is included with 
this report and highlights proposed amendments. This is attached as 
appendix 1.  

 

Page 66



3.3.     In preparing the Statement of Licensing Policy Officers have had full regard 
to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State, as set out in the statutory 
guidance issued under Section 182 of the 2003 Act. 

 
 

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 
 
4.1 The Committee is requested to: 
 

• Consider the proposed alterations on the draft statement of licensing policy 
and decide whether any draft policies should be altered, omitted or others 
included  

 

• Authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with the Chairman 
of the Licensing Committee, to make any minor alterations to the policy 
should the publication of regulations make expressed policies inconsistent 
with the regulations (NB – this would only apply up to the point of publication 
on Monday 6 January 2014, thereafter any alterations would be subject to full 
consultation in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003); 

 
 

5.0 Consultation 
 
There were no responses received to the consultation. 
 
 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
5.1 The following alternative options have been identified as set out below.  
 
Option 1: Consider the proposed alterations on the draft statement of licensing 
policy and decide whether any draft policies should be altered, omitted or others 
included; and Authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to make any minor alterations to the policy 
should the publication of regulations make expressed policies inconsistent with the 
regulations (NB – this would only apply up to the point of publication on Monday 6 
January 2014, thereafter any alterations would be subject to full consultation in 
accordance with the Licensing Act 2003); 
 
Option 2: Consider the proposed alterations on the draft statement of licensing 
policy and decide whether any draft policies should be altered, omitted or others 
included 

 
 

7.0 Implications 
 
 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
7.1 There are no financial effects from adopting the Statement of Licensing 

Policy other than the cost of communicating it to the licence applicants. 

Page 67



There is existing budget provision to cover these costs including printing and 
postage. 

 
 Comments checked by: Yvonne White, Service Accountant, 01295 221737  

yvonne.white@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
 

Legal Implications 
 
7.2 The Council is required by the Licensing Act 2003 to have a Statement of 

Licensing Policy. Members should have regard to the responses received 
from all consultees in coming to their determination in this matter. 

 
Comments checked by: Paul Manning, Solicitor 01295 221691  
paul.manning@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  
  

7.3 Risk Assessment: 
 

Risk 1: Policy Statement being challenged at Judicial Review. 
 
Likelihood: Low 
Impact: Medium to High – Cost of court action and increase in workloads for 
officers in preparation for court appearances. 
Mitigating Actions: Policy developed in accordance with the Licensing Act 
2003, based on the format suggested by guidance and the Lacors template. 
In addition, thorough consultation is undertaken before final policy is 
adopted. 

 
Risk 2: Policy Statement not published by 06 January 2014. Could lead to 
Judicial Review. 
 
Likelihood: Low 
Impact: Medium to High – Cost of court action and increase in workloads for 
officers in preparation for court appearances. 
Mitigating Actions: Between the date of adoption and the date of 
publication, authorise the Head of Community Services in consultation with 
the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to make any minor alterations to 
the policy should the publication of regulations make expressed policies 
inconsistent with the regulations 
 
Comments checked by Claire Taylor, Corporate Strategy and Performance 
Manager 01295 221563   

 
  

Wards Affected 
 

All 
 
Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 

 
As detailed in the current Service Plan 

 
  

Page 68



Lead Councillor 
 

None 
 

 

Document Information 
 

Appendix No Title 

1 Draft Licensing Policy Statement 
Background Papers 

None 

Report Author Claire Bold, Licensing Team Leader 

Contact 
Information 

01295 753744 

claire.bold@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



i 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cherwell District Council 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 

 
 

Page 71



ii 

FOREWORD 
 
This policy statement has four main purposes, which are: 

• To confirm to elected Members of the Licensing Committee, the boundaries and powers 
of the Authority and the parameters within which to make decisions. 

• To inform licence applicants of the parameters within which the Authority will make 
licensing decisions and therefore how licensed premises are likely to be able to operate 
within the area. 

• To inform local residents and businesses of the parameters within which the Authority 
will make licensing decisions and therefore how their needs will be addressed. 

• To support a case in a court of law if the Authority has to show how it arrived at its 
licensing decisions. 

 
Using this Statement of Licensing Policy 

• The policies are shown in text boxes, which are separately numbered and titled. 

• The additional text gives examples, background and reasons for the policies. 

• Footnotes refer to the sections of the 2003 Act (or the paragraphs of the Secretary of 
State’s Guidance issued in October 2013) from which the policies were derived.  

• The Appendices give additional information. 
 
Cherwell District Council has different roles under the Licensing Act 2003, so: 

• “Authority” is used where it acts as the Licensing Authority under the 2003 Act.   

• “Council” is used where parts of the Council act in other capacities, for example: 
o to determine policy; 
o when the “Council” applies to the “Authority” for a licence for Council premises; 
o when Environmental Health or Planning Control officers act as a “Responsible 

Authority” in making a Representation about an application received. 
 
The “Authority” must balance the interests of applicants (as stated in their applications for licences) 
and any interests stated by others (in “Representations”).  When it grants a licence, the Authority 
must attach mandatory conditions if applicable.  The Authority cannot attach other conditions 
unless they are proportional to the applications and Representations received.   

 

If you have queries about licensing issues, please contact:  
 
The Licensing Team 
Community Safety 
Cherwell District Council 
Bodicote House 
Bodicote 
BANBURY 
Oxfordshire   OX15 4AA 
 
e-mail: licensing@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
 
Telephone number: 01295 753744 
 
Fax Number: 01295 221878 
 
Any queries regarding licensing policy issues should be forwarded in writing to the above address. 

Page 72



iii 

Contents 

STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY I 

LICENSING ACT 2003 I 

1 Introduction 1 

1.1 Objectives 1 

1.2 The Authority’s area and the licensable activities 1 

1.3 The Authority’s use of conditions and this Licensing Policy Statement 1 

2 General 1 

2.1 Precedence issues 1 

2.2 Adoption and publication of the Statement of Licensing Policy 1 

2.3 Scope of the Statement of Licensing Policy: Licensable activities 2 

2.4 Scope of the policy: Applications and notices 3 

2.5 Fundamental principles 3 

2.6 Reviewing the Statement of Licensing Policy with other Authorities 4 

2.7 Integrating strategies 5 

2.8 Planning and building control 5 

2.9 Administration, exercise and delegation of functions 6 

2.10 Non-licensing issues: What this statement is not for 8 

3 Cumulative impact 8 

3.1 Cumulative impact 8 

3.2 Special Saturation Policy 9 

4 Pool of conditions 10 

4.1 Pool of conditions 10 

4.2 Live music, dancing and theatre 11 

4.3 Live Music Bill 2012 11 

5 Licensing hours 12 

5.1 Zoning 12 

5.2 Staggered closing times 12 

5.3 Licensing hours not limited 12 

5.4 Display of operating hours 13 

5.5 Dispersal procedures 13 

5.6 Latest admission times 14 

5.7 Hours for “off-sales” of alcohol 14 

6 Children 15 

6.1 Access to premises 15 

6.2 Prevention of alcohol-consumption by minors 16 

6.3 Entertainment for and by children 17 

6.4 Film exhibitions 17 

7 Licence Applications 18 

7.1 General 18 

7.2 Personal Licences 19 

7.3 Premises Licences 19 

7.4 Club Premises Certificates 23 

7.5 Particular premises and activities 24 

7.6 Designated Premises Supervisors 31 

7.7 Temporary Event Notices and Small Events (Standard and Late) 32 

7.8 Provisional Statements; New or Substantially Altered Premises 33 

7.9 Minor variation 33 

8 Operating schedules 34 

8.1 General 34 

8.2 Safety 34 

Page 73



iv 

8.3 CCTV 36 

8.4 Drug control 36 

8.5 Door supervisors 37 

8.6 Pub-watch & Nightsafe schemes 38 

8.7 Drinks promotions 38 

8.8 Public Nuisance 38 

9 Other legislation and controls 39 

9.1 Other legislation 39 

9.2 Other Controls 41 

10 Reviews and Enforcement Issues for Premises 41 

10.1 Reviews 41 

10.2 Enforcement 42 

APPENDICES 45 

Appendix 1 – The Authority’s Area and Licensable Activities 46 

Appendix 2 - Other Council policies and strategies 47 

Appendix 3 – Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-committee procedures – 

Members Interests and Delegation of functions under the Licensing 

Act 2003 50 

Appendix 4 – BBFC Film Classification 52 

Appendix 5 -  Mandatory conditions 53 

Appendix 6 -  Personal Licence: Relevant Offences 54 

Appendix 7 – Schedule 1 – Regulated Entertainment 56 

Appendix 8 - Schedule 2 – Late night refreshment 60 

Appendix 9 – Proof of Age documents 62 

Appendix 10 - Summary of the Licensing Act 2003 63 

 

Page 74



v 

Policies: 
 
Policy GN 1: Objectives 1 
Policy GN 2: Precedence 1 
Policy GN 3: Three-yearly licensing policy review 2 
Policy GN 4: Interim licensing policy reviews 2 
Policy GN 5: Consultation on licensing policy 2 
Policy GN 6: Publication of policy revisions 2 
Policy GN 7: Integrating strategies 5 
Policy GN 8: Planning consent required before licence application 6 
Policy GN 9: Levels of decision-making 6 
Policy GN 10: Delegation 6 
Policy GN 11: Licensing Sub-Committee – delegated functions 7 
Policy GN 12: Officers – delegated functions 7 
Policy GN 13: Licensing Committee – procedure 7 
Policy GN 14: Licensing Sub-Committee – procedure 7 
Policy GN 15: Determination of applications – conditions 7 
Policy GN 16: “Need” for licensed premises 9 
Policy GN 17: Need for an evidential base 9 
Policy GN 18: Use of other mechanisms to address cumulative impact 9 
Policy GN 19: Special Saturation Policy – adoption 10 
Policy GN 20: Pool of conditions 11 
Policy GN 21: Pool of conditions: premises-specific 11 
Policy GN 22: Pool of conditions: additions 11 
Policy GN 23: Live music, dancing and theatre 12 
Policy LH 1: Zoning 12 
Policy LH 2: Staggered closing times 12 
Policy LH 3: Licensing hours not limited 13 
Policy LH 4: Display of operating hours 13 
Policy LH 5: Closing times 13 
Policy LH 6: Dispersal procedures 14 
Policy LH 7: Latest admission times 14 
Policy LH 8: Hours for “Off-Sales” of Alcohol 14 
Policy CH 1: Access by children to Licensed Premises not a requirement 15 
Policy CH 2: Restrictions on access by children to Licensed Premises (1) 15 
Policy CH 3: Restrictions on access by children to Licensed Premises (2) 15 
Policy CH 4: Restrictions on access by children to Licensed Premises (3) 16 
Policy CH 5: Prevention of under-age consumption of alcohol 17 
Policy CH 6: Regulated entertainment for children 17 
Policy CH 7: Regulated entertainment with child performers 17 
Policy CH 8: Persons supervising children - CRB checks 17 
Policy CH 9: Regulated entertainment for children – ticket only policy 17 
Policy CH 10: Film Classification (1) 17 
Policy CH 11: Film Classification (2) 18 
Policy CH 12: Exhibition of film – display of notices 18 
Policy LA 1: Licence applications – acceptance 19 
Policy LA 2: Personal Licence – applications 19 
Policy LA 3: Premises Licence – Regulated Entertainment (General) 20 
Policy LA 4: Premises Licence – Noise control to suit late night trading 21 
Policy LA 5: Premises Licence – Addressing local concerns 21 
Policy LA 6: Management and Control 21 
Policy LA 7: Premises Licence – Safer Clubbing Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Policy LA 8: Premises Licence – Special Effects 22 
Policy LA 9: Premises Licence – Hypnotism 22 
Policy LA 10: Premises Licence – Sanitary Accommodation 22 
Policy LA 11: Club Premises Certificates – Club qualifying conditions 23 
Policy LA 12: Club Premises Certificates – Scope of the operating schedule 23 

Page 75



vi 

Policy LA 13: Club Premises Certificates – Film or Theatrical Performances 24 
Policy LA 14: Club Premises Certificates – Sex Equality 24 
Policy PP 1: Premises Licence – Pubs, Pub/Restaurants, Restaurants, Hotels, Guest 

Houses 24 
Policy PP 2: High Volume Vertical Drinking Establishments (HVVDs) 25 
Policy PP 3: Designated Sports Grounds, Designated Sports Events and Outdoor 

Sports Stadiums 25 
Policy PP 4: Garages and Service Areas 26 
Policy PP 5: Vessels – Safety 26 
Policy PP 6: Vessels – Noise 26 
Policy PP 7: Vehicles and Moveable Structures 27 
Policy PP 8: Late Night Refreshment Vehicles – outside consent streets 27 
Policy PP 9: Late Night Refreshment 27 
Policy PP 10: Take-away food outlets – alcohol sales 28 
Policy PP 11: Supply of alcohol (“Off-sales”) 28 
Policy PP 12: Safe drinking-vessels 29 
Policy PP 13: Other potential weapons 29 
Policy PP 14: Large Scale and/or Outdoor events 29 
Policy PP 15: Sex-related entertainment 30 
Policy PP 16: Public spaces and Council-controlled premises 31 
Policy DPS 1: Designated Premises Supervisors – availability 32 
Policy TEN 1: Temporary Event Notices 33 
Policy PR1 :   Changes to provisional statements 34 
Policy OS 1: Operating schedule – Safety 34 
Policy OS 2: Operating schedule – Premises Management and maintenance 35 
Policy OS 3: Operating schedule – Log book 35 
Policy OS 4: Operating schedule – Structural safety 35 
Policy OS 5: Operating schedule – Occupancy limits 35 
Policy OS 6: Operating schedule – Risk assessments Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Policy OS 7: Operating schedule – Premises Access and Egress by Persons with 

Disabilities 35 
Policy OS 8: Operating schedule – Fire precautions 35 
Policy OS 9: Operating schedule – First aid requirements 35 
Policy OS 10: Operating schedule – Free drinking water 36 
Policy OS 11: Operating schedule – Smoke Free Premises 36 
Policy OS 12: Operating schedule – CCTV 36 
Policy OS 13: Operating schedule – Drugs 36 
Policy OS 14: Operating schedule – Door Supervisors 37 
Policy OS 15: Operating schedule – 'Pub-watch & Nightsafe' Schemes 38 
Policy OS 16: Operating schedule – Discounting and sales promotions 38 
Policy OS 17: Operating schedule – Public Nuisance Noise 39 
Policy OS 18: Operating schedule – Public Nuisance Fly Posting and Littering 39 
Policy RE 1: Reviews (1) 41 
Policy RE 2: Reviews (2) 41 
Policy RE 3: Reviews (3) 42 
Policy RE 4: Reviews (4) 42 
Policy EN 1: Enforcement 42 
 

 

Page 76



vii 

Glossary 
 

Term Description Reference for full details 

Authority Cherwell District Council in its capacity 
as a Licensing Authority. 

 

Council Cherwell District Council in its capacity 
as a District Council. 

 

Planning Authority The Council in its capacity as a 
Planning Authority. 

 

Police Authority Thames Valley Police  

Fire Authority The Fire and Rescue Service of 
Oxfordshire County Council  

 

Navigation Authority  

For rivers –  

For canals – 

 

The Environment Agency 

The British Waterways Board 

Section 13(4)(h) 

Interested Party 

 

(Interested Parties may make 
Representations about 
applications and may request 
reviews) 

Any of the following: 
 

(a) resident, business or association if 
their representation is relevant to 
the licensing objectives. 

 
(b) an elected Member of Cherwell 

District Council 

(c) parish or town council 

Section 13(3) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduced by S33 Policing 
and Crime Act 2009 

Responsible Authority 

 

(Responsible Authorities may 
make Representations about 
applications and may request 
reviews) 

Any of the following – 

(a) the chief officer of Police for the 
area, 

(b) the Licensing Authority 

(c) the Fire Authority, 

(d) the enforcing authority under S 
18 of Health and Safety at Work 
etc. Act 1974, 

(e) the local Planning Authority (i.e. 
department of the Council), 

(f) the environmental health 
department of the Council, 

(g) Oxfordshire Safeguarding 
Children Board Officer 

(h) Trading Standards 

(i) NHS Oxfordshire 

(j) any other Licensing Authority in 
whose area part of the premises 
is situated, 

(k) in relation to a vessel – the 
navigation authority. 

Section 13(4) 

  Continued … 

Page 77



viii 

Objection Representations made by the Police in 
relation to an application, on the 
grounds of the prevention of crime and 
disorder. 

 

Representations Comments made by a Responsible 
Authority on an application. 

 

Relevant Representations Comments made by an Interested 
Party, which are not rejected by the 
Authority as irrelevant, frivolous, 
vexatious, or repetitive.  

 

Authorised Person 

 

(Authorised Persons have 
roles in enforcement of the 
2003 Act) 

 

(Police officers are not listed 
as Authorised Persons, as 
they already have powers of 
enforcement under other 
legislation) 

Any of the following – 

(a) an officer of the Licensing 
Authority, authorised for the 
purposes of the 2003 Act, 

(b) an inspector appointed under 
article 26 of the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

(c) an inspector appointed under 
S.19 of the Health and Safety at 
Work etc. Act 1974, 

(d) an officer of the Council 
authorised to exercise statutory 
environmental health functions, 

(e) in relation to a vessel, an 
inspector, or surveyor of ships, 
appointed under S.256 of the 
Merchant Shipping Act 1995, 

(f) a person prescribed for the 
purposes of S.13 (2) of the 
Licensing Act 2003. 

Section 13(2) 

Designated Officer An Officer of the Council that has 
delegated authority under the 
Constitution of the Council 

 

Licensing Committee The Committee of elected members of 
Cherwell District Council that is 
responsible for the Council’s licensing 
functions. 

 

SIA Security Industry Authority  

2003 Act The Licensing Act 2003  

LACORS Local Authorities Co-ordinator of 
Regulatory Services 

 

TSI Trading Standards Institute  

Secretary of State’s 
Guidance 

Guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State under section 182 of the 
2003 Act 

 

TEN Temporary Event Notice  

 

Page 78



- 1 - 

1 Introduction 

1.1 Objectives  

1.1.1 The Licensing Authority (the “Authority”) for Cherwell District is the Cherwell District 
Council (the “Council”).   

 

Policy GN 1: Objectives  

The Authority will carry out its licensing functions under the 2003 Act with a view to 
promoting the four licensing objectives, which are: 

o the prevention of crime and disorder; 
o public safety; 
o the prevention of public nuisance; and 
o the protection of children from harm. 

Each of the four licensing objectives is of equal importance and there are no other 
objectives, so that the four licensing objectives are paramount at all times. 

 

1.1.2 The Authority has regard to matters of sustainability, equality, the local economy, 
tourism and the environment to the extent that they affect the Licensing Policy. 

1.2 The Authority’s area and the licensable activities  

1.2.1 Appendix 1 describes the Authority’s area, its centres of population and its population 
profile.  It also describes the mix of licensable activities, where they take place and 
their positive and negative impacts on the area. 

1.3 The Authority’s use of conditions and this Licensing Policy Statement 

1.3.1 The Licensing Authority recognises that where no relevant representations are 
received, the Licensing Authority must grant the licence subject only to those 
conditions volunteered by the applicant in their operating schedule. 

1.3.2 Chapter 8 – Operating Schedules gives a comprehensive list of policies and 
information to assist the applicant in drafting the operating schedule prior to making 
an application. The list is not exhaustive and is merely indicative of example 
measures that the applicant should have regard to in the development of their 
Operating Schedule appropriate to their premises and its style of operation. 

2 General 

2.1 Precedence issues  

2.1.1 A licensing policy must not ignore or be inconsistent with provisions in the 2003 Act.  
 

Policy GN 2: Precedence 

The meaning of the 2003 Act and any Regulations made under it take precedence over the 
meaning of this Statement of Licensing Policy. 

2.2 Adoption and publication of the Statement of Licensing Policy  

2.2.1 The Council determined this Statement of Licensing Policy and adopted it on TBC 

2.2.2 In determining this policy, the Council had regard to the Secretary of State’s 
Guidance and gave appropriate weight to the views of those consulted. 

 
 

Page 79



- 2 - 

Policy GN 3: Five yearly licensing policy review 

The Council will prepare and publish a statement of its licensing policy at intervals of no 
more than five years, to enable it to continue to undertake its licensing functions.  

 

Policy GN 4: Interim licensing policy reviews 

The Council will keep its licensing policy under review and will make such revisions to it, at 
such times, as it considers appropriate.  

 

Policy GN 5: Consultation on licensing policy 

Before determining any revision to its Statement of Licensing Policy, the Council will 
consult:  

(a) the chief officer of Police for the area; 
(b) the Fire Authority for the area;  
(c) the County Trading Standards Officer 
(d) the Social Health Care Department of Oxfordshire County Council, which the 

Authority considers to be the competent and Responsible Authority for the 
purpose of advising on issues of protecting children from harm. 

together with such persons as the Authority considers at the time to be representative of:  
(e) holders of Premises Licences issued by the Authority; 
(f) holders of Club Premises Certificates issued by the Authority; 
(g) holders of Personal Licences issued by the Authority; 
(h) businesses and residents in its area; 
(i) other interests in the licensing of premises in its area,  

The Authority will give appropriate weight to the views of the persons listed above when it 
determines any revision to its Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 

Policy GN 6: Publication of policy revisions 

When the Authority determines any revisions, it will publish either a statement of those 
revisions, or its revised Statement of Licensing Policy.   

2.3 Scope of the Statement of Licensing Policy: Licensable activities  

2.3.1 This policy addresses licensing of the following activities: 

(a) the sale of alcohol by retail; 

(b) the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of 
a club; 

(c) the provision of late night refreshment1 (supply of hot food or drink between 2300 
and 0500 hours); and 

(d) the provision of ‘regulated entertainment’ which includes: 

• a performance of a play; 

• an exhibition of a film; 

• an indoor sporting event; 

• a boxing or wrestling entertainment (indoors and outdoors); 

• a performance of live music; 

• the playing of recorded music; 

• a performance of dance; 

2.3.2 Activities that are not to be regarded as regulated entertainment and activities that are 
not to be regarded as late night refreshment are listed respectively in Schedules 1 
and 2 of the 2003 Act.   

                                            
1
 This includes take-aways and hot-food vans 

Page 80



- 3 - 

2.4 Scope of the policy: Applications and notices  

2.4.1 This policy addresses decisions on applications for: 

(a) Premises Licences; 

(b) Club Premises Certificates;  

(c) Personal Licences; 

(d) renewal or transfer of licences; 

(e) variation of conditions attached to licenses and associated matters. 

2.4.2 This policy also addresses Temporary Event Notices (TENs) and the review of 
Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates. 

2.5 Fundamental principles 

2.5.1 The Authority recognises that its power to reject applications or to apply conditions to 
Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates is strictly constrained by the terms 
of the 2003 Act.  

2.5.2 The Authority is now a ‘responsible authority’ and able to make representation and/or 
seek a review of a premises licence or Club Premises Certificate 

 

2.5.3 The Authority recognises that it has no power to:  
 

(a) Modify mandatory conditions  

(b) Refuse to specify a person in a premises licence as the Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

(c) Reject the application, except on grounds that this is appropriate for the 
promotions of the licensing objectives 

 

2.5.4 Throughout this document, statements are made as to the expectations of the 
Authority.  The Statement of Licensing Policy has been developed in consultation with 
all of the Responsible Authorities.  Those Responsible Authorities have indicated that 
where the expectations are not met in any application, they may make a 
Representation.  This could in turn result in the imposition of appropriate conditions. 

2.5.5 In considering and determining applications the Authority will take into account: 

(a) The Race Relations Act 1976, as amended by the Race Relations (Amendment) 
Act 2000;  

(b) Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998;  

(c) The Human Rights Act 1998;  

(d) The Equality Act 2010  

(e) The Live Music Act 2012  

(f) Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

(g) Noise Act 1996 

(h) Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

(i) Violent Crime and Disorder Act 2006 

(j) Health Act 2006 

(k) Policing and Crime Act 2009 

(l) and any other relevant legislation or statutory guidance. 

 
 
 

Page 81



- 4 - 

2.5.6 The Authority:  

(a) will treat each application on its individual merits;  

(b) will not override the right of any person to apply under the terms of the 2003 Act 
for a variety of permissions;  

(c) will not override the right of any person to make Representations on an 
application or to seek a review of a licence or certificate where the 2003 Act 
makes provision for them to do so; 

(d) will, as far as possible, avoid duplication with other licensing and regulatory 
regimes that already place obligations on employers and operators, e.g. The 
Health & Safety at Work etc, Act 1974, the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
disability discrimination legislation and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 ; 

(e) will only apply to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates conditions 
that are necessary to underpin or promote the licensing objectives. 

2.5.7 The Authority recognises that the purpose of the 2003 Act is to allow appropriate 
levels of regulation for premises, temporary events, members’ clubs and persons 
authorised to make alcohol available for sale. 

2.5.8 In considering applications the Authority will primarily focus on the direct impact of the 
activities taking place at the licensed premises on members of public living, working 
or engaged in normal activity in the vicinity of the licensed premises.  

2.5.9 For each application for the grant, variation or review of a Premises Licence or Club 
Premises Certificate, the 2003 Act requires the Authority to consider the 
Representations made by Responsible Authorities and those Representations made 
by Interested Parties, which the Authority accepts as relevant.  

2.5.10 “Interested Parties" will be given its widest possible interpretation and, where it 
includes persons involved in business, will not be confined to those engaged in trade 
and commerce.  It will include partnerships and the functions of charities, churches 
and medical practices.  

2.5.11 A Responsible Authority or an Interested Party may also seek a review of a Premises 
Licence or Club Premises Certificate because of a matter arising at the premises in 
connection with any of the four licensing objectives. 

2.5.12 In determining applications and reviews of licensed premises, the Authority will give 
appropriate weight to:  

(a) Representations received from Responsible Authorities; 

(b) relevant Representations made by Interested Parties; 

(c) the Secretary of State’s Guidance; 

(d) this Statement of Licensing Policy; 

(e) the steps necessary to promote the licensing objectives.  

2.5.13 Any terms and conditions that the Authority imposes will be focused on matters that 
are within the control of individual licensees.  These matters will centre on the 
premises and places being used for licensable activities and the vicinity of those 
premises and places.  

2.6 Reviewing the Statement of Licensing Policy with other Authorities  

2.6.1 The Authority will work with the other Licensing Authorities in Oxfordshire in reviewing 
this Statement of Licensing Policy to ensure, as far as possible, that a consistent 
approach is taken to assist applicants for licences and those who may wish to make 
Representations under the provisions of the 2003 Act. The Authority will also liaise 
with other neighbouring Licensing Authorities to ensure that there is consistency 
across District Council boundaries.  Full regard will still be given to local issues and 
situations, which will take precedence. 

Page 82



- 5 - 

2.6.2 The Authority will maintain partnership working with various enforcement agencies as 
it recognises that the licensing objectives can only be promoted through a range of 
actions, some of which are outside the scope of the licensing system. 

2.6.3 The Authority will agree protocols with the Police, the Fire Authority and Trading 
Standards Services, as it considers appropriate for enforcing the 2003 Act. 

2.6.4 The Authority will maintain dialogue with the licensed trade, businesses, local people 
and relevant organisations in the entertainment and alcohol industry to ensure that 
the Statement of Licensing Policy remains relevant and secures promotion of the 
licensing objectives. 

2.7 Integrating strategies  

2.7.1 Licensing is about promoting the four licensing objectives by balancing different 
interests .  The experience gained by the Authority can usefully inform the 
development and application of strategies by others for local crime prevention, 
planning, transport, tourism and culture. It is important that such strategies do not 
undermine promotion of the licensing objectives. 

2.7.2 In preparing this Statement of Licensing Policy, the Authority has taken account of 
relevant national policies and action plans, which include the following: 

(a) The Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy; 

(b)  “Keeping Children Safe” (Department for Education and Skills/Department of 
Health). 

2.7.3  The Authority has taken account of the policies and programmes that the Council has 
already adopted.  These are listed in Appendix 2, along with an explanation of how 
they integrate with the Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 

Policy GN 7: Integrating strategies 

The Council will ensure any strategies it may have, or develop, for local crime prevention, 
planning, transport, waste management and recycling, sustainability, tourism and culture 
will be integrated with its licensing function but such strategies will not overrule the licensing 
objectives. 

2.8 Planning and building control  

2.8.1 The Council recognises that there is a need for proper separation of the planning, 
building control and licensing regimes to avoid duplication and inefficiency.  

2.8.2 The Council recognises that the Planning Authority must be aware of the Authority’s 
concerns as this will assist in promotion of the licensing objectives. The Authority will 
provide reports to enable the Planning Authority to have regard to such matters and 
have a role in promoting the four licensing objectives when the Planning Authority 
takes its decisions.  

2.8.3 The Council recognises that the three regimes have different purposes: 

(a) Planning – ensuring the suitability of the location, use and design of the premises 
for the activities and the adequacy of the local infrastructure; 

(b) Building Control – ensuring the suitability of the construction of the premises: 

(c) Licensing – ensuring the suitability of the proposed use and operation of the 
premises. 

2.8.4 Applicants are reminded that the grant of a Premises Licence or Club Premises 
Certificate, or any variation to one of these, does not relieve the applicant of the need 
to obtain planning permission and/or building regulations consent as appropriate. 

 

Page 83



- 6 - 

Policy GN 8: Planning consent required before licence application 

The Authority normally expects that an application for a Premises Licence or a Club 
Premises Certificate to be made only in respect of premises which already have an 
appropriate established use or any necessary planning consent. 

The Authority will similarly normally expect an applicant to have obtained planning 
permission where necessary for the use proposed, before applying for a provisional 
statement under section 29 of the 2003 Act. 

2.9 Administration, exercise and delegation of functions 

Policy GN 9: Levels of decision-making 

The Authority will have the following levels of decision-making for undertaking its licensing 
functions: 

o The Council; 
o Licensing Committee; 
o Licensing Sub Committees; 
o Officers of the Council. 

2.9.1 A Licensing Sub-committee will generally determine each application that attracts 
Representations, unless: 

(a) all Representations from Responsible Authorities are first withdrawn and it is 
agreed by all parties that a hearing is not necessary (in accordance with the 
relevant legislation);  

(b) all other Representations are first withdrawn and it is agreed by all parties that a 
hearing is not necessary or the Representations are determined to be not 
relevant by a designated officer; and 

(c) the only Representations remaining are vexatious or frivolous; or 

(d) the Licensing Committee wish to consider the matter. 

2.9.2 Officers will determine all other applications and the Licensing Committee will receive 
reports on the decisions made by officers so that members maintain an overview of 
the general situation. 

2.9.3 For the convenience of applicants, the system of delegation is tabulated in    
Appendix 3. 

 

Policy GN 10: Delegation  

Unless otherwise amended by the Councils Constitution, the Authority has delegated 
licensing decisions in accordance with the recommendations of the Secretary of 
State’s Guidance and in the interests of speed, efficiency and cost effectiveness, as follows:  

(a) The Council determines: 
o the Statement of Licensing Policy; 
o membership of the Licensing Committee; 
o the extent to which functions, other than functions under the 2003 Act, are 

delegated to the Licensing Committee. 
(b) The Licensing Committee will undertake all functions of the Authority that are 

not the responsibility of the Council, as follows: 
o making recommendations to the Council on the Statement of Licensing 

Policy; 
o reviewing the Statement of Licensing Policy within five-year intervals, 

keeping the policy under review at other times and undertaking 
appropriate consultations; 

o arranging for training of members and officers to enable the Authority to 
discharge its duties under the 2003 Act; 

o agreeing which body is competent to advise the Authority in respect of 
matters relating to the protection of children from harm; 

o deciding the extent to which the Authority will recommend the 

Page 84



- 7 - 

classification of films; 
o monitoring the impact of licensing on regulated entertainment in general 

and live music and dancing in particular; 
o establishing and agreeing enforcement protocols (with the Police etc.); 
o reporting to the Planning Authority on the situation concerning licensed 

premises including the general impact of alcohol related crime and 
disorder; 

o receiving reports on the needs of the local tourist economy and the 
cultural strategy for the area;  

o receiving reports on the employment situation in the area;  
 

(c) Licensing Sub-committees will operate under authority delegated by the 
Licensing Committee and determine matters as set out in Policy GN 11. 
Licensing Sub-committees will also receive reports on matters determined by 
Licensing Officers with delegated authority. 

(d) Licensing Officers will operate under delegated authority and determine matters 
as set out in Policy GN 12. 

 

Policy GN 11: Licensing Sub-Committee – delegated functions 

Sub-Committees of the Licensing Committee will determine any of the following where a 
valid Representation has been made and not withdrawn: 

o application for a Personal Licence; 
o application for Personal Licence with unspent convictions; 
o application for Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate; 
o application for provisional statement; 
o application to vary a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate; 
o application to vary Designated Premises Supervisor; 
o application for transfer of Premises Licence; 
o application for interim authorities; 
o application to review a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate; 
o determination of a Police Representation to a TEN; 
o decision to object when the Authority is a consultee and not the relevant 

authority considering the application. 
 

Policy GN 12: Officers – delegated functions 

An Officer, delegated for the purpose within the Council’s Constitution, will determine every 
other licence application for which no objection or valid Representation has been received, 
or for which it is agreed by all parties that a hearing is not necessary and all objections or 
valid Representations have been withdrawn. 

The Scheme of Delegation also provides that an Officer shall determine whether 
representations made by an interested party are irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious or 
repetitious.  

 

Policy GN 13: Licensing Committee – procedure 

Subject to any statutory provisions, the Licensing Committee will regulate its own procedure 
and that of Licensing Sub-committees. 

 

Policy GN 14: Licensing Sub-Committee – procedure 

In considering any application on which a representation has been made, Members of the 
Sub-committee will follow the principles set out in Appendix 3 – Licensing Committee and 
Licensing Sub-committee procedures. 

 

Policy GN 15: Determination of applications – conditions 

The Authority will determine the type and extent of conditions to be affixed to Premises 
Licences and Club Premises Certificates as follows: 

(a) Matters determined by Officers: 

Page 85



- 8 - 

o Officers will select from a pool of conditions, those conditions that 
appropriately reproduce the issues addressed in the applicant’s operating 
schedule, or (for an application under “grandfather rights”) that match the 
conditions that apply to the original licence or permission; 

o No other conditions, other than the mandatory conditions specified in 
Sections 19, 20, 21, 73 and 74 of the 2003 Act, will be added; 

o If none of the pool conditions is appropriate, Officers will develop any 
condition that they consider necessary to appropriately reproduce the 
issues addressed in that applicant’s operating schedule.  Officers will add 
to the pool of conditions any conditions developed for this reason; 

o Officers will report to the Licensing Committee on the matters that those 
officers have determined. 

(b) Matters determined by a Sub-committee: 
o Sub-committees will attach conditions from within the pool of conditions or 

developed to suit, as in (a) above;   
o Sub-committees may also attach special conditions that take account of 

the Representations made by Responsible Authorities or the relevant 
Representations made by Interested Parties.  

2.10 Non-licensing issues: What this statement is not for  

2.10.1 The Authority recognises that: 

(a) licensing is not about mechanisms for the general control of anti- social behaviour 
by individuals once they are beyond the direct control of the individual club or 
business holding the licence, certificate or permission concerned. 

(b) licensing is not about matters contained in other legislation, which may well apply 
simultaneously to the activities of licensed individuals or premises. 

2.10.2 Please see also Section 9. 

3 Cumulative impact 

3.1 Cumulative impact  

3.1.1 The Authority wishes to take steps to prevent public nuisance, crime or disorder 
arising from the concentration of premises in one particular area. 

3.1.2 Whilst need is primarily an issue for the market and the planning system, the 
cumulative impact of licensed premises on the promotion of the licensing objectives is 
a matter for consideration under the licensing provisions.  Serious problems of public 
nuisance and disorder can arise in the vicinity of licensed premises where a number 
of them are grouped together and particularly where they may be situated near to 
residential areas on the fringe of urban centres.  The numbers of premises selling 
alcohol and providing entertainment until the early hours of the morning have 
increased significantly over recent years and many special measures have been 
adopted to try to deal with the crime and anti social behaviour that can result from the 
more intensive activities. 

3.1.3 The distribution of late night premises may be such as to warrant special action from 
the Authority to combat exceptional problems of disorder and public nuisance over 
and above the impact from individual premises. 

3.1.4 Section 160 of the 2003 Act replaces and extends the longstanding powers of section 
188 of the Licensing Act 1964. Under section 160 a Police Officer of the rank of 
superintendent or above may ask a magistrates’ court to make an order requiring all 
premises holding premises licences or subject to a TEN which are situated at or near 
the place of the disorder or anticipated disorder to be closed for a period up to 24 
hours.  The court may not make such an order unless it is satisfied that it is necessary 

Page 86



- 9 - 

to prevent disorder.  A Police Officer may use necessary force to close any premises 
covered by such an order. 

 

Policy GN 16: “Need” for licensed premises  

The Authority will leave the assessment of the ‘need’ for licensed premises to the Planning 
Authority and to the market.  It will not address this matter in undertaking its licensing 
functions.   

 

Policy GN 17: Need for an evidential base  

The Authority will consider Representations based on the impact of the grant of a particular 
application on the promotion of the licensing objectives in the Authority’s area.  However, 
the onus will be on the person making a Representation to lay an evidential base for the 
assertion that the addition of the premises in question would produce the cumulative impact 
claimed.  The impact can be expected to be different for premises with different styles and 
characteristics. 

 

Policy GN 18: Use of other mechanisms to address cumulative impact  

The Council will encourage the use of other mechanisms that are available for addressing 
problems caused by a minority of consumers behaving badly and unlawfully once away 
from licensed premises.  For example: 

(a) planning controls; 
(b) positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in 

partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other departments of 
the Council; 

(c) powers the Council has to designate parts of its area as places where the 
public consumption of alcohol may be controlled; 

(d) Police enforcement of the normal law concerning disorder and anti-social 
behaviour, including the issuing of fixed penalty notices; 

(e) the prosecution of any Personal Licence holder or member of staff at such 
premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk; 

(f) the confiscation of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas; 
(g) Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises 

or temporary event on grounds of disorder, or the likelihood of disorder or 
excessive noise emanating from the premises; 

(h) the power of the Police, other Responsible Authority or a local resident or 
business to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question. 

3.2 Special Saturation Policy  

3.2.1 It is possible that the impact of the behaviour of customers of separate premises 
taken together on surrounding areas is greater than the usual impact from customers 
of individual premises and so creates exceptional problems of crime, disorder or 
public nuisance.  In these circumstances a Responsible Authority or Interested Party 
may consider that the cumulative effect of new licences is to saturate an area, making 
it a focal point for large groups of people to gather and circulate away from the 
licensed premises themselves.   

3.2.2 If Representations are made by Responsible Authorities or Interested Parties to this 
effect, the Authority will consider whether the grant of any further Premises Licences 
or Club Premises Certificates would tend to undermine one of the licensing objectives 
and whether a Special Saturation Policy should be adopted for that area. 

3.2.3 In considering whether to adopt a Special Saturation Policy the Authority will carry out 
a review of the available evidence and carry out consultation to determine if there is 
any part of the district that should be considered for such a policy.  

3.2.4 The effect of adopting a Special Saturation Policy of this kind is to create a rebuttable 
presumption that applications for new Premises Licences or Club Premises 

Page 87



- 10 - 

Certificates or material variations will normally be refused, if relevant Representations 
to that effect are received, unless it can be demonstrated that the operation of the 
premises involved will not add to the cumulative impact already being experienced. 
Applicants would need to address the Special Saturation Policy issues in their 
operating schedules in order to rebut such a presumption. However, a Special 
Saturation Policy must stress that this presumption does not relieve Responsible 
Authorities or Interested Parties of the need to make a relevant Representation before 
a Licensing Authority may lawfully consider giving effect to its Special Saturation 
Policy.  

3.2.5 If no Representation is received, any application must be granted in terms that are 
consistent with the application submitted. However, Responsible Authorities, such as 
the Police, or Interested Parties, can make written Representations maintaining that it 
is necessary to refuse the application for the promotion of the prevention of crime and 
disorder and referring to information which had been before the Authority when it 
developed its Saturation Policy. 

3.2.6 Where a Special Saturation Policy is in effect, the Authority will regularly monitor the 
impact of that policy. If it becomes evident that the criteria for such a policy are no 
longer met, the Authority will arrange for it to be discontinued. 

 

Policy GN 19: Special Saturation Policy – adoption   

If a Responsible Authority, or Interested Party, has identified a concern about crime and 
disorder or public nuisance and the Authority considers that the available evidence 
demonstrates that crime and disorder or public nuisance are arising and are caused by the 
customers of licensed premises in an identifiable area (or that the risk factors are such that 
the area is reaching a point when a cumulative impact is imminent) then the Authority will 
consult on a Special Saturation Policy with those specified in section 5(3) of the 2003 Act.  
The Authority will adopt a Special Saturation Policy if it is satisfied that such a policy is 
required. 

4 Pool of conditions  

4.1 Pool of conditions 

4.1.1 The Secretary of State’s Guidance requires the Authority’s policy to “make clear that 
a key concept underscoring the 2003 Act is that conditions attached to licences and 
certificates should be tailored to the individual style and characteristics of the 
premises and events concerned.”  It also states that “This is essential to avoid the 
imposition of disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where 
there is no need for such conditions.”  The Authority will therefore need access to a 
wide range of appropriate conditions from which it can draw. 

4.1.2 The Secretary of State has introduced new mandatory conditions which came into 
force in 2010. Whilst current licences have not been updated with these mandatory 
conditions, licence holders are required to ensure that they comply with them. As 
licences are amended through variation or other changes then the new conditions will 
be added. For the avoidance of doubt the mandatory conditions in force at the time 
that this policy was adopted are set out at Appendix 5 to this policy. 

4.1.3 Provided no relevant Representation have been received, the type and extent of 
conditions to be affixed to various Premises Licences will be determined by officers, 
acting under delegated authority, from within the pool of conditions consistent with the 
operating schedule.     

4.1.4 Where Representations have been made by Interested Parties or Responsible 
Authorities a Licensing Sub-Committee will hear the case and may attach special 
conditions to a licence.  Use of standard conditions will be avoided, as will conditions 

Page 88



- 11 - 

that are unnecessary because other legislation makes adequate and appropriate 
provision for applicants’ compliance. 

4.1.5 In relation to licensable activities which have a clear benefit to culture, the Authority 
will seek only to impose those conditions that are deemed to be necessary and in 
proportion to the specific situation. The Authority will consider the potential for 
conditions deterring applications, but at the same time will not permit the licensing 
objectives to be undermined. 

 

Policy GN 20: Pool of conditions 

The Authority will maintain a pool of conditions from which appropriate and proportionate 
conditions can be drawn.  The Authority will adapt such conditions as necessary for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives to suit the individual circumstances of each application 
for a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate. 

 

Policy GN 21: Pool of conditions: premises-specific 

The Authority will not apply standard conditions to every Premises Licence or Club 
Premises Certificate that it issues. 

 

Policy GN 22: Pool of conditions: additions 

The Authority will add to the pool of conditions each condition that is developed to suit the 
individual circumstances of each application, so that it may be used as the basis of 
development of other conditions.  The Authority will develop such conditions with regard to: 

(a) the 2003 Act; 
(b) the Secretary of State’s Guidance; 
(c) this Statement of Licensing Policy; 
(d) a condition attached to a permission, which requires conversion to a new 

Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificates; and 
(e) a statement made in the operating schedule by an applicant for a Premises 

Licence or Club Premises Certificate. 

4.2 Live music, dancing and theatre  

4.2.1 It would be inappropriate to impose, on small-scale activities, the potentially 
substantial indirect costs of complying with conditions that are more appropriate to 
larger events.  Such small-scale activities will tend to be those that are arranged for 
small community groups or for children and have the potential for generating wider 
cultural benefits for communities generally.   

4.2.2 The imposition of inappropriate conditions might inadvertently impose substantial 
indirect costs and so deter live music, dancing and theatre.  

4.3 Live Music Bill 2012 

 
4.3.1. The Live Music Act amends the Licensing Act 2003 and deregulates amplified live music 

between 8.00am and 11.00pm before audiences of no more that 200 people on premises 
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises or in workplaces not otherwise 
licensed under the 2003 Act (or licensed only for the provision of late night refreshment); and 
unamplified live music between 8.00am and 11.00pm in all venues. 

 
4.3.2. There are three possible exemptions: 
 

(a) Live music in alcohol-licensed premises will not be licensable between 8.00am 
and 11.00pm, for up to 200 people if amplified, or any size crowd if unamplified; 
so long as music conditions have not been imposed following a review variation 

(b) Live music in unlicensed ‘workplaces’ (as per Workplace (Health , Safety and 
Welfare) Regulations 1992 definition) excluding premises licensed for late night 

Page 89



- 12 - 

refreshment only will not be licensed between 8.00am and 11.00pm to up to 200 
people (amplified and unamplified) 

(c) Unamplified live music at any other site will not be licensable between 8.00am 
and 11.00pm. 

 

Policy GN 23: Live music, dancing and theatre  

The Authority will take proper account of the need to encourage and promote live music, 
dancing and theatre in balance with the potential for disturbance from these activities. In 
determining what conditions should be attached to Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates, the Authority will take account of the need to avoid measures that inadvertently 
impose substantial indirect costs. 

5 Licensing hours 

5.1 Zoning  

5.1.1 The Authority cannot set fixed trading hours, because the Government considers that 
longer licensing hours for the sale of alcohol (for consumption on the premises) are 
important to prevent concentrations of customers leaving premises simultaneously.  
The Government considers this necessary to reduce friction at late night fast food 
outlets, taxi ranks and other sources of transport, which can lead to disorder and 
disturbance.  

 

Policy LH 1: Zoning 

The Authority will not generally restrict trading hours, but may restrict hours for particular 
premises if a Responsible Authority or an Interested Party makes an appropriate 
Representation and this will promote a licensing objective. 

 

5.2 Staggered closing times 

5.2.1 In the Government’s view, “staggered closing times” would only serve to replace the 
peaks of disorder and disturbance (which have previously occurred after 11.00pm 
and after 2.00am) with a series of smaller peaks, so minimising any potential 
improvement in the prevention of crime and disorder.  The Secretary of State’s 
Guidance states that the general principle should be to promote later opening so that 
customers leave for natural reasons slowly over a much longer period and so prevent 
any artificial concentrations. 

5.2.2 The prevention of public nuisance will be assisted by not seeking to generally 
organise opening or closing times in particular areas that may overload the local 
infrastructure. 

 

Policy LH 2: Staggered closing times 

The Authority will not seek to engineer any pattern of closing times (“staggered closing 
times”) by setting quotas for particular closing times.  

5.3 Licensing hours not limited 

5.3.1 Conditions that limit opening hours could tend to concentrate the departure of 
customers at particular times, which could detract from the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  In the context of a particular application, some potential problems may be 
more appropriately addressed through conditions other than limitations on opening 
times. 

5.3.2 The Secretary of State’s Guidance states that “fixed or artificially early closing hours 
can lead to binge drinking or 'topping up' meaning that disorder and disturbance can 

Page 90



- 13 - 

be increased when large numbers of customers are required to leave the premises 
simultaneously.”  

 

Policy LH 3: Licensing hours not limited 

The Authority will not reduce the hours permitted for licensable activities to less than those 
stated in an application, unless Representations indicate that this is necessary and then 
only in the context of the individual merits of that application.  

5.4 Display of operating hours 

5.4.1 Licensing hours and the closing time of premises may be different.  The cessation of 
licensable activities may take place at some time prior to actual closing time for the 
premises depending on the nature of the activities. 

5.4.2 The Authority considers that it would be beneficial for potential customers and 
“Interested Parties” living or working nearby to be able to easily discover when 
licensed premises are likely to be operational. 

 

Policy LH 4: Display of operating hours 

Where appropriate the Authority normally expects to see a notice stating the actual 
operating hours of the premises displayed conspicuously outside every public entrance to a 
premise operating under a Premises Licence. 

 

Policy LH 5: Closing times  

In determining applications, the Authority will take into account the time that it is proposed 
to close the premises where patrons have been attracted to attend by a licensable activity. 
Regard will also be had to matters such as the nature of the locality and the availability of 
public transport at the time that the premises propose to close. 

The Authority considers that licensable activities should normally cease not later than 
30 minutes before final closure of the premises. 

5.5 Dispersal procedures 

5.5.1 Organised dispersal procedures can help to prevent crime and disorder and public 
nuisance where large numbers of persons leave licensed premises over a 
concentrated period of time.  This is relevant whether persons leave over a period of 
time or in large numbers, at the premises closing time. 

5.5.2 The Authority considers that having dispersal procedures in place, on which all staff 
employed at the licensed premises are trained, are particularly necessary for 
premises at which regulated entertainment or the sale of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises will continue after midnight.  Persons living in the vicinity may 
experience the effects of the dispersal of customers from licensed premises as a 
public nuisance.  Such problems can be minimised through orderly dispersal. 

5.5.3 At the same time, it is recognised that dispersal procedures will not be appropriate to 
all Premises and the need will therefore be assessed on a case-by-case basis having 
regard to any risk assessments on the potential for nuisance that has been 
undertaken by the applicant. 

5.5.4 Staff trained in dispersal procedures could also play a key role in the event of 
emergency evacuation.  

5.5.5 The Authority considers the role of the Designated Premises Supervisor to include 
responsibility for clearing a licensed premise at the end of the permitted licensable hours to 
promote the licensing objectives. 

 
 

Page 91



- 14 - 

Policy LH 6: Dispersal procedures  

The Authority will require applicants for Premises Licences, normally in those premises 
open for regulated entertainment or sale of alcohol after midnight, to consider preparing a 
written statement to be submitted with their application covering procedures for orderly 
dispersal of patrons at closing time.  

Such a statement should show how all staff in the premises are trained in its 
implementation. 

The Authority expects any dispersal procedure to state the time at which the licensable 
activities cease and the later, actual, closure time of the premises. 

5.6 Latest admission times 

5.6.1 It is undesirable that persons should seek to “top up” their alcohol intake by “club-
hopping” and seeking out those premises that are admitting customers at the latest 
times as crime, disorder and anti social behaviour in urban centres can be increased 
by persons moving between venues late at night. 

5.6.2 Establishing last entry times can reduce the tendency of customers to concentrate at 
those premises which remain open the latest, without restricting the hours of trading.  
This will encourage dispersal and reduce the pressure on late-night refreshment 
outlets and transport facilities that can lead to disorder problems.  It will therefore 
assist with objectives to prevent public nuisance and crime and disorder in certain 
circumstances. 

 

Policy LH 7: Latest admission times 

The Authority may require latest admission times.   

The Authority would normally expect the latest admission time to be at least one hour 
before cessation of the licensable activity. 

5.7 Hours for “off-sales” of alcohol 

5.7.1 The Government suggests that the norm will be for all shops, stores and 
supermarkets with Premises Licences that permit the sale of alcohol for consumption 
off the premises to be free to provide such sales of alcohol at any times when the 
retail outlet is open for shopping unless there are very good reasons for restricting 
those hours.  

5.7.2 Where a licence permits the sale of alcohol in general terms such as “during opening 
hours”, the Authority, Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties would have no a 
role in determining the availability of alcohol in any subsequent changes to shopping 
hours.  So any conditions on the timing of alcohol sales should state specific times.   

 

Policy LH 8: Hours for “Off-Sales” of Alcohol  

The Authority will normally approve an application for licensing hours for retail premises that 
permit the sale of alcohol (for consumption off the premises) at any time that the retail 
premises are open for shopping.  

Where there are good reasons for restricting those hours, the Authority will specify the 
particular hours during which the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises is 
permitted.  The Authority will not specify those hours in general terms, such as “at any time 
that the retail premises are open for shopping”. 

If valid Representations are made to the Authority concerning premises licensed for the 
sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises, because it is likely to become a focus for 
disturbance or public nuisance, the Authority reserves the right to restrict trading hours as 
one mechanism of combating such problems. 

Page 92



- 15 - 

6 Children 

6.1 Access to premises 

6.1.1 The 2003 Act does not prohibit children who are accompanied by an adult from 
having free access to licensed premises of all kinds, including those selling alcohol for 
consumption on the premises.  

6.1.2 However, the 2003 Act makes it an offence to allow any child under the age of 16 
who is not accompanied by an adult from being present: 

(a) at any time on pub premises, or other premises being used exclusively or 
primarily for the supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises; or 

(b) between the hours of midnight and 5am on restaurant premises, or other 
premises that supply alcohol for consumption on the premises. 

6.1.3 Apart from the above, the admission of children is a matter for the discretion of the 
individual authorised person at the premises or club, unless conditions included in a 
Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate limit the access of children. 

6.1.4 The fact that the new offence may effectively bar children under 16, who are not 
accompanied by an adult, from premises where the consumption of alcohol is the 
exclusive or primary activity does not mean that the 2003 Act automatically permits 
unaccompanied children under the age of 18 to have free access to other premises or 
to the same premises even if they are accompanied or to premises where the 
consumption of alcohol is not involved. The 2003 Act includes on the one hand, no 
presumption of giving children access or on the other hand, no presumption of 
preventing their access to licensed premises. Each application and the circumstances 
obtaining at each premise must be considered on its own merits.  

 

Policy CH 1: Access by children to Licensed Premises not a requirement  

The Authority will not apply conditions to Premises Licences that require that children must 
be given access. 

 

Policy CH 2: Restrictions on access by children to Licensed Premises (1)  

The Authority will not apply conditions to Premises Licences that limit the access of children 
except to the extent that: 

(a) it considers necessary for the prevention of harm to children(with regard to 
Representations on the application); or  

(b) applicants have included such restrictions in their operating schedules as a 
result of risk assessments that determined that the presence of children would 
be undesirable or inappropriate. 

6.1.5 The range of situations in policy CH 3, enables the Authority to restrict the access of 
children to any premises, by taking appropriate account of the “reputation” of those 
premises in addition to the formal aspects of an application.   

 

Policy CH 3: Restrictions on access by children to Licensed Premises (2)  

In considering access by children to licensed premises, the Authority will address the 
individual merits of each application with regard to Representations on the application and, 
in particular, will take account of situations: 

(a) where entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature are commonly 
provided; 

(b) where current staff working at the premises have been convicted or issued with 
a fixed penalty notice for serving alcohol to minors, or the premise have a 
reputation for underage drinking; 

(c) with a known association with drug taking or dealing; 
(d) where requirements for proof of age cards or other age identification to combat 

the purchase of alcohol by minors is not the norm; 

Page 93



- 16 - 

(e) where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises; or 
(f) where the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises is the exclusive or 

primary purpose of the services provided at the premises. 

6.1.6 The range of options in policy CH 4, which can be applied singly or in combination, 
enables the Authority to apply conditions to a Premises Licence, or Club Premises 
Certificate, that are in proportion to the scale of a perceived problem.  

 

Policy CH 4: Restrictions on access by children to Licensed Premises (3)  

The Authority will rarely apply a complete ban on access by children to any individual 
licensed premises.  However when, in response to a Representation, the Authority 
considers that access by children should be limited, it will apply one or more conditions (to 
the whole, or parts, of the premises) that include the following options (singly, or in 
combination): 

(a) limitations on the hours when children may be present; 
(b) age limitations (below specified ages younger than 18); 
(c) limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place; 
(d) requirements for accompanying adults (including requirements that apply only 

to children below specified ages); 
(e) checking proof of age; 
(f) full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable 

activities are taking place. 

6.2 Prevention of alcohol-consumption by minors 

6.2.1 In most circumstances, the consumption of alcohol by minors would be illegal.  The 
Authority considers that it would also contribute to harm to children, so systems 
should be put in place to ensure compliance with the law.  A mandatory condition now 
requires that the Premises Licence Holder or Club premises Certificate Holder 
ensures that an age verification policy applies to the Premises in relation to the sale 
or supply of alcohol. The Authority encourages the development of a culture in which 
the checking of proof-of-age cards is accepted as the norm in circumstances where 
doubt might otherwise exist.  Appendix 9 sets out suggested means of checking proof 
of age. 

6.2.2 The Policing and Crime Act 2009 contains several provisions relating to licensing 
offences: 

 

(a) Section 28: Selling alcohol to children. S28 amends the offence of persistently 
selling alcohol to children so that the offence is committed if alcohol is sold to an 
individual under the age of 18 on two or more occasions rather than on three or 
more occasions within three months. 

(b) Section 29: Confiscating alcohol from young persons. S29 amends the 
confiscation of alcohol (Young Persons) Act 1997 so that Police Officers can 
confiscate sealed containers of alcohol from young persons in public places 
without needing to prove that they were consuming or intending to consume 
alcohol. 

(c) Section 30: Persistently possessing alcohol in a public place. S30 introduces a 
new offence of persistently possessing alcohol in a public place. Young persons 
under 18 can be prosecuted for this offence if they are caught with alcohol in a 
public place three or more times within a 12 month period. 

 

6.2.3. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 contained several provisions 
relating to licensing offences. 

 
6.2.4. Under s147A(8) of the 2003 Act the maximum fine for the offence of persistently 

selling alcohol to children is £20,000. The offence is committed if, on two or more 

Page 94



- 17 - 

different occasions in a period of three consecutive months, alcohol is unlawfully sold 
on the same premise to a person aged under 18.  

 
6.2.5. The period of ‘voluntary’ cessation of alcohol sales agreed with the Police instead of 

prosecution has increased to 2 weeks. 
 

Policy CH 5: Prevention of under-age consumption of alcohol 

The Authority expects Personal Licence holders to ensure that alcohol is not served to 
persons under 18 except as permitted under the 2003 Act. 

6.3 Entertainment for and by children 

6.3.1 Entertainment specifically for children (for example, pantomimes and films) can attract 
large numbers of unaccompanied children.  The Authority expects licensees to 
undertake a risk assessment including details of how they will ensure the safe access 
and egress of children.   

6.3.2 The Authority expects licensees to provide attendants, at all performances specially 
presented for children, in accordance with model national standard conditions.  

 

Policy CH 6: Regulated entertainment for children  

The Authority expects that, where regulated entertainment includes performances specially 
presented for children, applicants will include in their risk assessment details of the number 
of attendants that will be on duty to ensure the safety of children and to control the access 
and egress of children. 

 

Policy CH 7: Regulated entertainment with child performers 

For licences that include performances by children, the Authority will normally expect a 
nominated adult to be responsible for such child performers. 

 

Policy CH 8: Persons supervising children - DBS checks  

In premises where children's entertainment is provided and particularly where children 
participate in providing entertainment, the Authority would normally expect that any person 
who will be engaged in direct supervision of children to have been subject to a check 
through the Enhanced Disclosure procedure of the Disclosure and Barring Service.  

 

Policy CH 9: Regulated entertainment for children – ticket only policy 

The Authority expects that Regulated Entertainment organised for teenage children in the 
form of a disco or similar event will normally be managed as ticket-only events, with no 
tickets available at the door. 

If pre-ticketing is not to be used, the Authority requires the applicant to demonstrate what 
alternative arrangements will be used to control admissions and prevent disorder. 

6.4 Film exhibitions 

6.4.1 In the case of premises giving film exhibitions the Authority expects applicants to 
describe in their operating schedules their arrangements for ensuring compliance with 
the film classification recommendations that apply. 

 

Policy CH 10: Film Classification (1)  

To every Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate that authorises the exhibition of 
films, the Authority will attach a mandatory condition requiring the admission of children to 
the exhibition of any film to be restricted in accordance with: 

(a) the recommendations of the film classification body specified in the licence, 
(which will normally be the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) whose 
classification system is copied in Appendix 4), or  

(b) the Authority’s recommendation.  

Page 95



- 18 - 

 

Policy CH 11: Film Classification (2)  

The Authority will not apply its own system of classification for the majority of films.  
However, provided the operator submits the film for classification at least 28 days before 
the proposed date of showing, the Authority may classify a film: 

(a) that has no BBFC classification; or 
(b) that has a BBFC classification, but the operator has requested the Authority to 

consider reclassification and the Authority agrees to do so, or 
(c)     where there have been relevant Representations from Interested Parties or any 

Responsible Authority with an interest in the protection of children from harm. 
The Authority will have regard to the BBFC classification system when making any decision 
on the classification of films. 
Any classification made by the Authority will have precedence over any other classification. 

 

Policy CH 12: Exhibition of film – display of notices 

The Authority will expect applications to ensure that appropriate notices are displayed about 
restrictions on admission and that performances do not take place in areas other than 
where they can be restricted to a particular audience when necessary. 

7 Licence Applications 

7.1 General 

7.1.1 Applications that are incomplete, or fail to comply with the requirements of the 
2003 Act will impose additional administrative burdens that hinder the Authority’s 
ability to process the applications that do comply.  The Authority will therefore return 
applications that it considers incomplete, as it considers that applicants should retain 
the responsibility for ensuring their applications comply with the requirements of the 
2003 Act. Forms will not be returned if they contain obvious and minor factual errors that can 
easily be amended. 

7.1.2 The 2003 Act requires some applications to be advertised for a set period, or to be 
copied to the Police or other Responsible Authorities.  This gives Interested Parties 
and Responsible Authorities an opportunity to make Representations about the 
application.  The Authority considers that the failure of an applicant to comply with 
these requirements is appropriate grounds for rejecting an application. Applicants 
may be required to demonstrate to the Licensing Authority that they have complied 
with these requirements by providing documentary evidence to the Authority. 

7.1.3 Ward Councillors are now classed as “interested parties” under the Licensing Act 
2003 and are therefore now able to make representations on applications in their own 
right as well as on behalf of local constituents. They should note however that the 
relevant Licensing Authority will have its own procedures that apply when Councillors 
speak at a committee on an item in which they have a personal and prejudicial 
interest and they will need to be clear about their status when speaking on an item. 

7.1.4 When a parish/town Council makes any objections to a licence application it needs to 
clear on its position when making that objection. If the parish/town Council makes an 
objection to an application because its own premises or business meetings are 
directly affected by the licence application then it is making that objection as an 
“interested party” in that it is a person involved in business in the area as defined in 
Section 13 (3) (d) Licensing Act 2003. 

7.1.5 If the parish/town Council makes objections on behalf of residents who live in that 
vicinity then they are acting as an “interested party” as defined in Section 13 (3) (b) 
Licensing Act 2003 and will need to identify the names and addresses of the 
residents that they are objecting on behalf of. The parish/town Council should also 
encourage those residents to object in their own right but allow the parish/town 
Council to present their case at any hearing that is held. 

Page 96



- 19 - 

7.1.6 Applications may be made in person by appointment, or by post to the Licensing 
Authority (address on page i). You may also make an online application through our 
website at www.cherwell.gov.uk 

7.1.7 Once an application has been accepted, any amendments to the application must 
normally be made by way of an application for variation, minor variation or a fresh 
application.  The Authority therefore recommends that applicants ensure that their 
proposals are finalised before submission.   

7.1.8 Where applications are silent on particular issues, such as the use of special effects 
or the type of events to be held, this will limit the range of activities permitted under 
the Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate that is granted. 

 

Policy LA 1: Licence applications – acceptance 

The Authority expects applications to be complete and to comply with the requirements of 
the 2003 Act before they are registered as being received.  The Authority will return to the 
applicant any application that it discovers to be incomplete, because it does not comply with 
the requirements of the 2003 Act, including any requirements to advertise or failure to 
provide a complete copy to a Responsible Authority. 

If the Authority returns an application to an applicant for any of the above reasons, it will 
treat the application as not received. This policy will apply regardless of any proof of 
delivery of the application to the Authority. 

7.2 Personal Licences 

7.2.1 The Authority seeks to ensure that it grants only those applications which satisfy the 
relevant licensing objectives and that the Police have the necessary information on 
which to base any Representations they may wish to make to the Authority.  This is 
because the holder of a Personal Licence should be a person who is not only properly 
qualified but someone who will contribute to crime prevention.   

 

Policy LA 2: Personal Licence – applications 

The Authority requires an applicant applying for a Personal Licence, or notifying a change 
in connection with a Personal Licence to include the documents described in guidance to 
applicants for Personal Licences.  

7.3 Premises Licences 

General Prevention of Public Nuisance 

7.3.1 Frequent complaints can be received regarding the consequences of the operation of 
licensed premises.  Responsible operators will wish to avoid enforcement action 
having to be taken under licensing or other legislation.  Applicants for Premises 
Licences and Club Premises Certificates are advised to consider measures that 
prevent public nuisance from occurring. 

7.3.2 A Noise Abatement Notice under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 may be 
served on premises that cause a statutory nuisance through failure to meet 
appropriate standards for preventing the escape of noise, regardless of the conditions 
of any Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate. 

7.3.3 Powers also exist for the Police and the Council to deal with noise issues that may 
affect persons living in the vicinity of licensed premises selling alcohol and/or 
providing regulated entertainment. 

7.3.4 However, it will normally be appropriate for applicants for Premises Licences and 
Club Premises Certificates to suggest measures which are adequate to deal with the 
potential for nuisance and/or anti-social behaviour having regard to all the 
circumstances of the application. 

Page 97



- 20 - 

7.3.5 As noise could emanate not only from the playing of music but also from air handling 
equipment or the patrons, applicants themselves may wish to consider undertaking 
sound tests to ensure that the level of noise leakage from the premises remains 
acceptable given the location. 

7.3.6 Night-time trading can increase noise and disturbance for local residents and result in 
damage to property in the vicinity of licensed premises.  The Authority may consider 
that there are benefits to be achieved in minimising public nuisance by curtailing 
hours of operation, generally or on specific occasions, if representations are made to 
that effect. 

7.3.7 The Authority advises applicants to give special consideration to noise control 
measures if proposing to provide regulated entertainment or to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises beyond midnight. 

7.3.8 With the introduction of the Health Act 2006 which banned smoking indoors, most 
premises have, where appropriate, created external “smoking areas” to allow patrons 
to continue to smoke outside the premises. These “smoking areas” have the capacity 
to cause problems of Public Nuisance if they are not properly controlled. The 
Authority would normally expect to see applicants include within their operating 
schedule procedures to actively manage these outside areas to prevent nuisance 
arising. 

7.3.9 Different approaches to prevention of public nuisance will apply to a premises licence 
application for regulated entertainment, given the nature of the activities, and special 
circumstances that can arise in relation to those activities, for example 

(a) longer hours of operation; 

(b) noise pollution issues; 

(c) public nuisance caused by people queuing to obtain admission; 

(d) general safety for the public in a crowded and often dimly lit environment; 

(e) public nuisance caused by departing customers; and 

(f) congregation of patrons outside licensed premises. 
 

Night-time trading 

7.3.10 The Authority expects applicants to give special consideration to the likely effect on 
the neighbourhood of the premises and whether there is a real possibility of residents 
in the vicinity being disturbed by departing patrons or anti-social behaviour occurring 
which might adversely affect the local environment. The Authority will wish to strike an 
equitable balance between the benefits to a community of a licensed venue and the 
risk of disturbance to local residents or vandalism to property. 

7.3.11 Night-time trading can increase noise and disturbance for local residents and result in 
damage to property in the vicinity of licensed premises. The Authority may consider 
that there are benefits to be achieved in minimising public nuisance by curtailing 
hours of operation, generally or on specific occasions. 

 

Policy LA 3: Premises Licence – Regulated Entertainment (General) 

The Authority requires the applicant to address sources of noise leakage in practical ways 
such as: 

(a) providing adequate mechanical ventilation so that doors and windows can be kept 
closed; 

(b) ensuring that the mechanical ventilation is adequately sound-proofed; 
(c) installing a sound limiting device to prevent sound exceeding an appropriately 

defined level; 
(d) installing sound proofing measures to contain sound and vibration; 
(e) other organisational measures to ensure that potential sound leakage is 

contained, particularly from special events; 

Page 98



- 21 - 

(f) having a queue management policy. 

These measures may be employed singly or in combination. 

Applicants should ensure that they carefully consider Approved Document F (Ventilation) in 
the Building Regulations 2000 when deciding on the level and type of activity proposed in 
the premises. 

 

Policy LA 4: Premises Licence – Noise control to suit late night trading  

The Authority may, in response to Representations, apply conditions on noise control that 
suit the licensing hours for premises in areas that include residential accommodation. 

Addressing local concerns 

7.3.12 Noise nuisance can adversely affect residents living near to licensed premises or 
business premises in their vicinity if measures taken to deal with noise are 
inadequate.  Management logging of complaints and adoption of procedures for 
overcoming reported problems will assist with the prevention of public nuisance and 
the prevention of crime and disorder.  Sight of the complaints log will also provide the 
Authority with information necessary to assess the effectiveness of the management 
of the premises with regard to the licensing objectives. 

 

Policy LA 5: Premises Licence – Addressing local concerns 

The Authority suggests applicants might wish to address how Interested Parties may raise 
matters of concern directly with those responsible for managing the premises and how 
those matters will be effectively addressed. 

General Management and Control 

7.3.13 The scope of activities to be undertaken at a licensed venue must be considered in 
full and an overall plan for minimising crime and disorder should be in place, taking 
into account policies expressed in this statement.  The Authority consider that 
consistency and stability management is a key issue in effective control of premises.  
Specifically the licence applicant should, if relevant to the business, consider the co-
ordination of  

• admission control/queue management 

• role of door staff 

• roles of persons on duty and in charge of the premises 

• intervention protocols to address issues of safety/disorder and how and when 
police or other agencies will be called to the venue 

• the proper operation of dispersal policies 
 

Policy LA 6: Management and Control 

Applicants for premises licences should be able to demonstrate that crime and disorder 
issues which might arise from licensed activities have been addressed and co-ordinated 
management structure is in place to address any issues identified. 

 
 

Special Effects 

7.3.14 The Authority expects those applicants who propose to provide Regulated 
Entertainment and to use special effects, to adequately address the implications of 
risk assessments in their operating schedules and so ensure that public safety is not 
adversely affected.  

7.3.15 Regulated Entertainment can involve special effects such as: 

(a) dry ice machines - cryogenic fog; 

(b) smoke machines - fog generators; 

(c) pyrotechnics including fireworks; 

Page 99



- 22 - 

(d) real flame; 

(e) firearms; 

(f) motor vehicles; 

(g) strobe lighting; 

(h) lasers; 

(i) explosives and highly inflammable substances. 
 

Policy LA 8: Premises Licence – Special Effects  

The Authority expects that a proper risk assessment2 must be undertaken where any 
regulated entertainment is proposed that potentially involves danger to the audience or 
performers.   

The organiser should take appropriate measures that are designed to ensure that the risk is 
effectively removed.  

 

Policy LA 9: Premises Licence – Hypnotism  

Hypnotism can affect the safety of persons present at events where they form part of the 
entertainment. The Authority would normally expect that an exhibition, demonstration or 
performance of Hypnotism (as defined in Section 6 of the Hypnotism Act 1952) shall not be 
given unless a written procedure has been provided with an application setting out the 
manner in which such exhibitions, demonstrations or performances are to be given and this 
is satisfactory to the Authority. A Risk assessment should also accompany the application 
and conform to Home Office model conditions.  

Sanitary Accommodation  

7.3.16 The Authority expects licensed premises to provide sanitary accommodation for both 
male and female customers, commensurate with the scale of the licensable activity 
planned for the premises.  This is to promote public safety and to minimise public 
nuisance caused by departing customers urinating in public places, as convenient 
alternative facilities may not be available when customers leave. 

7.3.17 Recommended levels of provision have been expressed in guidance issued by the 
BSI (BS 6465).   

7.3.18 Local Authorities can require provision of sanitary accommodation at premises 
providing entertainment, under S20 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.  However, it would be preferable for applicants to make the 
necessary arrangements voluntarily in accordance with the BSI Standard.   

 

Policy LA 10: Premises Licence – Sanitary Accommodation  

The Authority encourages premises to provide adequate and convenient sanitary 
accommodation to suit the needs and numbers of its customers, commensurate with the 
licensable activities proposed. 

Discounting and drinks promotions – Mandatory Conditions 

7.3.19 Section 32 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 amended the Licensing Act 2003 to 
create an enabling power that allows the Secretary of State to set out (in secondary 
legislation) mandatory licence conditions relating to the supply of alcohol for all new 
and existing premises licences and all new and existing club premises certificates.  

7.3.20 Since 6 April 2010 where premises are licensed to sell alcohol certain mandatory 
conditions relating to drinks promotions are now in place. These will :- 

 

• Ban irresponsible promotions; 

• Ban the dispensing of alcohol directly into the mouth; and 

                                            
2
 See HSE booklet “Five steps to risk assessment” (www.hsebooks.co.uk ) 

Page 100



- 23 - 

• Ensure that customers have access to free tap water so that they can space out 
their drinks and not get too intoxicated too quickly. 

7.3.21 Further mandatory conditions come into force on 1 October 2010 that will:- 
  

• Require an age verification policy to be in place to prevent underage sales; and 

• Ensure that customers have the opportunity to choose small measures of beers, 
ciders, spirits and wine. 

• states that beer or cider should be supplied in ½ pint, gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25ml or 
35ml; and still wine in a glass: 125ml 

7.3.22 The Home Office (www.homeoffice.gov.uk ) have provided some very helpful 
guidance explaining the conditions further and giving examples of the types of 
promotions that will be banned. They have produced two documents which offer more 
guidance. 
 

“Selling Alcohol Responsibly: the new mandatory licensing conditions” 
explains the conditions and gives answers to some Frequently Asked Questions. 
 

“Selling Alcohol Responsibly: good practice examples from the alcohol retail 
and hospitality industries” gives an overview of the types of initiatives that licence 
holders can use to improve standards of operation within the licensing regime. 

7.3.23 The Local Authority cannot advise you on what constitutes an “irresponsible 
promotion”. You should access the Home Office Guidance and obtain your own 
independent or legal advice. 

7.4 Club Premises Certificates 

7.4.1 The Government has emphasised that non-profit making clubs have made an 
important and traditional contribution to the life of many communities in England and 
Wales and bring significant benefits.  Their activities also take place on private 
premises and they operate under codes of discipline applying to members and their 
families.  In determining what conditions should be included in certificates, the 
Authority will bear these matters in mind and conditions will not be attached unless 
they can be demonstrated to be strictly necessary. 

Qualifying Conditions 

7.4.2 Section 61 of the 2003 Act sets out five general qualifying conditions that a qualifying 
club must meet.  Section 62 also sets out specified matters for Licensing Authorities 
to enable them to determine whether a club is established and conducted in good 
faith - the third qualifying condition.  Section 63 sets out additional qualifying 
conditions that apply solely to clubs intending to supply alcohol to members and 
guests. 

 

Policy LA 11: Club Premises Certificates – Club qualifying conditions  

The Authority will require applicants to provide copies of the Club’s Constitution and Rules 
for it to be able to determine whether the club is established and conducted in good faith as 
a club.  This information must accompany the application. 

Operating schedule 

7.4.3 The range of issues that should be addressed in operating schedules will be 
premises-specific, but may include the issues listed in guidance to applicants for Club 
Premises Certificates and the ‘OS’ series of Policies within this document. 

 

Policy LA 12: Club Premises Certificates – Scope of the operating schedule 

Where an applicant is required to provide an operating schedule, the Authority expects this 
to address the four licensing objectives through a comprehensive range of issues 
applicable to the location and activities proposed at the club premises.  

Page 101



- 24 - 

Film and theatrical performances 

7.4.4 The Authority may require the display of appropriate notices and restrictions on the 
entry of children, if performances include material that is not suitable for minors. 

7.4.5 Where there is to be an exhibition of a film or a theatrical performance is to take place 
on club premises, applicants should refer to the “CH” series of policies set out in this 
policy statement. 

7.4.6 The Authority requires that where a special theatrical performance for children takes 
place in Club Premises then the Authority will require the presence of sufficient adults 
to control the access and egress of the children and ensure their safety.  Such 
numbers of adults should be agreed with the Authority before the performance takes 
place.  

7.4.7 The Authority requires that a restriction on admission is applied in any case where a 
theatrical performance contains material which can be regarded as suitable for an 
adult audience only. 

 

Policy LA 13: Club Premises Certificates – Film or Theatrical Performances 

The Authority will require clubs to display appropriate notices about any restrictions on 
admission to film or theatrical performances and ensure that these do not take place in 
areas other than where they can be restricted to a particular audience when necessary. 

Sex equality in clubs 

7.4.8 The Authority recognises that equal treatment for men and women is not a licensing 
objective.  

 

Policy LA 14: Club Premises Certificates – Sex Equality  

The Authority will not impose conditions that interfere with the arrangements for granting 
membership or voting within the club. 

7.5 Particular premises and activities 

Pubs, Restaurants, Hotels, Guest Houses 

7.5.1 The licensable activities in pubs, restaurants, hotels and guest houses are likely to 
require minimal conditions, provided they only undertake the sale of alcohol, or sale 
of alcohol with a meal. 

7.5.2 The Authority expects those responsible for managing licensed premises to prevent 
public nuisance by ensuring that licensable activities likely to affect third parties are 
contained and properly managed.  

7.5.3 Requests are often made for tables and chairs to be placed outside premises for the 
use of customers. The Authority has a Policy for placing tables/chairs on footways 
and applicants should gain approval under this Policy if they wish to use tables and chairs in 
this manner. 

 

Policy PP 1: Premises Licence – Pubs, Pub/Restaurants, Restaurants, Hotels, Guest 
Houses 

The Authority normally expects applicants to ensure that licensable activities only take 
place within the curtilage of the premises.  

In pursuing family friendly environments for such establishments, the Authority expects 
applicants to ensure that the use of pub gardens and similar areas will not cause a public 
nuisance to nearby residents and expects applicants to demonstrate that they will 
appropriately manage activities in such areas.  The Authority may exclude or limit 
licensable activities from outside areas at appropriate times or in appropriate circumstances 
in response to Representations.   

Page 102



- 25 - 

High Volume Vertical Drinking Establishments  

7.5.4 High Volume Vertical Drinking establishments (HVVDs) are premises with 
exceptionally high capacities, used primarily or exclusively for the sale and 
consumption of alcohol with little or no seating for patrons. A comprehensive review 
of the research conducted in the last twenty-five years into alcohol and crime and its 
relationship to licensed premises shows that the environment within such 
establishments can have a significant bearing on the likelihood of crime and disorder 
arising on the premises. 

7.5.5 The Authority considers that this research shows that HVVDs do not further the 
licensing objectives and are consequently undesirable.  

7.5.6 The research indicates that the key points on preventing crime and disorder include:  

(a) controlling the capacity to prevent overcrowding and frustration to customers;  

(b) ensuring adequate seating for customers; and  

(c) ensuring the provision of door security teams at the premises to control capacity 
and ensure already drunk or disorderly individuals are not admitted.  

 

Policy PP 2: High Volume Vertical Drinking Establishments (HVVDs) 

Where necessary and appropriate, the Authority will attach conditions to Premises Licences 
for HVVDs and similar premises (if not volunteered by the venue operator and following 
appropriate Representations) which require adherence to:  

(a) a prescribed capacity;  
(b) an appropriate ratio of tables and chairs to customers based on the capacity; & 
(c) the presence of SIA registered security teams to control entry for the purpose of 

compliance with the capacity and good order. 

Internet Sales, Mail Order & Home Deliveries 

7.5.7 A premises licence is not required if the contract for the sale of alcohol is made in a 
different place from that where the alcohol is assigned to the particular purchasers.  
With regard to internet & mail order sales, the sale of alcohol will not be regarded as 
having been made where the contact of sale has been made; this sale is treated as 
being made at the premises from which the alcohol is assigned to the purchaser.  
This may differ with Home deliveries if the alcohol is being stored where sales are 
taking place. However the Council will carefully consider the distance selling supply 
chain in deciding where the alcohol is appropriated to the contact. 

Designated sports grounds 

7.5.8 The Authority expects organisers of sporting events to make appropriate 
arrangements to limit the possibility of crowd disturbance within sports stadiums and 
to take steps to minimise the incidence of public nuisance within the vicinity of 
stadiums in accordance with licensing objectives to prevent crime, disorder and public 
nuisance. 

7.5.9 Issues of disorder among, or safety of, spectators can arise at sporting events and 
crowd control in and around grounds can be affected where licensable activities such 
as the sale of alcohol take place. 

 

Policy PP 3: Designated Sports Grounds, Designated Sports Events and Outdoor 
Sports Stadiums 

Subject to Representations from the Police the Authority may seek to restrict sales of 
alcohol at sporting events to specific areas of the venue, to times set relative to particular 
performances or events, or to set times and may require different arrangements for public 
and private areas. 

Page 103



- 26 - 

Garages and Service Areas 

7.5.10 Section 176 of the 2003 Act provides for a general prohibition on the sale of alcohol at 
motorway service areas and garage forecourts.  The Government may, by order, alter 
the description of premises from which alcohol may be sold. 

7.5.11 The 2003 Act largely maintains the situation in previous legislation which has allowed 
the sale of alcohol to develop in line with the range of goods available from garage 
shops as is now commonplace.  Accordingly where proper facilities are provided in 
the form of a shop at a garage, the Authority does not propose to preclude sales of 
alcohol within the range of goods available. 

 
 

Policy PP 4: Garages and Service Areas 

The Authority will apply no general restriction on the sale of alcohol from garage shops that 
also offer a substantial range of groceries for sale. 

In order to establish that premises are not primarily used as a garage, which would prevent 
the sale of alcohol, an applicant will need to show the intensity of use by customers at the 
premises.  This may be evidenced by lists of customers according to usage, or by sales 
figures classified according to purchases. 

This policy does not amend the prohibition of alcohol sales at motorway service areas. 

Vessels (boats) 

7.5.12 When licensing vessels, the Authority will consider the conduct of the proposed 
licensable activities in the context of the licensing objectives.  In particular it will 
address the need for adequate control of licensable activities to further the public 
safety objective and to prevent public nuisance to residents in the vicinity of the 
vessel’s navigational route. An activity is not a licensable activity if it takes place 
aboard vessels engaged on an international journey. 

7.5.13 The Authority will not be concerned with the safety of the vessel for carriage of 
passengers, or issues concerning the safe navigation of the vessel.  These are 
matters dealt with under other legislation. 

 

Policy PP 5: Vessels – Safety 

The Authority requires the normal safety measures for a vessel to be supplemented as 
appropriate to suit the scale, nature and timing of any licensable activities that occur.   In 
considering such matters, the Authority may consult with the Environment Agency or any 
other Authority with responsibility for the safety of vessels. 

 

Policy PP 6: Vessels – Noise 

Noise or other public nuisance, resulting from licensable activities on board a vessel, must 
not be caused to persons living near to a vessel’s berth or along the route of its navigation.  
Furthermore, in response to a Representation, the Authority may require that specialist 
supervision in the form of SIA registered door staff or safety attendants is arranged in 
connection with any regulated entertainment which takes place on board. 

Vehicles and Moveable Structures 

7.5.14 Alcohol may not be sold on a moving vehicle but there may be a requirement for sale 
of alcohol and possibly other licensable activities to take place from a stationary 
vehicle or structure, for example one that is sited temporarily at an event. 

7.5.15 Where a Premises Licence is required for the vehicle or structure, this will relate 
solely to the place where the vehicle is sited and the licensable activities are to take 
place.  Premises licences for vehicles and moveable structure are therefore required 
wherever they are sited when licensable activities take place and this may well mean 
applications to more than one Licensing Authority. 

Page 104



- 27 - 

7.5.16 The operator of a vehicle trading in a ‘consent street’ will continue to require a street 
trading consent in addition to any Premises Licence and the conditions attached to 
the street trading consent will continue to apply.  Such conditions will normally be 
equally relevant to vehicles trading in areas where street trading consents are not 
required. Full details of the Authority’s street trading policy can be obtained from the 
Licensing Team. 

 

Policy PP 7: Vehicles and Moveable Structures 

The Authority requires the operator of any vehicle or moveable structure to ensure that it is 
located in an area that is appropriate for the proposed licensable activities.   

It may not be appropriate to site any such vehicle or structure near to other licensed 
premises, or in an area subject to an “Alcohol Consumption in Designated Public Places 
Order” or where it may cause noxious smells or litter problems if operating between 23.00 
and 05.00 hours. 

Late night refreshment  

7.5.17 The 2003 Act requires that premises selling hot food or drink for consumption by 
members of the public on or off the premises, between the hours of 23.00 and 05.00 
must have a Premises Licence.   

7.5.18 Such premises include those dedicated to providing this service, restaurants (not only 
those that offer take-away facilities) and mobile vans trading during these hours.   

 

Policy PP 8: Late Night Refreshment Vehicles – outside consent streets  

The Authority will seek to apply the conditions that apply to vehicles under street trading 
consents to the Premises Licences for vehicles or structures that provide late night 
refreshment in areas that are not consent streets. 

No Premises Licence is valid for a vehicle within an area prohibited to street trading. 

7.5.19 Premises engaged in the late night provision of hot food and drink are covered by the 
2003 Act to enable appropriate controls to be introduced to reduce the incidence of 
disorder, disturbance and public nuisance that can arise if these venues become the 
focus for gatherings of people that have come from other venues and may have been 
consuming alcohol. 

7.5.20 Management of late night refreshment venues needs to be undertaken effectively to 
assist in preventing crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour and public nuisance.  

 

Policy PP 9: Late Night Refreshment 

The Authority will look carefully at the scope of operation intended for late night refreshment 
premises.  The Authority particularly expects applicants to address issues such as: 

(a) Hours of operation, to prevent public nuisance to any nearby residents, or 
problems of noxious smells and anti social behaviour 

(b) Supervision of queues and the management of large numbers of clientele 
descending on the premises at certain times - this could include door 
supervision to control surges of customers where this may occur 

(c) Layout of the premises to cope with patrons e.g. position of counters, entrances 
and exits 

(d) Litter control and environmental activities, such as litter picking, provision of 
litter and recycling bins, street sweeping/washing 

(e) CCTV 
(f) Public Safety, including the type of power supply to be used where the 

application is for a trading vehicle. 

The Authority expects premises licensed for late night refreshment to have regard to the 
“Voluntary Code of Practice for the Fast Food Industry (DEFRA Oct 2003). 
http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/local/litter/documents/fastfoodcop.pdf 

 

Page 105



- 28 - 

Policy PP 10: Take-away food outlets – alcohol sales 

The Authority would be concerned about applications for the sale of alcohol from premises 
where the primary activity during the hours 23.00 to 05.00 is the provision of take-away 
food unless it can be clearly shown that there will be no contribution to crime or disorder. 

Supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises 

7.5.21 It is not the Authority's policy generally to seek to restrict the sale of alcohol for 
consumption off the premises. However, where premises are relatively isolated, with 
minimal levels of staffing, this can lead to problems of anti-social behaviour or 
disorder in the vicinity of the premises.  Pressure can also be applied to staff to sell 
alcohol to persons who are under age. 

7.5.22 The following policy is intended to ensure that alcohol is sold only to those who are 
entitled to purchase it and that premises have proper checks in place to ensure that 
the restrictions are enforced, so that minors do not obtain access to alcohol which can 
lead to the creation of public nuisance or disorder. 

 

Policy PP 11: Supply of alcohol (“Off-sales”) 

For applications that include the sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises, the 
Authority will expect operating schedules to address how sales of alcohol will be confined to 
those entitled to purchase it and how the procedures will be consistently applied.  The role 
of the Designated Premises Supervisor will be pivotal in this respect.  The operating 
schedule should cover such practical issues as: 

(a) the display of prominent warning notices about the supply of alcohol to minors; 
(b) offences which adults can commit by buying alcohol for minors; and  
(c) requirements for production of satisfactory proof of age – refer to Appendix 9. 

The Authority expects that staff involved in the sale of alcohol will have had appropriate 
training in order to put the operating schedule into effect. 

Times during which alcohol may be sold will be restricted if it appears to the Authority, as a 
result of Representations, that this would promote the licensing objectives of preventing 
public nuisance, crime and disorder.   

The Authority will maintain close working relationships with both the Police and Trading 
Standards Officers who will conduct 'test purchasing' of alcohol under the 2003 Act in order 
to detect and prevent sales of alcohol to minors and to pursue prosecutions where 
appropriate. 

Safe drinking-vessels  

7.5.23 The Authority seeks to remove the risk of injury that could result from the use of 
particular types of drinks containers at particular venues, or in association with 
particular licensable activities.   

7.5.24 The risk of injury can arise not only from the deliberate misuse of glass containers 
and bottles during disturbances, but also from accidental breakage in crowded or dark 
venues and from broken glass in parks, water features and swimming pools. 

7.5.25 Where appropriate, such as where there are concerns about crime and disorder or 
public safety the Authority will require all drinks to be supplied in containers that are 
safer than traditional glasses or bottles (e.g. polycarbonate or similar, paper, plastic or 
toughened glass). 

7.5.26 Paper or plastic containers will often be appropriate, lidded if necessary.  However, in 
some circumstances it can be appropriate to prevent the use of full plastic bottles as 
weapons or missiles by confiscating the bottle-tops. 

  

Page 106



- 29 - 

Policy PP 12: Safe drinking-vessels 

In appropriate circumstances and following relevant representations, the Authority will 
require safe drinking-vessels (polycarbonate or similar) to be used wherever a material risk 
of injury might arise. 

This policy applies not only to drinking vessels and containers for alcohol, but also to 
containers for soft drinks and water including any brought to the premises by customers.   

Other potential weapons 
 

Policy PP 13: Other potential weapons 

In appropriate circumstances the Authority will require premises not to provide loose items 
that could be used as weapons, e.g. glass ashtrays, unfixed furniture. 

Large Scale and/or Outdoor events 

7.5.27 The Authority, in partnership with other Responsible Authorities in Oxfordshire has 
produced an event safety guide for large scale and outdoor events, which organisers 
will be recommended to adopt. Notwithstanding this the Authority will encourage 
organisers of such events to approach Council officers at the earliest opportunity to 
discuss the arrangements for the licensed activities involved.  This may include the 
production of an Event Management Plan.  It would normally be expected that 
reference would be made in the operating schedule to the Event Management Plan. 
The Authority will offer advice and assistance to organisers about this preparation 
through the Safety Advisory Group.  

7.5.28 In producing operating schedules and Event Management Plans for such events the 
organisers should have regard to the following documents: 

(a) The Event Safety Guide – A Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and 
similar events (HSE 1999) (The Purple Book) ISBN 9780717624539; 

(b) Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 9780717618347; 

(c) 5 Steps to Risk Assessment:  Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 
INDG163W/EREV2; 

(d) The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds 5th Edition (HMSO, 2008) (The Green 
Guide) ISBN 9780117020740 

(e) Safety Guidance for Street Arts, Carnival Procession and Large Scale 
Performances (2009) published by the Independent Street Arts Network, 
obtainable through www.streetartsnetwork.org.uk/cn/publications/index.php 

(f) Home Office guidance on drugs https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/reducing-drugs-
misuseand-dependence  

 

However, in consulting these texts, some of which were prepared prior to the coming into 
force of the Licensing Act 2003, those creating operating schedules or club operating 
schedules, Licensing Authorities and Responsible Authorities should again note that under 
no circumstances should any conditions be regarded as standard for all premises. 

7.5.29 Any individual preparing an operating schedule or club operating schedule should 
volunteer any measure, such as those described in Section 8 of this Policy document 
and in the Authorities adopted Pool of Conditions, as a step he or she intends to take.  
Such measures will become conditions of the licence/certificate, and as such, any 
breach of these conditions could give rise to prosecution. 
 

Policy PP 14: Large Scale and/or Outdoor events 

The Authority expects the organiser of a large scale or Outdoor event, except those that 
may be covered by TENs, to identify an adequate management team at an early stage and 
to designate a lead person to liaise with the Authority. 

Page 107



- 30 - 

The Authority also expects a representative of the organisers of a large scale or outdoor 
event to attend planning and co-ordination meetings with Responsible Authorities and the 
Councils Safety Advisory Group. 

Sex-related entertainment  

7.5.30 The Authority is not able to control the content of adult entertainment involving 
activities such as striptease or lap-dancing through the Licensing Act 2003. However 
the Authority has adopted the provisions of Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 
2009, which will allow to regulate lap dancing clubs and similar venues under 
Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. It will be 
the responsibility of applicants to ensure they comply with the requirements of the 
Policing and Crime Act 2009.  

7.5.31 A copy of the Authority’s policy in relation to Sex Establishment Venues and guidance 
on how to apply for such a licence can be obtained from the Licensing Team. 

 

7.5.32 The Authority does not have any power to limit the scope of such activities permitted 
by a licence under the Licensing Act 2003 unless it receives relevant Representations 
about the associated application.  This applies whether or not the application relates 
to premises in the vicinity of schools, youth clubs, other premises where significant 
numbers of children attend or places of worship. 

7.5.33 Where an application includes proposals for sex-related entertainment the Authority 
will seek to ensure:- 

(a) that the entertainment does not require authorisation under the provisions of 
Schedule 3 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, or 

(b) that management of such activities will promote the licensing objective of 
protection of children from harm and that those activities are conducted in such a 
manner as to prevent disturbance, crime and disorder. 

 

Policy PP 15: Sex-related entertainment 

In response to relevant Representations, the Authority will consider whether the grant of a 
licence to include activities with a sex-related content would be inappropriate having regard 
to: 

(a) the character of the relevant locality and the use of premises in the vicinity;  
(b) the layout and character of the premises; and 
(c)      any form of advertising or promotion in connection with the premises. 

In response to relevant Representations, the Authority will apply conditions that are tailored 
to any sex-related entertainment that is permitted.  

Community Centres and Village Halls 

7.5.34 The Authority encourages all Community Centres and Village Halls to apply for 
Premises Licences to cover all expected activities, as the managers of these venues 
may find the permitted annual number of TENs too restrictive.  

7.5.35 The Legislative Reform (Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village Halls etc) 
Order 2009 amends the 2003 Act to allow certain community premises which have a 
premises licence that authorises alcohol sales to also apply to include the “the 
alternative licence condition”. The effect of the alternative licence condition will be that 
the licence holder (i.e the Management Committee of the hall) is responsible for the 
supervision and authorisation of all alcohol sales pursuant to the licence. There will 
be no requirement for a Designated Premises Supervisor or for alcohol sales to be 
authorised by a personal licence holder. 

7.5.36 If alcohol is to be supplied, the Personal Licence Holder nominated as the Designated 
Premises Supervisor need not be a member of the management committee of the 
centre or hall. Alternatively the management committee may apply for the “alternative 

Page 108



- 31 - 

licence condition” to be applied to any licence that every supply of alcohol must be 
made or authorised by the management committee. 

7.5.37 Many premises may be able to function for the purpose of carrying on licensable 
activities by using the Temporary Event Notice procedure under the Licensing Act to 
provide the facilities required. Those booking village halls for such events are 
reminded that although no formal licence is required if there is a Temporary Event 
Notice, other legislation concerning nuisance and disturbance for example still 
applies. See 7.7 for policies on Temporary Event Notices. 

 Public spaces and Council-controlled premises 

7.5.38 In places for which the Council holds a Premises Licence entertainers will be able to 
give a performance, without the need to serve TENs or to apply for individual 
Premises Licences. 

7.5.39 This approach will make it more possible for cultural diversity to thrive and will be a 
far simpler process for many types of entertainment that use numerous venues each 
year, such as circuses and street artists. However, entertainers will need to obtain the 
permission of the Council (as Premises Licence holder) and comply with any 
conditions that might be imposed.  

7.5.40 This approach may reduce the administrative burden on the Authority and ensure that 
licensable activities are encouraged in locations that the Authority considers 
appropriate and where the promotion of the licensing objectives has been previously 
considered and any potential noise nuisance can be properly managed. 

 

Policy PP 16: Public spaces and Council-controlled premises 

The Authority encourages the Council and Oxfordshire County Council to seek Premises 
Licences for the purpose of particular types of public entertainment at premises under their 
control, such as community halls, parks and public open spaces. 

7.6 Designated Premises Supervisors  

7.6.1 In order for alcohol to be sold under a Premises Licence, the licence must name a 
Designated Premises Supervisor who holds a Personal Licence unless the premises 
is a community centre or village hall and has applied for the “alternative licence 
condition as outlined in 7.5.34 above. Even though the Police may not object to the 
grant of a Personal Licence to a particular person, they may object to that person 
being named as the Designated Premises Supervisor for particular premises on 
grounds that the crime prevention objective is likely to be undermined.  The Authority 
will normally attach great importance to any objection by the Police unless there are 
substantial reasons for not doing so. 

7.6.2 In premises where alcohol is not sold, there may still be a need for swift engagement 
with a responsible person and the Authority therefore strongly recommends that a 
person is identified at all premises where licensable activities are taking place.  

7.6.3 Although the Designated Premises Supervisor has a key role in the management of 
premises, the 2003 Act does not require the Designated Premises Supervisor to be 
there. 

7.6.4 In the event of any problems, Authorised Persons will need recourse to the 
Designated Premises Supervisor who is in a pivotal position within licensed premises.  
So, the Designated Premises Supervisor must be managerially able to mobilise 
resources at the premises as necessary to assist the promotion of the licensing 
objectives.  In order to comply with the conditions of the licence, this must include the 
ability to manage the systems described in the applicant’s operating schedule. 

7.6.5 On occasions where the Designated Premises Supervisor is not available then a 
nominated competent person must be available to oversee the day to day running 

Page 109



- 32 - 

and control of the premises and to liaise with enforcement agencies, especially when 
enforcement visits are undertaken. 

7.6.6 The Authority strongly recommends that contact telephone numbers are made 
available to the Authority and Police for both routine matters and emergencies.  

 

Policy DPS 1: Designated Premises Supervisors – availability 

The Authority expects the Designated Premises Supervisor to be normally readily available 
to manage activities at the premises.  The Authority also expects the person in charge 
when the Designated Premises Supervisor is absent, to be both readily available and 
identifiable.  

However the Designated Premises Supervisor and the Premises Licence Holder remain 
responsible for the premises at all times including compliance with the terms of the 
Licensing Act and conditions attached to the premises licence to promote the licensing 
objectives. 

7.7 Temporary Event Notices and Small Events (Standard and Late) 

7.7.1 Under the 2003 Act, TENs enable licensable activities to take place outside the scope 
of a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate.  These notices can be given for 
events that last no more than 168 hours or 7 days and have less than 500 people 
present at any one time.  There are annual restrictions on how many notices one 
person may give and on the number of times the same premises can be used. 

7.7.2 By their nature, temporary events may not be as well resourced as activities 
organised under a Premises Licence, so are potentially disruptive and can cause 
problems for residents and owners of property nearby.  However, the legislative 
framework for temporary events envisages a light touch by the Authority, the Anti 
Social Behaviour Team and the Police.  Although the Police and the Anti Social 
Behaviour Team can object to a TEN and can require changes to the proposals, no 
specific approval is required provided the premises user meets the requirements of 
the 2003 Act. 

7.7.3 For a standard TEN, a minimum of 10 clear working days must be given (not 
including the day on which the application is received and not including the day of the 
event itself) to the Authority, the Anti Social Behaviour Team based at the Authority 
and the Police, but there is nothing to prevent simultaneous separate notifications of 
multiple events, provided the first event is at least 10 clear working days away. For 
practical purposes event organisers are encouraged to give as much notice as 
possible and to contact the responsible authorities about their proposals at an early 
opportunity.  

7.7.4 For a late TEN, between 5 and 9 working days is the requirement for the notice to be 
given to the Authority, Anti Social Behaviour Team and the Police.  

7.7.5 No more than 12 temporary events (standard and late combined) can be held in any 
one calendar year at particular premises and the premises themselves can be used 
for no more than 21 days in a calendar year. Premises users who hold a personal 
licence can give notice of no more then 50 temporary events to be held in any one 
calendar year, up to 10 of which may be ‘late TEN’s’. Premises users that do not hold 
a personal licence can give no more than 5 notices in any one calendar year, 2 of 
which may be ‘late TEN’s’. 

7.7.6 There will be no exceptions for late notices (less than 5 working days) whatsoever 
and any such late notifications will be deemed invalid. If the minimum period of notice 
is imminent the applicant should not rely on the postal system to assume that the 
application will be received on time. 

7.7.7 The Police and Anti Social Behaviour Team have three working days to give an 
objection to a TEN where they consider that the proposed activities will undermine a 
licensing objective. The objection notice must give reasons for the objection and must 

Page 110



- 33 - 

be given to the Authority, other relevant persons and the premises user. In the case 
of a standard TEN, where an objection is received, the Authority must hold a hearing 
to consider the matter unless all parties agree that no hearing is necessary. The 
Authority must send a counter notice to the premises user if it considers it appropriate 
for the promotion of a licensing objective. In the case of the late TEN’s, the Authority 
must issue a counter notice if objections are received from the Police or 
Environmental Health, there will not be a hearing. 

7.7.8 Where the Authority decides not to issue a counter notice, it can impose conditions on 
the TEN if it is considered appropriate for the promotion of a licensing objective, 
providing such conditions are also imposed in the premises licence or club premise 
certificate applying to the same premises (or part of the premises), and the conditions 
are consistent with the proposed licensable activities. 

 
 

Policy TEN 1: Temporary Event Notices  

To be valid, TENs must be served on the Authority, with a copy to the relevant 
Environmental Health Authority and Police Authority. 

Section relating to Small Scale events has been removed as this duplicates other sections of the 
legislation and previous wording may have confused applicants.   

7.8 Provisional Statements; New or Substantially Altered Premises 

7.8.1 Where premises are to be newly constructed, extended or substantially altered, an 
applicant who has an interest in the premises can apply for a "Provisional Statement".  
This is in addition to any planning and building-control consents that may be required.   

7.8.2 A Provisional Statement gives the applicant some assurance about the grant of a 
future application for a Premises Licence.  This may be useful if the applicant has 
insufficient information to be able to complete the operating schedule that is 
necessary for a Premises Licence application or, if alcohol sales are proposed, is 
unable to name the proposed Designated Premises Supervisor. An applicant with 
adequate information could apply, instead, for a Premises Licence at a suitable stage 
in design and construction.   

 

Policy PR1 :  Changes to provisional statements 

Where there are any changes to the proposals before a substantive licence is granted, 
these must be dealt with by way of an application for variation. 

 Once the Authority has issued a Provisional Statement, it will exclude Representations 
made about the subsequent application for a Premises Licence if, without reasonable 
excuse, substantially similar Representations could have been made about the application 
for the Provisional Statement.  However, the Authority recognises that genuine and material 
changes may arise in the intervening period and the Authority reserves the right to entertain 
Representations that reflect changed circumstances. 

A Provisional Statement may not be sought for a vessel, a vehicle or a moveable structure. 

 

7.9 Minor variation 

7.9.1 Variations to premises licences or club premises certificates that could not impact 
adversely on the licensing objectives are subject to a simplified ‘minor variation’ 
process. The applicant must display a white notice for a period of 10 working days, starting 
the on the working day after the minor variation was submitted to the Licensing Authority. The 
Licensing Authority has 15 working days from the beginning of the first working day after the 
application was received, to determine whether to grant or refuse the application. If the 
Licensing Authority fails to respond within the 15 days, the application will be treated as 
refused and the fee returned to the applicant. 

Page 111



- 34 - 

7.9.2 In considering the application, the Licensing Authority must consult relevant responsible 
authorities and take their views into account in reaching a decision.  

7.9.3 Minor variations will generally fall into four categories; minor changes to the structure 
or layout of premises; small adjustments to licensing hours; the removal of out of 
date, relevant or unenforceable conditions or addition of volunteer conditions; and the 
addition of certain licensable activities. In all case the overall testis whether the proposed 
variation could impact adversely on any of the four licensing objectives 

 

Policy PR2 :  Minor Variations 
Where a premises licence holder or a club premises certificate holder wishes to amend the licence 
the 2003 Act allows a minor variation if the variation does not adversely impact any of the 4 licensing 

objectives. 

8 Operating schedules  

8.1 General 

8.1.1 The operating schedule is a key document and, if prepared comprehensively, will 
form the basis on which premises can be licensed without the need for additional 
extensive conditions. 

8.1.2 The Authority expects an operating schedule to indicate the steps that the applicant 
proposes to promote the licensing objectives.  It is particularly important that the 
operating schedules for appropriate premises should be precise and clear about 
measures that the management proposes to take to meet the licensing objectives. 

8.1.3 The following policies are expressed as being relevant to appropriate premises and 
applicants should have regard to them when preparing their Operating Schedules.  
They are included to assist applicants in their consideration of how to best to meet the 
licensing objectives and in doing so may avoid representations being made by 
Responsible Authorities that may otherwise result in a hearing. 

8.2 Safety 

8.2.1 Safety within premises to which the public are admitted is of fundamental concern 
and is therefore one of the licensing objectives.  All these policies are designed to 
ensure that the objective is promoted as appropriate to the premises. 

8.2.2 There are two aspects to safety to take into account, one being the form of 
construction of the premises, the other being the way in which the patrons are 
managed once in the premises. 

8.2.3 The Authority will expect the premises to be constructed to the appropriate standards 
for the uses to which it is to be put.  It expects applicants to have regard to the 
requirements of Health and Safety at Work and Fire Safety legislation.  Where 
appropriate, applied standards set out in any technical guidance for construction of 
buildings for a particular purpose should also be met. 

 

Policy OS 1: Operating schedule – Safety 

Those preparing operating schedules and Responsible Authorities should consider: 
(a) Model National and Standard Conditions for Places of Public Entertainment and 

Associated Guidance (2001) ISBN 1 904031 11 0 (Entertainment Technology 
Press - ABTT Publications). 

(b) The Event Safety Guide – A Guide to Health, Safety and Welfare at Music and 
similar events (HSE 1999) (The Purple Book) ISBN 9780717624539 

(c) Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 9780717618347 
(d) 5 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 

INDG163W/EREV2 
(e) Guide to Fire Precautions in Existing Places of Entertainment and Like 

Page 112



- 35 - 

Premises (Yellow Guide) 6th Impression (2000) HMSO ISBN 9780113409075 
(f) advice from the Fire Officer/Building Control 
(g)  Fire Safety Rick Assessment – Open Air Venues ISBN 9781851128235 

 

Policy OS 2: Operating schedule – Premises Management and maintenance 

The Authority would normally expect operating schedules to detail how premises will be 
properly managed and maintained at all times in relation to the Licensing objectives. 

Applicants may wish to include a statement in any operating schedule that the management 
structures will be such as those that may reasonably be agreed with the Licensing Authority 
form time to time and deal with the variety of activities taking place on the licensed 
premises on different days, at different times and in different parts of the premises at the 
same time. 

 

Policy OS 3: Operating schedule – Log book 

The Authority would normally expect the managers of appropriate premises to maintain a 
log of activities for the premises that records the details of the manager and staff and the 
times that they are on duty, with details of incidents such as where people have been 
refused admission or have been ejected from the premises. 

 

Policy OS 4: Operating schedule – Structural safety 

Part of the building structure may involve suspended structures or other special features 
that contribute to the entertainment or facilities for enjoyment of the premises.  The 
Authority may want to be assured that in any particular case, checks on equipment or 
facilities have been carried out and that the necessary evidence of the checks is retained by 
the Licensee.  

 

Policy OS 5: Operating schedule – Occupancy limits 

The Authority would normally expect the operating schedule for each of the following types 
of premises to state the occupancy limits: 

(a) cinemas; 
(b) theatres; 
(c) any premises where regulated entertainment is to be provided; 
(d) any other premises, on the advice of a Responsible Authority where there are 

particular reasons to do so. 

The Authority expects the operating schedule to state the occupancy limits of each floor of 
such premises and, where appropriate, separate areas on each floor, or under different 
operating conditions. 

 

 

Policy OS 6: Operating schedule – Premises Access and Egress by Persons with 
Disabilities 

The Authority envisages reasonable facilities and access being provided for people with 
disabilities.  Details of the Disabled Access Statement should be forwarded to enable the 
Fire Authority to comment upon the extent to which the evacuation plans for such persons 
is considered to be suitable and sufficient in the particular circumstances of the premises. 

 

Policy OS 7: Operating schedule – Fire precautions 

The Authority expects the operating schedule to indicate that the premises fully comply with 
the requirements of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

 

Policy OS 8: Operating schedule – First aid requirements 

For appropriate premises, the Authority expects to see a risk assessment that identifies the 
measures that will be taken to deal with the first aid requirements.  This will be most 
relevant to premises where regulated entertainment is provided for large numbers of 
persons or for prolonged periods and designated first aid areas may be required at 
appropriate premises. 

Page 113



- 36 - 

The Authority expects that anyone designated as a first-aider should be trained to an 
appropriate standard. 

 

Policy OS 9: Operating schedule – Free drinking water  

A mandatory condition requires that free tap water is available on request where it is 
reasonably available. 

 

Policy OS 10: Operating schedule – Smoke Free Premises  

The Authority expects operating schedules to detail how premises will be able to comply 
with the Health Act 2006 without compromising any of the four objectives.  

Applicants may wish to include additional plans to highlight any smoking areas they 
propose to use. 

8.3 CCTV 

8.3.1 The Authority seeks to further the licensing objective of prevention of crime and 
disorder through greater use of CCTV in licensed premises, as appropriate to the 
scale and type of licensable activities proposed.  CCTV is in wide use in public areas 
and has been successful in bearing down on crime and disorder.  CCTV has also 
been in use in nightclubs to complement the CCTV system in public areas and to 
record information for use in dealing with incidents in clubs.  

 

Policy OS 12: Operating schedule – CCTV  

For appropriate premises, the Authority requires the use of CCTV equipment to capture 
images of appropriate quality, location and frequency.  The Authority expects applicants for 
licences for such premises to demonstrate in their operating schedules that the installation 
and operational procedures for the equipment at the premises will comply to the highest 
standards and satisfy the requirements of Thames Valley Police  

8.4 Drug control 

8.4.1 The Authority seeks to minimise the availability of controlled and/illegal drugs in 
furtherance of the public safety and crime and disorder objective. The Authority 
therefore expects venues to have a comprehensive management approach to 
eliminating drug use and possession.   

8.4.2 There are many indications that an increasing number of people are taking illegal 
drugs and are using a wider range than ever before.  This is particularly true of what 
are often referred to as ‘recreational drugs’.  Their use, sometimes in places where 
entertainment is taking place, has led to fatalities. 

8.4.3 The Authority will actively seek ways in which it can assist in promotional initiatives to 
highlight the hazards of drug and alcohol abuse. 

8.4.4 For those venues where drug misuse is an identified risk, measures need to be taken 
to combat supply, use and the effects of any use. There is advice available about how 
to control and mitigate the effect of drug-taking, which is relevant for entertainment 
venues in general and venues which provide intensive dancing, such as 'nightclubs', 
in particular. 

 

Policy OS 13: Operating schedule – Drugs 

The Authority expects licensees, of venues where there is a risk of drug-taking, to take all 
appropriate steps to prevent drugs from being brought onto the premises and from being 
traded within the premises, in addition to implementing measures to prevent tragedies as a 
result of any drug misuse. 

The Authority requires licensees of premises that hold prolonged dance events, whether 
regularly, intermittently or as single events, to produce a drug policy statement.  

Page 114



- 37 - 

The Authority expects the operating schedule to show how the whole management 
structure of the venue is trained and organised to follow the measures agreed for the venue 
to minimise use of drugs. 

Premises that hold prolonged dance events are likely to be required to have SIA registered 
door staff on duty, so the drugs policy statement for the premises should be explicit about 
how the door staff will participate in systems to minimise drug use.  In particular, the 
Authority expects such policies to include clear statements of the procedures for searching 
customers as a condition of entry. 

In appropriate cases and on receipt of relevant representations the Authority will consider 
attaching, to the Premises Licence, conditions that are based upon recommendations 
detailed in approved guidance on drugs. 

8.5 Door supervisors 

8.5.1 The Authority supports the pro-active use of trained and registered door staff as part 
of the operational management of some types of premises, because this can reduce 
the risk of crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour occurring,  

8.5.2 A Premises Licence that provides for the presence of door supervisors will include a 
mandatory condition that such door supervisors must be either registered by the 
Security Industry Authority (SIA) or part of the SIA Approved Contractor Scheme 
(ACS). 

8.5.3 The ACS is the mechanism by which the SIA implements the requirements of the 
Security Industry Act 2001 as it applied to companies.  The purpose of the ACS is to 
“raise performance standards and to assist the private security industry in developing 
new opportunities “. It aims to achieve this by putting in place a system of inspection 
for providers of security services.  Certification Bodies, like SSAIB, will undertake the 
inspection activities on behalf of the SIA to ensure that companies who achieve the 
required standard can be registered as approved. 

 

Policy OS 14: Operating schedule – Door Supervisors  

The Authority may require Premises holding regulated entertainment that continues beyond 
midnight to employ door supervisors in furtherance of the licensing objectives unless it is 
shown to be unnecessary. 

In addition to the SIA requirements for registration, the Authority would normally expect 
door supervisors to comply with the requirements of the “Thames Valley Door Safe” code of 
conduct whilst they are on duty.   

Where appropriate, the Authority will attach conditions to Premises Licences about the 
minimum numbers of male and female door supervisors on duty and their roles, which will 
reflect the layout of the premises, the location, the type of entertainment or function 
provided and the periods when regulated entertainment normally takes place. 

Where a Representation has been made, the Authority may require premises to use door 
supervisors for particular types of regulated entertainment, which might potentially provoke 
disorder (e.g. broadcasts of sporting tournaments in pubs) and special promotional events 
in which the sale of alcohol is significant. 

At premises that have regular entertainment or where special events are taking place, other 
attendants who do not engage in security activities, may be required to supervise areas 
within the premises. 

The Authority expects door supervisors and other staff undertaking security or supervisory 
duties to be readily identifiable by members of the public and where appropriate to wear 
high visibility clothing. 

Page 115



- 38 - 

8.6 Pub-watch & Nightsafe schemes 

8.6.1 Pub-watch & Nightsafe schemes are a pro-active means of promoting the licensing 
objectives.  They support the exchange of information and collective agreement on 
persons being excluded from premises because of anti-social or disruptive behaviour. 

8.6.2 Responsible managers of appropriate licensed premises will wish to actively 
participate in such schemes, several of which are in operation in the Authority’s area.  

 

Policy OS 15: Operating schedule – 'Pub-watch & Nightsafe' Schemes 

The Authority would normally expect that all premises licensed to sell alcohol will participate 
in a Pub-watch and/or Nightsafe scheme, where there is one in place and to become part of 
the alert system(s) that Pub-watch and/or Nightsafe schemes may implement to alert 
members about potential troublemakers. 

8.7 Drinks promotions 

8.7.1 The Authority has concern about the potential for crime and disorder and public 
nuisance that might arise from sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises 
through discounts or special sales promotions.  New Mandatory Conditions now 
require premises licence holders and club premises certificate holders to be able to 
demonstrate that they have taken all reasonable steps to ensure that staff do not 
carry out, arrange or participate in, any irresponsible promotions. Further details can 
be found at Section 7.3.19 of this document. Applicants will need to demonstrate how 
they intend to achieve this in their operating schedules. The Authority does not wish 
to deny consumers the opportunity to participate in responsible promotions, but in 
response to relevant Representations, will restrict activities where it appears that such 
sales are inadequately supervised, the discounts encourage excessive consumption 
by individuals, or the period of the promotion too long. 

8.7.2 Policy OS 16 enables the Authority to consider circumstances where drinks 
promotions are a regular feature for particular premises and to enable the Police and 
Authority to consider whether these promotions breach the mandatory condition 
and/or whether adequate controls are in place to limit or prevent disorder that may 
result.    

 

Policy OS 16: Operating schedule – Discounting and sales promotions 

The Authority expects any discounted drinks and sales promotions to be properly managed 
and take into account the “Good Practice Guide on Point of Sale Promotions” issued by the 
British Beer and Pub Association. 

The Authority supports measures to promote sensible drinking including a commitment not 
to participate in drink promotions / happy hours etc, which encourage binge drinking. 
Premises licences are likely to be subject to review where they have lead to any of the 
licensing objectives being undermined. Licence holders should not only consider the price 
of the alcohol sold on the premises but also in the manner in which it is promoted. 

The Authority expects applicants to include in their operating schedules any proposals for 
discounting or sales promotions of alcohol and to provide the Authority with written 
procedures detailing how such promotions will be managed in order to further the licensing 
objectives, giving particular attention to any increased supervision that may be required on 
such occasions. 

8.8 Public Nuisance 

8.8.1 The Authority has concern about the potential for public nuisance that might arise 
from the use of outside areas.  The Authority does not wish to deny consumers or 
premises the opportunity to use such areas, but in response to relevant 
Representations, conditions may be applied restricting the use of outside areas in 
order to promote the licensing objectives. 

Page 116



- 39 - 

8.8.2 Fly posting and littering, as a direct result of promoting a licensed premises or event, 
can lead to failure to promote the public nuisance objective. The Authority would 
expect measure to be taken to prevent such occurrences. 

 

Policy OS 17: Operating schedule – Public Nuisance Noise      

In considering applications, the Responsible Authority would recommend evidence that the 
likelihood of public nuisance has been addressed for the premises.  The use of outside 
areas can potentially cause public nuisance particularly during quieter periods of the day 
when background noise has diminished.  It is anticipated that the Responsible Authority 
may on occasions request that the operating schedule address measures such as 
restricting the use of certain areas of the premises e.g. garden area 

 

Policy OS 18: Operating schedule – Public Nuisance Fly Posting and Littering 

The Responsible Authority would normally expect provisions to be made to prevent fly 
posting and distribution of flyers.  We would expect within your operating schedule details of 
how promotions and special events will be publicised 

9 Other legislation and controls 

9.1 Other legislation  

9.1.1 The Secretary of State’s Guidance proposes that policy statements should provide 
information on other relevant legislation and controls that apply to licensed premises.  
This is because the regulatory framework of the 2003 Act will not control all matters 
that are likely to arouse concern in connection with the operation of licensed 
premises, including the behaviour of persons away from the immediate vicinity of 
licensed premises. 

9.1.2 Other legislation relevant to licensed premises is as follows: 

Planning 

9.1.3 Planning controls are covered above in paragraph 2.8 and Policy GN 8. 

Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003 

9.1.4 Section 40 of the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003 allows the Council’s Chief Executive 
to make a Closure Order against a premises if he reasonably believes that a public 
nuisance is being caused by noise coming from the premises and it is necessary to 
close the premises to prevent it.  This applies to premises where there is a Premises 
Licence or a TEN. 

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

9.1.5 This Order reforms the law relating to fire safety in non-domestic premises.  It         
replaces fire certification under the Fire Precautions Act 1971 with a general duty to 
ensure, so far as is reasonably practicable, the safety of employees, a general duty, 
in relation to non employees to take such fire precautions as may reasonably  be 
required in the circumstances to ensure that premises are safe and a duty to carry out 
a risk assessment.  The Order imposes a number of specific duties in relation to the 
fire precautions to be taken. 

Smoke Free Premises as defined under the Health Act 2006. 

9.1.6 Smoke Free Premises came into effect on 1st July 2007 under the Health Act 2006. 
The legislation is aimed at ensuring a healthy environment, so everyone can 
socialise, relax, travel, shop and work free from second-hand smoke. 

Page 117



- 40 - 

Disability Discrimination Act 1995 

9.1.7 The Disability Discrimination Act 1995 came into effect in October 2004 and includes 
widespread responsibilities not to treat people with disabilities in a less advantageous 
way than other people. 

9.1.8 The Authority will not seek to duplicate the requirements of the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995 however, in response to representations; the Authority may 
apply conditions where necessary to ensure the equal treatment of people with 
disabilities where they coincide with licensing objectives providing that there is no 
duplication of a statutory provision. 

Race Relations Act 1976 (As Amended) 

9.1.9 This places a legal obligation on public authorities to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination; and to promote equality of opportunity and good 
relations between persons of different racial groups. 

Amusement with prizes machines (AWP Machines) Alcohol Licensed Premises 
gaming machine permits. 

9.1.10 The grant of gaming machine permits is granted under Gambling Act 2005 by the 
Authority.  Premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premise, can 
automatically have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The holder of 
the premises licence authorising the sale of alcohol will simply notify the Council, and 
pay the prescribed fee.  If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then 
the holder of the premises licence will need to apply for a permit and pay the 
prescribed fee.  

9.1.11 The Council will accept applications for permits for AWP machines in licensable 
premises only from the holders, or prospective holders, of Premises Licences and 
Club Premises Certificates.  

Censorship 

9.1.12 The content of regulated entertainment is a matter that is already addressed by other 
laws governing indecency and obscenity. 

9.1.13 The Authority will not seek to impose conditions that censor the content of any film or 
play in a way that cannot be related to the licensing objectives.  Where the concern is 
about protecting children, their access will be restricted.  

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

9.1.14 Amongst other matters this addresses the issue of prohibited streets and consent 
streets in relation to street trading. 

Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

9.1.15 The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, also referred to as HASAW or HSW, is the 
primary piece of legislation covering occupational health and safety in the United 
Kingdom. The Health and Safety Executive is responsible for enforcing the Act and a 
number of other Acts and Statutory Instruments relevant to the working environment. 

Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 

9.1.16 This is the main piece of legislation covering drugs and categorizes drugs as class A, 
B and C. Offences under the Act include 

• Possession of a controlled substance unlawfully 

• Possession of a controlled substance with intent to supply it 

• Supplying or offering to supply a controlled drug (even where no charge is made 
for the drug) 

Page 118



- 41 - 

• Allowing premises you occupy or manage to be used unlawfully for the purpose 
of producing or supplying controlled drugs 

9.2 Other Controls  

9.2.1 The Licensing regime for premises and personal licence holders does not provide a 
means for dealing with all issues that may arise as a result of the operation of 
licensed premises.  The Authority recognises that other controls, initiatives and 
legislation are available in promoting the licensing objectives and will support these 
wherever possible these include: 

• Police enforcement of legislation concerning disorder and anti-social behaviour. 

• powers of Local Authorities to designate parts of their area as places where 
public consumption of alcohol may be controlled.  There are two such areas in 
the District in part of Bicester Town Centre and in Banbury; 

• prosecution of any Personal Licence holder or member of staff at premises, who 
is selling alcohol to a person who is drunk; 

• test-purchasing to check on sale of alcohol to under-18s; 

• litter legislation; 

• confiscation of alcohol from anyone in designated areas and from persons under 
18 in any public place; 

• positive measures to create safe and clean town centre environment in 
partnership with transport operators, local businesses, the licensed trade etc. 

• anti drink-driving campaigns. 

• campaigns against domestic violence. 

• initiatives to curb binge drinking 

• controls on fly-posting 

10 Reviews and Enforcement Issues for Premises 

10.1 Reviews 

10.1.1 Under the 2003 Act it is possible for the Authority to review a Premises Licence at any 
time, if it receives Representations from one or more of the organisations defined as 
Responsible Authorities or Interested Parties.  The Authority may not initiate its own 
review without having received Representations.  Reviews may only arise in 
connection with a failure or failures in the premises connected to the licensing 
objectives. 

10.1.2 Successful promotion of the licensing objectives relies on a partnership approach 
between the Authority, licence holders, Interested Parties and Responsible 
Authorities.  Reviews should not therefore be used as a commonplace way of 
securing adherence to licence conditions or of redressing perceived failures in 
management of licensed premises. 

10.1.3 Reviews in connection with crime, could lead to revocation of the licence - even in the 
first instance. 

 

Policy RE 1: Reviews (1) 

Generally, unless the Authority regard the issue as serious, a review will only be conducted 
where there has been a failure to address matters previously raised.   

 

Policy RE 2: Reviews (2) 

Where a request for a review is made, the Authority will expect the person making the 
Representation to declare the nature of their interest and provide specific evidence to 
demonstrate why a review is necessary. 

 

Page 119



- 42 - 

Policy RE 3: Reviews (3) 

The Authority will not review licences simply because Representations may have failed on 
previous occasions or under other legislation. 

 

Policy RE 4: Reviews (4) 

If a request for a review is received from an Interested Party or Responsible Authority, the 
Authority will decide whether a reasonable interval has elapsed since a previous review, if 
any, has taken place.  It will generally not expect to hold a review into a licence on 
Representations from an interested person more than annually, unless there are 
exceptional circumstances. 

10.2 Enforcement 

10.2.1 The 2003 Act does not require inspections to take place, save at the discretion of 
those charged with this role. 

10.2.2 The Authority will adopt the enforcement principles of risk assessment and targeting, 
taking into account the nature of the licensed activities, the extent to which the 
licensing objectives are met and the confidence in the management of the premises.  
This approach will ensure that enforcement is effectively concentrated on problem 
premises whilst monitoring the situation in other premises, and provide for efficient 
deployment of the Council’s staff and Police officers.  

10.2.3 The Council will also undertake pre-event inspections in appropriate situations. 
 

Policy EN 1: Enforcement 

The Council will establish and maintain protocols with the local Police and Authorised 
Persons on enforcement issues. 
The Council will seek to ensure that these protocols concentrate on targeting of mutually 
agreed problems and high-risk premises, while providing a lighter touch in respect of low-
risk premises that are well run. 

10.2.4 There may be occasions when additional inspections will be required, for example 
following premises alterations, complaints made by Interested Parties or requests by 
Responsible Authorities.  

10.2.5 This inspection routine recognises that Premises Licences, unless issued for a 
specific period of time, have no end date once they have been granted.  

10.2.6 The Authority has signed the Central and Local Government Concordat on Good 
Enforcement.   Further details of the way in which the Authority will approach 
enforcement issues are available from the Council’s address in Annex A 

 

Page 120



Page 121



 

- 44 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 

- 45 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 
 

Page 123



 

- 46 - 

Appendix 1 – The Authority’s Area and Licensable Activities 

The policies have been formulated taking into account the character of the District and the nature 
of the entertainment and hospitality industry in the District. The area of the District comprises three 
main urban centres in Banbury, Bicester and Kidlington together with a rural area which comprises 
some 34% of the District population, which is now in excess of 134,000. 
 

Both Banbury and Bicester being market towns have long provided a focal point for entertainment 
for people from the immediate surrounding area.  Kidlington being situated close to Oxford is 
affected by entertainment facilities provided there.  The District has expanded rapidly in the last 20 
years so demand for increased leisure facilities has meant that there has been an expansion of 
public houses opening late at night in Banbury over the past 8 years, and this has also happened 
in Bicester and Kidlington.  In the rural areas there are many traditional public houses, now often 
pub/restaurants and there is a great variety of restaurants throughout the District.  There are 
numerous establishments engaged in serving hot food after 11.00pm which under the Licensing 
Act will need to obtain a premises licence. 
 

The ownership and management of many pubs has changed frequently in recent times and this 
has led to some difficulties for the enforcing Authorities in obtaining consistency in preventative 
action on incidents of disorder.  However, good co-operation generally exists between the Council, 
Thames Valley Police and licensees to ensure the entertainment and hospitality industry provides 
good quality, trouble free locations for those who wish to use the Districts facilities for their leisure 
activities.  There are pub-watch arrangements in force in the urban and rural areas of the District.  
These are well supported. 
 

The basis of many policies outlined in the statement is founded on the experience developed by 
the Council over many years as a result of the Council’s activities as Licensing Authority for public 
entertainment prior to the Licensing Act 2003, and in its function as Licensing Authority since the 
implementation of the Licensing Act 2003 in November 2005. 
 
The unified approach to licensing will enable the Council to monitor and react to requirements of 
licensed premises as the District develops. 
 

Positive impacts can be expected in benefits to the local economy in terms of greater basic 
freedom for premises to offer services during opening hours which suit their customers.  Tourism, 
which is an issue for the Council in terms of the location of the District as a convenient centre for 
exploring the Cotswolds and Shakespeare country, can be facilitated by establishments being 
more readily able to provide a range of facilities for their customers and, if the relevant Authorities 
take up the opportunities, cultural diversity can prosper. 
 

Clearly, increased activity over a likely longer period of opening hours in some cases may have 
adverse impacts which need to be contained by the action of licensing policy, commensurate with 
the degree of the impact.  Adverse impacts are likely to centre on, noise, public nuisance, and 
disorder/anti social issues and affect businesses and residents operating or living near to licensed 
premises. 
 

In keeping with the general thrust of the new legislation, the Council as Licensing Authority is 
generally minded to encourage all responsibly managed licensed premises to provide well run 
activities/events and will offer help to applicants to navigate around the licensing policy to comply 
with the requirements and achieve high standards.  The enforcement regime will be targeted to 
premises which do not appear to be well managed and which therefore give rise to complaint.  The 
Authority will look closely at the whole spectrum of licensable activities on a regular basis and 
require reports from its Officers, and other organisations involved, such as the Police, to keep it up 
to date on emerging trends so it can act accordingly. 

Page 124



 

- 47 - 

Appendix 2 - Other Council policies and strategies 

The Council has adopted the following local policies, strategies and action plans that are relevant 
to licensing: 

• The Adopted Cherwell Local Plan 1996 and the Adopted Non-Statutory Cherwell Plan 

• The Cherwell Community Safety Strategy  

• Cherwell District Tourism Plan  

• Cherwell District Cultural Strategy  

• Town Centre Strategies   

• Public Health Strategy 

• Drug and Alcohol Action Group 

• Pubwatch & Nightsafe Schemes 

The following interactions arise from the above policies:- 
 
(i) The Adopted Cherwell Local Plan 1996 

• The Cherwell Local Plan contains policies which are directly relevant to licensed 
premises and their operation - village pubs, and hot food (takeaway) establishments.  
The adopted Cherwell Local Plan states that the District Council recognises the 
importance of village services, particularly the local shop and pub, to the local 
community and will seek to resist the loss of such facilities whenever possible.  
However, it is recognised that it will be difficult to resist the loss of such facilities when 
they are proven to be no longer financially viable in the long term. 

• In respect of takeaway food establishments these are recognised as having the 
potential to cause nuisance to nearby residents.  Hot food takeaway establishments 
will therefore normally be resisted in predominately residential areas, and even if they 
can be permitted, in places such as estate shopping precincts, it is likely that a 
restriction on hours of operation will be imposed. 

• The Planning Authority has prepared a guidance note for hot-food takeaway premises 
in order to assist the consideration of planning applications (Hot Food Takeaway and 
Other A3 Uses) and this is available from the Development and Property Services 
Department at Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, 
Oxfordshire OX15 4AA. 

(ii) Community Safety Strategy 

Under the current Crime and Disorder Act Community Safety Strategy there are specific 
aims that are directed at curbing anti-social behaviour in the district. 

Specifically under the overall aims of 

• Reducing drug misuse it is the intention of the strategy to: 

(1) Reduce disorder and anti-social behaviour that are a direct result of the over 
consumption of alcohol; 

(2) Protect local communities from drug and alcohol related crime and anti-social 
behaviour. 

• Reducing nuisance and disorder 

(1) Approaches will be adopted to reduce the anti-social behaviour and nuisance suffered 
by residents and visitors; 

(2) Action will be taken to reduce the disorder and violent crime that takes place in urban 
centres; 

Page 125



 

- 48 - 

(3) Work will be undertaken to reduce the number of criminal damage offences recorded 
by the Police. 

There is ample research to support the link between criminal damage, violence and 
disorder and anti-social behaviour and the sale and consumption of intoxicating liquor. 

• Dealing with Domestic Violence Issues 

(1) Action will be taken to support the victims of domestic violence. 
 

(iii) District Tourism Plan 
 
The Plan sets out a range of actions which inter-relate to licensing in a number of areas as 
follows:- 
 

• To develop communication and promotional links between local arts venues and 
artists to create local cultural activity packages to encourage longer stay visitors. 

• To review the Council’s event promotions and activities to influence development to 
maximise the total tourist experience. 

• To work with local agencies to promote an evening economy in the three urban 
centres – Banbury, Bicester and Kidlington – through promotions and specific 
packages. 

• Encourage visitors (walkers, cyclists etc) to utilise rural resources such as village 
shops, post offices, pubs, accommodation, farm shops etc through a range of 
literature. 

• To provide advice, promotion and networking opportunities to support farm 
diversification into areas such as teashops, farm shops, recreation development and 
accommodation with support from the Regional Tourist Boards and the Regional 
Development Agency development initiatives. 

• To work with local planning agencies to encourage the development of quality hotels 
in the area as part of the Cherwell Local Plan. 

• Having identified a service shortage, work with the local industry and businesses in 
Bicester to develop a range of quality inspected accommodation within the town. 

• To develop a high quality ‘Eating Guide’ for the District funded by advertising. 

 
(iv) Cherwell Recreation Development Strategy 

The strategy sets out a range of actions which inter-relate to licensing in a number of areas 
as follows:- 

• Encourage travelling theatres, portable cinema equipment and roadshows in rural 
areas to promote the arts. 

• Provide a year-round listing of cultural and recreational events in order to encourage 
public participation and festival programming for Capital of Culture. 

• Provide support to further enhance the current community associations programming. 

• Develop further the use of the Courtyard Youth Arts Centre in Bicester for theatre and 
community cinema. 

Page 126



 

- 49 - 

• Create more participatory cultural activities and facilities for young people. 

• Promote community safety and social activity using creative art, to encourage young 
people and communicate their achievements to their communities. 

• Promote further a partnership approach with the retail sector and town planners to 
develop a thriving evening economy for Banbury, Bicester and Kidlington. 

 
(v) Town Centre Business Plans 

The Council has adopted business plans for the urban centres, which have been developed 
through consultation with key stakeholders, these are: Banbury Town Centre Business and 
Action Plan 2003 – 2006; Bicester Town Centre Business and Action Plan 2003 – 2006; 
Kidlington Village Centre Business and Action Plan 2004 – 2007.  
 
The overarching objective of the strategies is to maintain and improve the vitality and 
viability of the urban centres. 
 
Objectives being pursued which can be affected by licensing policy are:- 

• Pro-actively manage and support the growth of the evening economy in the urban 
centres; 

• Use all available powers to exclude known trouble makers from the urban centres; 

• Build on the success of the pub watch schemes in the urban centres; 

• Establish and support multi-disciplinary groups to consider operational issues relating 
to the management and growth of the evening economy, in the urban centres; 

• Establish and support alcohol free zones in key areas of the urban centres; 

• Consider opportunities to establish safe exit strategies from the urban centres, during 
the night and early morning periods; 

• Consider the relevance and feasibility of introducing a urban centres warden service; 

• Ensure the effective use of CCTV in the urban centres; 

• Encourage a wider range and diversity of activities in the urban centres as part of the 
evening economy; 

• Encourage evening economy premises and other relevant agencies to follow best 
practice procedures and partnership working, 

 
(vi) Public Health Strategy 

Key aims of the Public Health Strategy include:- 

• The protection of communities from drug and alcohol related anti-social and criminal 
behaviour. 

• Helping young people resist drug and alcohol misuse. 

Page 127



 

- 50 - 

Appendix 3 – Licensing Committee, Licensing Sub-committee procedures – 
Members Interests and Delegation of functions under the 
Licensing Act 2003 

(Note:  Regulations define the manner in which hearing procedures take place.) 

Licensing Sub-Committee – Members’ Interests 

1. The Authority will arrange the membership of each Licensing Sub-Committee meeting to suit 
the business that the Authority must conduct. 

2. A Member of a Sub-Committee which is considering licence applications can only participate 
in the hearing if they do not have a personal and prejudicial interest under the Authority's 
Code of Conduct for Elected Members.  A personal and prejudicial interest may arise through 
a number of circumstances e.g. friendship with an applicant for a personal licence or living in 
close proximity to a set of premises subject to a licence application or being a regular user of 
particular licensed premises.  Members will therefore be alert to these issues and will avoid 
participating in a Sub-Committee meeting where they would need to declare a personal and 
prejudicial interest.  Another Member, who did not have a declarable interest would then 
serve on the Sub-Committee instead. 

3. Reality is that Members who may serve on Sub-Committees determining licence applications, 
or reviewing licences when representations have been made, may be lobbied by members of 
the public.  Lobbying can lead to impartiality being called into question.  Members need to 
decide, at an early stage, if they are to be spokespersons for lobbyists or constituents who 
are making representations about a particular licensing matter.  Should they become involved 
with an issue to the point where they are taking a particular view and representing the 
interest of those who are opposing a licence application then the Members could not 
participate in a decision on the matter and will refrain from doing so.  Another Member would 
then serve on the Sub-Committee instead. 

4. A Member of a Sub-Committee who is lobbied but who does not intend to participate in any 
campaign being run by lobbyists should refrain from expressing any view about the matter, 
should advise lobbyists of any particular procedures that are in place for them to make their 
views known, and explain to the lobbyists that as a Member, they need to keep an open mind 
on the matter until they have heard all the evidence and argument at the Sub-Committee 
hearing. 

5. A Member who is a Ward Member for a ward in which a premises application is being 
considered may serve on a Sub-Committee determining the application provided they do not 
have a personal and prejudicial interest and provided they have not declared themselves to 
be part of a campaign in respect of the premises where they have formed a view about the 
matter and have expressed an intention to vote in a particular way. 

6. A Member may submit an individual written representation as a member of the public to a 
Sub-Committee considering an application, in accordance with any procedures established 
for the conduct of the hearing either under statutory procedures or under procedures 
determined by the Authority for conduct of hearings. 

Page 128



 

- 51 - 

 

Delegation of functions under the 2003 Act 

Matter to be dealt with Full Committee Sub-Committee Authorised Officers 

Application for Personal Licence  Police objection 
(See Note 1) 

All other cases 

Application for Premises Licence/Club 
Premises Certificate 

 Valid 
Representation 
(See Note 2) 

All other cases 

Application for provisional statement  Valid 
Representation 
(See Note 2) 

All other cases 

Application to vary Premises 
Licence/Club Premises Certificate 

 Valid 
Representation 
(See Note 2) 

All other cases 

Application to vary Designated 
Premises Supervisor 

 Police objection 
(See Note 1) 

All other cases 

Request to be removed as Designated 
Premises Supervisor 

  All cases 

Application for transfer of Premises 
Licence 

 Police objection 
(See Note 1) 

All other cases 

Applications for interim authorities  Police objection 
(See Note 1) 

All other cases 

Application to review Premises 
Licence/Club Premises Certificate 

 All cases  

Decision on whether a complaint is 
irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, 
repetitious etc. 

  All cases 

Decision to object when local authority 
is a consultee and not the relevant 
authority considering the application 

 All cases  

Determination of a Police 
Representation to a TEN. 

 All cases  

 
Note 1 - “Police objection” = If a Police objection has been made and not withdrawn. 
Note 2 – “Valid Representation” = If a Representation has been determined by a delegated officer as a 
relevant Representation from an Interested Party or a Representation has been made by a Responsible 
Authority and at least one of those Representations is not withdrawn (with the agreement of all parties that a 
hearing is not necessary).  

 

Page 129



 

- 52 - 

Appendix 4 – BBFC Film Classification 
 
Films would normally be classified by the British Board of Film Classification or 
the local authority in the following way: 
 

• U  Universal – suitable for all 

• PG  Parental Guidance. Some scenes may be unsuitable for young children. 

• 12A (PG12) Passed only for viewing by persons aged 12 years or older or younger 
persons accompanied by an adult. 

• 12 Passed only for viewing by persons aged 12 years or older. 

• 15 Passed only for viewing by persons aged 15 years and over. 

• 18  Passed only for viewing by persons aged 18 years and over. 

 

In some cases, the PG rating may carry a recommended viewing age – e.g. PG8 would 
only be suitable for children over the age of 8, if accompanied by an adult 

 
 

Page 130



 

- 53 - 

Appendix 5 -  Mandatory conditions 

The following mandatory conditions were introduced by Section 19 Licensing Act 2003 

1. No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence; 

(a) at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises 
licence, or 

(b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or 
his personal licence is suspended. 

2. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person 
who holds a personal licence. 

The following mandatory condition was introduced by Section 20 Licensing Act 2003 

3. The admission of children under the age of 18 to film exhibitions permitted under the terms of 
the licence shall be restricted in accordance with any recommendations made; 

(a) by the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC,) where the film has been classified by 
that Board, or 

(b) by the Licensing Authority where no classification certificate has been granted by the 
BBFC, or, where the Licensing Authority has notified the licence holder that section 20 
(3) (b) (74 (3)(b) for clubs) of the Licensing Act 2003 applies to the film 

The following Mandatory Condition was introduced by Section 21 Licensing Act 2003 

4. Where door supervisors are required when the premises is open for any licensable activity, 
they should all be individually registered with the Security Industry Authority. 

The following Mandatory Conditions were introduced by Section 32 and Schedule 4 Policing 
and Crime Act 2009 

1. The responsible person shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that staff on relevant 
premises do not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to 
the premises. 

2. The responsible person shall ensure that no alcohol is dispensed directly by one person into 
the mouth of another (other than where that other person is unable to drink without 
assistance by reason of a disability). 

3. The responsible person shall ensure that free tap water is provided on request to customers 
where it is reasonably available. 

5. The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder shall ensure that an age 
verification policy applies to the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. 

6. The responsible person shall ensure that– 

(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in 
the following measures– 

(i) beer or cider: ½ pint; 
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml; and 

(b) customers are made aware of the availability of these measures. 

 
NOTE: The information in this appendix is correct as at the date that this policy was 
adopted by the Council and came into effect. After this date subsequent legislation may 
amend, add to or delete any or all of these mandatory conditions. It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure that they are aware of the Mandatory Conditions that are in effect at 
the date of their application and that may impact upon their application. 

Page 131



 

- 54 - 

Appendix 6 -  Personal Licence: Relevant Offences 
Under section 113(2) of the 2003 Act, the Secretary of State may amend the list, by order, so as to 
add, modify or omit any entry.  
 

 SCHEDULE 4 
 Section 113 
 PERSONAL LICENCE: RELEVANT OFFENCES 
  
1 An offence under this Act. 

2 An offence under any of the following enactments—  

(a) Schedule 12 to the London Government Act 1963 (c. 33)(public entertainment 
licensing); 

(b) the Licensing Act 1964 (c. 26); 

(c) the Private Places of Entertainment (Licensing) Act 1967 (c. 19); 

(d) section 13 of the Theatres Act 1968 (c. 54); 

(e) the Late Night Refreshment Houses Act 1969 (c. 53); 

(f) section 6 of, or Schedule 1 to, the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982 (c. 30); 

(g) the Licensing (Occasional Permissions) Act 1983 (c. 24); 

(h) the Cinemas Act 1985 (c. 13); 

(i) the London Local Authorities Act 1990 (c. vii). 

3 An offence under the Firearms Act 1968 (c. 27). 

4 An offence under section 1 of the Trade Descriptions Act 1968 (c. 29)(false trade description of 
goods) in circumstances where the goods in question are or include alcohol. 

5 An offence under any of the following provisions of the Theft Act 1968 (c. 60)—  

(a) section 1 (theft); 

(b) section 8 (robbery); 

(c) section 9 (burglary); 

(d) section 10 (aggravated burglary); 

(e) section 11 (removal of articles from places open to the public); 

(f) section 12A (aggravated vehicle-taking), in circumstances where subsection (2)(b) of 
that section applies and the accident caused the death of any person; 

(g) section 13 (abstracting of electricity); 

(h) section 15 (obtaining property by deception); 

(i) section 15A (obtaining a money transfer by deception); 

(j) section 16 (obtaining pecuniary advantage by deception); 

(k) section 17 (false accounting); 

(l) section 19 (false statements by company directors etc.); 

(m) section 20 (suppression, etc. of documents); 

(n) section 21 (blackmail); 

(o) section 22 (handling stolen goods); 

(p) section 24A (dishonestly retaining a wrongful credit); 

(q) section 25 (going equipped for stealing etc.). 

6 An offence under section 7(2) of the Gaming Act 1968 (c. 65)(allowing child to take part in gaming 
on premises licensed for the sale of alcohol). 

7 An offence under any of the following provisions of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 (c. 38)—  

(a) section 4(2)(production of a controlled drug); 

(b) section 4(3)(supply of a controlled drug); 

(c) section 5(3)(possession of a controlled drug with intent to supply); 

(d) section 8 (permitting activities to take place on premises). 

 

Page 132



 

- 55 - 

8 An offence under either of the following provisions of the Theft Act 1978 (c. 31)—  

(a) section 1 (obtaining services by deception); 

(b) section 2 (evasion of liability by deception). 

9 An offence under either of the following provisions of the Customs and Excise Management Act 
1979 (c. 2)—  

(a) section 170 (disregarding subsection (1)(a))(fraudulent evasion of duty etc.); 

(b) section 170B (taking preparatory steps for evasion of duty). 

10 An offence under either of the following provisions of the Tobacco Products Duty Act 1979 (c. 7)—  

(a) section 8G (possession and sale of unmarked tobacco); 

(b) section 8H (use of premises for sale of unmarked tobacco). 

11 An offence under the Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 (c. 45)(other than an offence under 
section 18 or 19 of that Act). 

12 An offence under the Firearms (Amendment) Act 1988 (c. 45). 

13 An offence under any of the following provisions of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (c. 
48)—  

(a) section 107(1)(d)(iii)(public exhibition in the course of a business of article infringing 
copyright); 

(b) section 107(3)(infringement of copyright by public performance of work etc.); 

(c) section 198(2)(broadcast etc. of recording of performance made without sufficient 
consent); 

(d) section 297(1)(fraudulent reception of transmission); 

(e) section 297A(1)(supply etc. of unauthorised decoder). 

14 An offence under any of the following provisions of the Road Traffic Act 1988 (c. 52)—  

(a) section 3A (causing death by careless driving while under the influence of drink or 
drugs); 

(b) section 4 (driving etc. a vehicle when under the influence of drink or drugs); 

(c) section 5 (driving etc. a vehicle with alcohol concentration above prescribed limit). 

15 An offence under either of the following provisions of the Food Safety Act 1990 (c. 16) in 
circumstances where the food in question is or includes alcohol—  

(a) section 14 (selling food or drink not of the nature, substance or quality demanded); 

(b) section 15 (falsely describing or presenting food or drink). 

16 An offence under section 92(1) or (2) of the Trade Marks Act 1994 (c. 26)(unauthorised use of trade 
mark, etc. in relation to goods) in circumstances where the goods in question are or include alcohol. 

17 An offence under the Firearms (Amendment) Act 1997 (c. 5). 

18 A sexual offence, within the meaning of section 161(2) of the Powers of Criminal Courts 
(Sentencing) Act 2000 (c. 6). 

19 A violent offence, within the meaning of section 161(3) of that Act. 

20 An offence under section 3 of the Private Security Industry Act 2001 (c. 12)(engaging in certain 
activities relating to security without a licence). 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



 

- 56 - 

Appendix 7 – Schedule 1 – Regulated Entertainment 
 
 

 SCHEDULE 1 
 Section 1 
 PROVISION OF REGULATED ENTERTAINMENT 
  

 PART 1 

 GENERAL DEFINITIONS 

The provision of regulated entertainment 

1 (1) For the purposes of this Act the “provision of regulated entertainment” means the provision 
of—  

(a) entertainment of a description falling within paragraph 2, or 

(b) entertainment facilities falling within paragraph 3, 

where the conditions in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) are satisfied. 

(2) The first condition is that the entertainment is, or entertainment facilities are, provided—  

(a) to any extent for members of the public or a section of the public, 

(b) exclusively for members of a club which is a qualifying club in relation to the 
provision of regulated entertainment, or for members of such a club and their 
guests, or 

(c) in any case not falling within paragraph (a) or (b), for consideration and with a view 
to profit. 

(3) The second condition is that the premises on which the entertainment is, or entertainment 
facilities are, provided are made available for the purpose, or for purposes which include 
the purpose, of enabling the entertainment concerned (whether of a description falling 
within paragraph 2(1) or paragraph 3(2)) to take place.  

To the extent that the provision of entertainment facilities consists of making premises 
available, the premises are to be regarded for the purposes of this sub-paragraph as 
premises “on which” entertainment facilities are provided. 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), entertainment is, or entertainment facilities are, 
to be regarded as provided for consideration only if any charge—  

(a) is made by or on behalf of—  

(i) any person concerned in the organisation or management of that 
entertainment, or 

(ii) any person concerned in the organisation or management of those facilities 
who is also concerned in the organisation or management of the 
entertainment within paragraph 3(2) in which those facilities enable persons 
to take part, and 

(b) is paid by or on behalf of some or all of the persons for whom that entertainment is, 
or those facilities are, provided. 

(5) In sub-paragraph (4), “charge” includes any charge for the provision of goods or services. 

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4)(a), where the entertainment consists of the 
performance of live music or the playing of recorded music, a person performing or playing 
the music is not concerned in the organisation or management of the entertainment by 
reason only that he does one or more of the following—  

(a) chooses the music to be performed or played, 

(b) determines the manner in which he performs or plays it, 

(c) provides any facilities for the purposes of his performance or playing of the music. 

(7) This paragraph is subject to Part 2 of this Schedule (exemptions). 

 

 

 

Page 134



 

- 57 - 

Entertainment 

2 (1) The descriptions of entertainment are—  

(a) a performance of a play, 

(b) an exhibition of a film, 

(c) an indoor sporting event, 

(d) a boxing or wrestling entertainment, 

(e) a performance of live music, 

(f) any playing of recorded music, 

(g) a performance of dance, 

(h) entertainment of a similar description to that falling within paragraph (e), (f) or (g), 

where the entertainment takes place in the presence of an audience and is provided for the 
purpose, or for purposes which include the purpose, of entertaining that audience. 

(2) Any reference in sub-paragraph (1) to an audience includes a reference to spectators. 

(3) This paragraph is subject to Part 3 of this Schedule (interpretation). 

Entertainment facilities Deleted 

Power to amend Schedule 

4 The Secretary of State may by order amend this Schedule for the purpose of modifying—  

(a) the descriptions of entertainment specified in paragraph 2, or 

(b) the descriptions of entertainment specified in paragraph 3, 

and for this purpose “modify” includes adding, varying or removing any description. 

  

 PART 2 

 EXEMPTIONS 

Film exhibitions for the purposes of advertisement, information, education, etc. 

5 The provision of entertainment consisting of the exhibition of a film is not to be regarded as 
the provision of regulated entertainment for the purposes of this Act if its sole or main 
purpose is to—  

(a) demonstrate any product, 

(b) advertise any goods or services, or 

(c) provide information, education or instruction. 

Film exhibitions: museums and art galleries 

6 The provision of entertainment consisting of the exhibition of a film is not to be regarded as 
the provision of regulated entertainment for the purposes of this Act if it consists of or forms 
part of an exhibit put on show for any purposes of a museum or art gallery. 

Music incidental to certain other activities 

7 The provision of entertainment consisting of the performance of live music or the playing of 
recorded music is not to be regarded as the provision of regulated entertainment for the 
purposes of this Act to the extent that it is incidental to some other activity which is not 
itself—  

(a) a description of entertainment falling within paragraph 2, or 

(b) the provision of entertainment facilities. 

Use of television or radio receivers 

8 The provision of any entertainment or entertainment facilities is not to be regarded as the 
provision of regulated entertainment for the purposes of this Act to the extent that it 
consists of the simultaneous reception and playing of a programme included in a 
programme service within the meaning of the Broadcasting Act 1990 (c. 42). 

Religious services, places of worship etc. 

9 The provision of any entertainment or entertainment facilities—  

Page 135



 

- 58 - 

(a) for the purposes of, or for purposes incidental to, a religious meeting or service, or 

(b) at a place of public religious worship, is not to be regarded as the provision of 
regulated entertainment for the purposes of this Act. 

Garden fêtes, etc. 

10 (1) The provision of any entertainment or entertainment facilities at a garden fête, or at a 
function or event of a similar character, is not to be regarded as the provision of regulated 
entertainment for the purposes of this Act. 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if the fête, function or event is promoted with a view 
to applying the whole or part of its proceeds for purposes of private gain. 

(3) In sub-paragraph (2) “private gain”, in relation to the proceeds of a fête, function or event, is 
to be construed in accordance with section 22 of the Lotteries and Amusements Act 1976 
(c. 32). 

Morris dancing etc. 

11 The provision of any entertainment or entertainment facilities is not to be regarded as the 
provision of regulated entertainment for the purposes of this Act to the extent that it 
consists of the provision of—  

(a) a performance of morris dancing or any dancing of a similar nature or a 
performance of unamplified, live music as an integral part of such a performance, 
or 

(b) facilities for enabling persons to take part in entertainment of a description falling 
within paragraph (a). 

Vehicles in motion 

12 The provision of any entertainment or entertainment facilities—  

(a) on premises consisting of or forming part of a vehicle, and 

(b) at a time when the vehicle is not permanently or temporarily parked, 

is not to be regarded as the provision of regulated entertainment for the purposes of this 
Act. 

  

 PART 3 

 INTERPRETATION 

General 

13 This Part has effect for the purposes of this Schedule. 

Plays 

14 (1) A “performance of a play” means a performance of any dramatic piece, whether involving 
improvisation or not,—  

(a) which is given wholly or in part by one or more persons actually present and 
performing, and 

(b) in which the whole or a major proportion of what is done by the person or persons 
performing, whether by way of speech, singing or action, involves the playing of a 
role. 

(2) In this paragraph, “performance” includes rehearsal (and “performing” is to be construed 
accordingly). 

 

Film exhibitions 

15 An “exhibition of a film” means any exhibition of moving pictures. 

Indoor sporting events 

16 (1) An “indoor sporting event” is a sporting event—  

(a) which takes place wholly inside a building, and 

(b) at which the spectators present at the event are accommodated wholly inside that 
building. 

Page 136



 

- 59 - 

(2) In this paragraph— 

“building” means any roofed structure (other than a structure with a roof which may 
be opened or closed) and includes a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure, 

“sporting event” means any contest, exhibition or display of any sport,  

and 

“sport” includes—  

(a) any game in which physical skill is the predominant factor, and 

(b) any form of physical recreation which is also engaged in for purposes of 
competition or display. 

 

Boxing or wrestling entertainments 

17 A “boxing or wrestling entertainment” is any contest, exhibition or display of boxing or 
wrestling. 

Music 

18 “Music” includes vocal or instrumental music or any combination of the two. 

 

Page 137



 

- 60 - 

Appendix 8 - Schedule 2 – Late night refreshment 
 
 

 SCHEDULE 2 
 Section 1 
 PROVISION OF LATE NIGHT REFRESHMENT 
  

The provision of late night refreshment 

1 (1) For the purposes of this Act, a person “provides late night refreshment” if—  

(a) at any time between the hours of 11.00 p.m. and 5.00 a.m., he supplies hot food or 
hot drink to members of the public, or a section of the public, on or from any 
premises, whether for consumption on or off the premises, or 

(b) at any time between those hours when members of the public, or a section of the 
public, are admitted to any premises, he supplies, or holds himself out as willing to 
supply, hot food or hot drink to any persons, or to persons of a particular 
description, on or from those premises, whether for consumption on or off the 
premises, 

unless the supply is an exempt supply by virtue of paragraph 3, 4 or 5. 

(2) References in this Act to the “provision of late night refreshment” are to be construed in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1). 

(3) This paragraph is subject to the following provisions of this Schedule. 

Hot food or hot drink 

2 Food or drink supplied on or from any premises is “hot” for the purposes of this Schedule if 
the food or drink, or any part of it,—  

(a) before it is supplied, is heated on the premises or elsewhere for the purpose of 
enabling it to be consumed at a temperature above the ambient air temperature 
and, at the time of supply, is above that temperature, or 

(b) after it is supplied, may be heated on the premises for the purpose of enabling it to 
be consumed at a temperature above the ambient air temperature. 

Exempt supplies: clubs, hotels etc. and employees 

3 (1) The supply of hot food or hot drink on or from any premises at any time is an exempt 
supply for the purposes of paragraph 1(1) if, at that time, a person will neither—  

(a) be admitted to the premises, nor 

(b) be supplied with hot food or hot drink on or from the premises, 

except by virtue of being a person of a description falling within sub-paragraph (2). 

(2) The descriptions are that—  

(a) he is a member of a recognised club, 

(b) he is a person staying at a particular hotel, or at particular comparable premises, 
for the night in question, 

(c) he is an employee of a particular employer, 

(d) he is engaged in a particular trade, he is a member of a particular profession or he 
follows a particular vocation, 

(e) he is a guest of a person falling within any of paragraphs (a) to (d). 

(3) The premises which, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b), are comparable to a hotel 
are—  

(a) a guest house, lodging house or hostel, 

(b) a caravan site or camping site, or 

(c) any other premises the main purpose of maintaining which is the provision of 
facilities for overnight accommodation. 

 

 

 

Page 138



 

- 61 - 

Exempt supplies: premises licensed under certain other Acts 

4 The supply of hot food or hot drink on or from any premises is an exempt supply for the 
purposes of paragraph 1(1) if it takes place during a period for which—  

(a) the premises may be used for a public exhibition of a kind described in section 
21(1) of the Greater London Council (General Powers) Act 1966 (c. xxviii) by virtue 
of a licence under that section, or 

(b) the premises may be used as near beer premises within the meaning of section 14 
of the London Local Authorities Act 1995 (c. x) by virtue of a licence under section 
16 of that Act. 

Miscellaneous exempt supplies 

5 (1) The following supplies of hot food or hot drink are exempt supplies for the purposes of 
paragraph 1(1)—  

(a) the supply of hot drink which consists of or contains alcohol, 

(b) the supply of hot drink by means of a vending machine, 

(c) the supply of hot food or hot drink free of charge, 

(d) the supply of hot food or hot drink by a registered charity or a person authorised by 
a registered charity, 

(e) the supply of hot food or hot drink on a vehicle at a time when the vehicle is not 
permanently or temporarily parked. 

(2) Hot drink is supplied by means of a vending machine for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(1)(b) only if—  

(a) the payment for the hot drink is inserted into the machine by a member of the 
public, and 

(b) the hot drink is supplied directly by the machine to a member of the public. 

(3) Hot food or hot drink is not to be regarded as supplied free of charge for the purposes of 
sub-paragraph (1)(c) if, in order to obtain the hot food or hot drink, a charge must be paid—  

(a) for admission to any premises, or 

(b) for some other item. 

(4) In sub-paragraph (1)(d) “registered charity” means—  

(a) a charity which is registered under section 3 of the Charities Act 1993 (c. 10), or 

(b) a charity which by virtue of subsection (5) of that section is not required to be so 
registered. 

Clubs which are not recognised clubs: members and guests 

6 For the purposes of this Schedule—  

(a) the supply of hot food or hot drink to a person as being a member, or the guest of a 
member, of a club which is not a recognised club is to be taken to be a supply to a 
member of the public, and 

(b) the admission of any person to any premises as being such a member or guest is 
to be taken to be the admission of a member of the public. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 139



 

- 62 - 

Appendix 9 – Proof of Age documents 

The Licensing Authority also expects Designated Premises Supervisors/Personal Licence holders 
to ensure that unless it is permitted to do so, serving of alcohol to those under 18 shall not be 
permitted and that there will therefore be in place in the operating schedule a management 
protocol to check the age of persons seeking to be served with alcohol.   

Appendix 5 outlined how the Policing and Crime Act 2009 had amended the Licensing Act 2003 to 
bring in some new mandatory conditions. From 1 October 2010 a mandatory condition regarding 
Proof of Age is introduced. It is as follows:- 

1. The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder shall ensure that an age 
verification policy applies to the premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol. 

2. The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 18 
years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, 
before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and a 
holographic mark. 

 

Consideration should be given to using a “Think 21” policy where anyone considered to look under 
the age of 21 years old is automatically asked to provide identification. 

 

Page 140



 

- 63 - 

Appendix 10 - Summary of the Licensing Act 2003 

The Licensing Act 2003, which received Royal Assent on 11th July 2003, repealed most of the 
previous legislation about liquor, public entertainment, theatres, cinemas, late night refreshment 
houses and night cafes and brings these into a single unified regime.  The 2003 Act also 
introduces tougher powers for the Police, the courts and Licensing Authorities. The intention is to 
provide greater freedom and flexibility for the hospitality and leisure industry, with an emphasis on 
greater consumer choice. 
 
The Council became the Licensing Authority for its area and administers the licensing regime. To 
assist applicants in making their applications for licences the Authority must first consult on and 
publish a Statement of Licensing Policy that will promote the following four Licensing Objectives: 
 

• the prevention of crime and disorder; 

• the prevention of public nuisance; 

• public safety; 

• the protection of children from harm. 
 
The Council will promote these objectives by attaching conditions to licences.  These conditions 
will be based upon the details that applicants provide in their operating schedules and may be 
mandatory, or will result from the determination of an application by a Licensing Committee.  
 
Under the 2003 Act, any of the following “licensable activities” will require a licence:  

• the retail sale of alcohol and wholesale of alcohol to members of the public;  

• the supply of alcohol to members of registered clubs and their guests;  

• the supply of hot food or drink between the hours of 11pm and 5am, for consumption on or 
off the premises (this will include mobile food vans); 

• the provision of “regulated entertainment” to the public, or to club members or their 
guests.  This includes: 

(a) the performance of a play;  

(b) an exhibition of a film; 

(c) an indoor sporting event; 

(d) a boxing or wrestling entertainment; 

(e) a performance of live music, any playing of recorded music; 

(f) a performance of dance; and  
 
There are exemptions within the above categories and details are subject to regulations.  
 
One of the key elements of the 2003 Act is the removal of standard licensing hours.  Premises are 
able to apply for a licence to sell alcohol or provide regulated entertainment at any time (subject to 
the licensing objectives not being compromised). 
 
Authorisations under the 2003 Act fall into four types: 
 
Premises Licence  For premises, including sites in the open air, where licensable activities 

are proposed; 
Personal Licence  Which authorises an individual to sell alcohol under a Premises Licence; 
Club Premises 
Certificate  

 
Like a Premises Licence, but with rules to suit club premises; 

Temporary Event 
Notice  

Which enables an individual to hold a limited number of events of limited 
scope and duration that include licensable activities. 

 
Each of these is explained in more detail below:  
 

Page 141



 

- 64 - 

Premises licence 

• A Premises Licence will be required for premises, including sites in the open air, where any 
licensable activities are proposed.   

• If alcohol is to be sold, then the premises must have a Designated Premises Supervisor 
responsible for all sales of alcohol made on the premises.  This person must be the holder of 
a Personal Licence and their name will be endorsed on the Premises Licence.   

• Applications to licence new premises, or to amend licences, must be advertised for a period 
of 28 days outside the premises.    Representations from “Authorised Persons” (i.e. Police, 
fire or environmental health officers) or “Interested Parties” (i.e. local residents, residents’ 
associations, local businesses and trade associations) can then lead to the Council’s 
Licensing Committee holding a hearing to decide a licence application.   

• A Premises Licence will last in perpetuity.  However, the Licensing Committee can review it at 
any stage, upon request by an Authorised Person or Interested Party because of a matter 
arising at the premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.  Conditions can 
be imposed that promote the licensing objectives, for example requiring noise control 
measures to control public nuisance. 

• Amendments to the Licensing Act 2003 now allow for community premises (church and 
village halls) to apply for the disapplication of Page 98 the Mandatory Condition concerning 
the supply of alcohol to be authorised by a personal licence holder and the application of the 
“alternative licence condition” requiring that every supply of alcohol under the premises 
licence is made or authorised by the management committee. 

 
Personal licence  

• A Personal Licence will be needed by anyone who wants to allow the retail sale of alcohol 
as part of his or her business.   

• Personal licences will be valid for 10 years, unless surrendered, revoked or suspended and 
holders will be authorised to sell alcohol anywhere in the country at premises that have a 
valid Premises Licence.   

• A Personal Licence holder must have an accredited qualification and obtain a basic 
disclosure.  

 
Club premises certificate 

• A Club Premises Certificate will be required by club premises for the supply of alcohol to 
members and their guests or for the provision of regulated entertainment.  This will replace 
the original Club Registration Certificates for social and other types of clubs and will be 
similar to a Premises Licence.  No Personal Licence holder is required for alcohol to be 
supplied to members and their guests. 

 
Temporary event notice  

• A TEN replaced the previous “occasional permissions or licences” systems for one-off 
events (for example school activities, charitable and community events). 

• For a standard TEN, a minimum of 10 clear working days must be given (not 
including the day on which the application is received and not including the day of the 
event itself) to the Authority, the Anti Social Behaviour Team based at the Authority 
and the Police, but there is nothing to prevent simultaneous separate notifications of 
multiple events, provided the first event is at least 10 clear working days away. For 
practical purposes event organisers are encouraged to give as much notice as 
possible and to contact the responsible authorities about their proposals at an early 
opportunity.  

• For a late TEN, between 5 and 9 working days is the requirement for the notice to be 
given to the Authority, Anti Social Behaviour Team and the Police.  

• No more than 12 temporary events (standard and late combined) can be held in any 
one calendar year at particular premises and the premises themselves can be used 
for no more than 21 days in a calendar year. Premises users who hold a personal 
licence can give notice of no more then 50 temporary events to be held in any one 

Page 142



 

- 65 - 

calendar year, up to 10 of which may be ‘late TEN’s’. Premises users that do not hold 
a personal licence can give no more than 5 notices in any one calendar year, 2 of 
which may be ‘late TEN’s’. 

• No permission is required from the Licensing Authority for these events.  However, applicants 
must give at least 10 clear working days notice for a standard TEN, 5 days for a late TEN 
(excluding the day of receipt of notification and excluding the day of the event) to the Police 
and to the Licensing Authority.  If the Police or the Anti Social Behaviour Team objects then 
the Licensing Committee must hold a hearing to assess the objection.  Otherwise the 
Licensing Authority will acknowledge the notice and the event may be held. 

• In any calendar year the number of TENs is restricted to 12 for one location, subject to a 
cumulative maximum of 15 days. (However, a New Year’s Eve event will count as two TENs, 
as it will fall into two calendar years.)  

• In any calendar year, a person (over 18) can hold up to 5 TENs, whereas a Personal 
Licence holder can hold up to 50. (The same “2 for 1” rule applies to New Year’s Eve.  TENs 
submitted by close associates and family members effectively reduce a person’s annual 
total.)  

 
(Responsible Authorities include the Police, Fire Authority, the local enforcement agency for 
Health & Safety, the Council’s environmental health and planning services and the local body 
responsible for matters relating to the protection of children from harm.) 
 
(Interested Parties include a person involved in business (or living) in the vicinity of the premises 
in question, a body representing persons involved in such businesses and a body representing 
persons living in that vicinity. The 2003 Act does not define the meaning of “vicinity”- this will 
depend upon interpretation by the courts.)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



 

- 66 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This “Summary of the Licensing Act 2003” is for use as a general guide only.  
Further information on the Licensing Act 2003 (including copies of the Act, explanatory notes and 
the latest draft of the Guidance) is available from the Government's Department for Culture, Media 
and Sport Website at www.culture.gov.uk. 

Page 144



Cherwell District Council 
 

Licensing Committee  
 

16 December 2013 
 

Proposed Stand for Hackney Carriages  

 
Report of Head of Community Services 

 
 

This report is public 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 

The new development in Bicester, Pioneer Square, incorporated provision for a 
stand for Hackney Carriages to assist in the provision of public transport within the 
town. In order for this stand to be effective, the Licensing Authority has consulted in 
accordance with the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to 
formally adopt the stand. This report seeks approval from the Licensing Committee 
to formally adopt the stand. 

 
 
1.0 Recommendations 
              
The Licensing Committee is recommended to: 

 
1.1 Consider the responses submitted during the consultation period and 

approve the adoption of the new stand 
 

1.2 Authorise the Head of Community Services to arrange for the relevant 
signage to be put in place for the stand to become effective 

 
 

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1 Under Sections 63 and 64 of Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, the Council has the power to adopt stands within its 
District to be used by Hackney Carriage Vehicles.  

 
2.2 On 13 December 1978, at a meeting of its Environmental Services 

Committee, the Council adopted Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (the Act) to come into force on 1 April 
1979. 

 
2.3 In accordance with the Act, a 28 day consultation has been undertaken 

which runs until 12 December 2013. The consultation has been advertised 
through a site notice at the location of the proposed stand, the Council offices 

Agenda Item 9

Page 145



throughout the district, by public notice and upon the council’s online 
consultation portal 

 
2.4 In addition, the consultation was also notified to the Chief Officer of Thames 

Valley Police and the Highways Agency 
 
2.5 A copy of the consultation notice is attached at appendix 1 along with a site 

plan showing the location of the proposed stand is at Appendix 2. 
 
2.6 Currently, there is a stand for eight Hackney Carriage Vehicles located in 

Market Square, Bicester. The trade have requested provision for further 
stands on several occasions however, until now there has not been a 
suitable location for such a provision. The location of this new stand would 
ensure that there is provision for Hackney carriages to offer their services 
effectively and conveniently to the public in Bicester due to the differing 
locations servicing both the new development at Pioneer Square and the 
existing businesses in Sheep Street, Market Square and surrounding areas.  

 
2.7 By formally adopting the stand in accordance with the legislation, the 

Hackney Carriage trade can be supported by the Licensing Authority and 
local police by ensuring only Hackney Carriages use the stand  

 
2.8 Private Hire Vehicles are not permitted to ‘ply for hire’ or use Hackney 

Carriage Stands. However, it should be noted that the Pioneer Square 
development has made provision for private hire vehicles t drop off and 
collect their fares within the car park at the location.  

 
2.9 At the time of writing this report, the consultation period had not ended. To 

date, no responses had been received. The Licensing Committee will be 
updated on this status in the meeting of the Committee on 16 December 
2013. 
 
 

3.0 Report Details 
 

3.1 A copy of the consultation notice is attached at appendix 1 along with a site 
plan showing the location of the proposed stand is at Appendix 2. 

 
3.2 The consultation has been undertaken in accordance with the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 
 

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 
 
The Committee is requested to: 
 

• Consider the responses submitted during the consultation period and 
approve the adoption of the new stand 

 

• Consider any further responses received by the end of the consultation 
period 

 

Page 146



• Authorise the Head of Community Services to arrange for the relevant 
signage to be put in place for the stand to become effective 

 
 

5.0 Consultation 
 
At the time of writing this report, no responses have been received. The 
consultation ends on 12 December 2013. The Committee will be updated as to the 
status of responses within the meeting of 16 December 2013 and any further 
responses received will be brought to the meeting. 
 
 

6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The following alternative options have been identified as set out below.  
 
Option 1: Consider the responses submitted during the consultation period and 
approve the adoption of the new stand. Authorise the Head of Community Services 
to arrange for the relevant signage to be put in place for the stand to become 
effective 
 
Option 2: Consider the responses submitted and refuse the adoption of the stand. 
 
 

7.0 Implications 
 
 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
7.1 There are no financial effects from adopting the Stand other than the cost of 

communicating it to the licensed trade and advertising its existence to the 
general public. There is existing budget provision to cover these costs 
including printing and postage. 

 
 Comments checked by: Yvonne White, Service Accountant, 01295 221737  

yvonne.white@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 
 
Legal Implications 

 
7.2 Adoption of the Stand will allow the Licensing Authority to carry out 

proportionate enforcement in relation to this new stand and in support of the 
licensed hackney carriage trade. Failure to adopt the Stand would not permit 
such actions to be taken. 

 
Comments checked by Paul Manning, Solicitor 01295 221691  
paul.manning@cherwell-dc.gov.uk  
 
Wards Affected 
 
Bicester Town 
 
Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 
 

Page 147



As detailed in the current Service Plan 
 
Lead Councillor 
 
None 

 

Document Information 
Appendix No Title 

1 Consultation Notice 
2 Site Plan of proposed stand 

Background Papers 

None 

Report Author Claire Bold, Licensing Team Leader 

Contact 
Information 

01295 753744 

claire.bold@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 

Page 148



 
 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, by virtue of Sections 63 and 64 of the above Act, and with the consent 
of the land owner and in consultation with Thames Valley Police, Cherwell District Council proposes to 
appoint the following as a stand for the plying for hire for licensed hackney carriages during all days and 
all hours.  

1. Three spaces for use by Hackney Carriage Vehicles only at any time of day or night on the 
Pioneer Square Development, Bicester. Access and egress will only be available from 
Manorsfield Road. 

Any person, without reasonable excuse or a compelling reason, will be prohibited form causing or 
permitting any vehicle other than a licensed hackney carriage to wait in the area of the above ranks. 
 
A copy of a plan showing the proposed layout, may be inspected free of charge during normal office 
hours at The Council Offices, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxon, OX15 4AA 
 
In addition, the plan is also available for inspection: 

Via the Council’s website: www.cherwell.gov.uk 

At one of the Council’s Link Points: 

• Castle Quay Shopping Centre Banbury* • 34 Market Square, Bicester* 

• Exeter Hall Kidlington* • Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury 

Each Link Point is open Monday to Friday from 8:45am - 5:15pm (* 10am Wednesday). The Link Points 
are also closed on bank holidays. 
 

Any person who wishes to make any objections or representations relating to the proposed rank may do 
so online at www.cherwell.gov.uk/consultations, by email to licensing@cherwell-dc.gov.uk or in writing to 
the Licensing Team, Cherwell District Council, Bodicote House, Bodicote, Banbury, Oxon, OX15 4AA by 
12 December 2013. If no objections are made within the 14 day notice period the proposed fees will 
come into force on 16 December 2013. 

Chris Rothwell 

Head of Community Safety 

 

CHERWELL DISTRICT COUNCIL 

PROPOSED STAND FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES 

 

 

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



Location of proposed Taxi Rank, Pioneer Square, Bicester 
 

 

Three spaces for use by Hackney Carriage Vehicles only at any 
time of day or night. Access and egress from Manorsfield Road. 

P
a
g
e
 1

5
1



P
a
g

e
 1

5
2

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



Cherwell District Council 
 

Licensing Committee  
 

16 December 2013 
 

Licensing Department Updates 

 
Report of Head of Community Services 

 
 

This report is public 
 
 

Purpose of report 
 
This report is to advise the Licensing Committee of current and future developments 
within the Licensing Department  

 
 
1.0 Recommendations 
              

The meeting is recommended: 
 
1.1 To note the report.  
 
 

2.0 Introduction 
 

2.1 The Licensing Department is responsible for regulating, administering and enforcing 
legislation for the Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Street Trading, Sex 
Establishment Venues and Hackney carriage and Private Hire Licensing. All of 
these areas have specific policies and procedures to follow in addition to legislative 
requirements to update such policies as regular intervals.  
 
 

3.0 Report Details 
 
3.1 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle and Driver Licensing 
 
3.2 The current policies in relation to the licensing of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing have been in place for five years.  
 
3.3 The Law Commission is currently reviewing all legislation in relation to  Hackney 

carriage and Private Hire Licensing with a view to possible legislative amendments. 
It is hoped that their comments will be published in January 2014. 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 153



3.4 The Licensing Department has also been contacted by the North Oxfordshire 
Hackney Association who has expressed concerns over some of the current 
requirements upon licence holders, in particular in relation to the age of vehicles 
permitted to be licensed. 

 
3.5 Taking into account the period of time that the current policies have been in place 

for, the Law Commissions review and the requests of NOHA, the Licensing 
Department are proposing to undertake a review of its polices to coincide with the 
findings of the Law Commission. 

 
3.6 The consultation is to start in January 2014 and will last for a period of 12 weeks, in 

accordance with the Government’s Best Practice guidelines. A full copy of the 
consultation document will be publicly advertised as well as circulated to all 
members of the Licensing Committee for their consideration. 

 
3.7 At the end of the consultation period, all responses will be collated and 

recommended changes to the policy will be put before the Licensing Committee for 
their consideration. 

 
3.8 Street Trading Policy 
 
3.9 The Licensing Department deals with the administration and enforcement in relation 

to Street Trading, Tables and Chairs permits, Bicester and Kidlington Markets and 
Charitable Collections. 

 
3.10 There is not a current policy guiding the activities around these areas for either the 

Licensing Department, local businesses who must adhere to these requirements or 
the public. 

 
3.11 Therefore, the Licensing Department will be collating all these different areas into 

one Street Trading policy to ensure clear and consistent guidelines and advice are 
available for all parties to adhere to. 

 
3.12 The policy will be formulated in early 2014 with a view to consultation in Spring 

2014. A full copy of the consultation document will be publicly advertised as well  
circulated to all members of the Licensing Committee for their consideration. 

 
3.13 At the end of the consultation period, all responses will be collated and 

recommended changes to the policy will be put before the Licensing Committee for 
their consideration. 

 
 

4.0 Conclusion and Reasons for Recommendations 
 
4.1 There are no recommendations. 
 

 
5.0 Consultation 
 

No consultation required. 
 

Page 154



6.0 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
6.1 The following alternative options have been identified and rejected for the reasons 

as set out below.  
 

Option 1: No recommendations or options – report is purely for information. 
 
 

7.0 Implications 
 
 Financial and Resource Implications 
 
7.1 None – report for information only. Should any of the actions outlined in the report 

being taken, full risk assessments will be carried out. 
 

  
Legal Implications 

 
7.2 None – report for information only. Should any of the actions outlined in the report 

being taken, full risk assessments will be carried out. 
 
  

Wards Affected 
 
All 
 
Links to Corporate Plan and Policy Framework 
 
Detailed in current Service Plan 

  

Document Information 
 

Appendix No Title 

N/A None 
Background Papers 

None 

Report Author Claire Bold 

Contact 
Information 

01295 753741 

claire.bold@cherwell-dc.gov.uk 

 

Page 155



Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Minutes of meeting Thursday 11 April 2013 of Licensing Sub Committee
	7 Animal Licensing Policy
	Appendix 1

	8 Licensing Act 2003
	Appendix 1

	9 Proposed Stand for Hackney Carriages
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	10 Licensing Department Updates

